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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRES

I eagerly anticipate collaborating with all of you to further
produce exceptional programmes and seize more
opportunities for the growth and advancement of the Group.
BRMLHEARBFEE LT -0 ERREFAFES
SEEHR  AEEBRAGEZSHE -

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
Chairman

ERER AL &

FE

Dear Shareholders,

The year 2023 holds great significance as the world strives to emerge
from the impacts of the pandemic. In Hong Kong, society has fully
recovered, and normal traveller clearance with the Mainland and the
rest of the world has resumed. i-CABLE Communications Limited (the
“Company” or “i-CABLE"), its subsidiaries and consolidated structured
entities (collectively the “Group”) has also undergone a significant
transformation. Following the surrender of the domestic pay television
programme service licence (the “Pay TV Licence”), the Group gradually
consolidated its resources and shifted its focus on operating free-to-air
television and multimedia programmes, moving towards to the
direction of omnimedia, while continued to enhance the performance
of its telecommunications business.

In 2023, the Group underwent a change in management and
welcomed Mr. TO Chi Hak , a seasoned media executive, as the chief
executive officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”),
guiding the Group towards a new beginning in a challenging
operating environment.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHREE

In the previous year, while there were improvements in the business
environment, the overall recovery fell short of initial optimism. Factors
such as the persistently high interest rate environment and volatility in
the stock market have influenced consumer sentiment, coupled with
the "Revenge Travel“among Hong Kong residents following the
pandemic has made advertisers more cautious about advertising. In
response to the rapidly evolving media market, the Group maintained
a creative and adaptable approach in producing programmes, catering
to the diverse needs of the market, so as to reach a broader audience
spanning different age groups and enhance advertising revenue.

The three-year-long pandemic has significantly hastened the growth of
online media platforms, leading to a rise in audiences who prefer
watching programmes and videos through these platforms. In light of
this trend, the Group has made a thoughtful decision to surrender its
Pay TV Licence and shift away from a single broadcasting model.
Instead, it will integrate all of its media platforms and adopt an
omnimedia approach to cater to the changing consumption habits of
audiences in the post- pandemic era.

The successful broadcasting of the “19th Asian Games Hangzhou” (the
“Asian Games”) not only highlights the enduring strength of the
"i-CABLE Sports” brand over the past three decades but also serves as
evidence that the Group has chosen the right path for its development.
The exclusive coverage of the Asian Games in Hangzhou from
September to October 2023 has generated excitement in the city. This
broadcast holds special significance as it is not only being held in
Hangzhou, China but also marks the Group's first large-scale sports
event broadcast in the form of free TV following the surrender of its Pay
TV Licence. In addition to the three free-to-air TV channels, the Group
adopted an omnimedia approach to broadcast the Asian Games,
revamping its website, mobile application, and leveraging social media
platforms to ensure comprehensive coverage of Hong Kong athletes’
performances so as to unite the Hong Kong people and share their
inspiring stories. The results demonstrate the collective ability and
determination of all departments to continue developing and
achieving new heights under the new business model.

To enhance audiences' viewing experience, the Group is dedicated to
operating digital media. During this period, significant reforms were
implemented for both hoy.tv website and the HOY mobile application.
These changes not only offered a wide range of on-demand videos
online but also improved the stability of live streaming. As a result, the
Group successfully broadcasted numerous simultaneous events during
the Asian Games. The overall number of users for both the website and
the mobile application exhibited a consistent upward trend.
Additionally, through active operation and development of social
media, the Group's presence on various social media platforms in Hong
Kong has seen an increase in the past year.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHREE

To expand its reach, the Group proactively pursued opportunities in
the Greater Bay Area market. In September 2023, it made a press
release regarding its strategic partnership with Guangdong Radio and
Television Station, aiming to collaboratively produce a series of
captivating TV programmes. One notable milestone in this partnership
is the co-production of a grand Chinese New Year programme “Spring
Gala Festival” (5E F& /& [ #0244 ) which was broadcasted during the
Chinese New Year in 2024 and featured artists from both the Mainland
China and Hong Kong, coming together to celebrate the New Year
with Chinese communities around the globe.

As a part of the mass media, the Group is dedicated to spreading
positive influence in society through programmes production. Over
the past year, HOY Infotainment (Channel 78) has collaborated with
various government departments in Hong Kong to create several
programmes, which include “Everlasting Mission 2" (E34E ||- [ 2 | )&
% 2), "Hearts on Fire 2" (/0 B A 24 2), “Spreading Warmth with SWD
Services” (1 & R % B& #L [% ) and “National Security Knowledge
Challenge” (B R %L 2 5% #% Pk 8 &F). These programmes aim to
introduce the work of the Police Force, the Fire Services Department,
and the Social Welfare Department respectively, in order to enhance
public understanding of the operations of different government
departments, deepen the public’s understanding and connection with
the government and to raise the students’ awareness of the National
Security Law. Notably, i-CABLE News, a part of the Group, received the
Video Reporting Award — Short Clip gold award and the Video
Reporting Award — Long Clip gold award at the prestigious “Consumer
Rights Reporting Awards” organised by the Consumer Council last year.
This remarkable achievement serves as a testament to the esteemed
credibility of the i-CABLE News brand.

The telecommunications business of the Group has demonstrated
consistent performance and currently possesses and operates
telecommunications networks that serve over 2 millions households in
Hong Kong. Following the pandemic, the Group introduced roaming
services for the Greater Bay Area, Asia, and international destinations to
cater to the growing demand of Hong Kong residents travelling
northward. Additionally, the Group has continued to strengthen its
partnerships with China Mobile Hong Kong Limited (“"CMHK") in various
areas, resulting in a stable income stream.

Looking forward to the upcoming year, the Group anticipates the
further improvement in the operating environment, the recovery of
economic activities and the revival of inbound tourism will directly
benefit the advertising market.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHREE

Nevertheless, the media market continues to confront several
challenges. The fragmentation of audience entertainment preferences
is increasing, with users spread across various audio-visual platforms.
Traditional TV advertising alone is no longer sufficient to meet
customer needs. In response, the Group will persist in integrating
broadcasting platforms and collaborating with social media platforms,
mobile applications, MTR In-train TV, and promotional activities so as to
offer customers a wider range of marketing solutions.

Furthermore, with the evolution of society, the barriers to entry in the
entertainment industry have been gradually decreasing. Local media
now face fierce competition not only from online channels with lower
operating costs but also from transnational streaming media. This puts
greater pressure on the industry than ever before. In addition to
advertising, the Group needs to diversify its sources of income. To
achieve this, the Group will actively explore various forms of
collaboration with commercial clients, government organisations,
sports organisations, and educational institutions to generate
additional revenue streams to expand revenue base.

The Group remains committed to fostering creativity and producing
programmes that showcase local characteristics, aligning with the
development of the omnimedia platform to attract the interest of
potential advertisers. Furthermore, the Group will persist in exploring
opportunities in the media market of the Greater Bay Area and other
regions. The Group will continue to enhance its network infrastructure
and establish stronger collaborations with strategic partners, and will
amplify its marketing efforts via internet and telephone to drive
business growth.

| would like to express my gratitude to our shareholders for the
unwavering support towards i-CABLE. | would also like to extend my
appreciation to our dedicated colleagues at i-CABLE for their diligent
efforts in driving business transformation throughout the past year. |
eagerly anticipate collaborating with all of you to further produce
exceptional programmes and seize more opportunities for the growth
and advancement of the Group.

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024
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Business Review

¥R

WHO WE ARE

The Group is an integrated communications services provider in Hong
Kong, commanding one of the largest and most influential television
audience and communications service user base in town.

The Group owns and operates one of the near-universal wireline
telecommunications network in Hong Kong to provide media and
telecommunications services to over 2 million households.

The Group is also one of the producers of free television and
multimedia content for distribution over omnimedia platforms based
in Hong Kong, with a particular focus on news and information, sports
and entertainment, and topics related to people’s livelihood.

BUSINESS STRATEGY

The Group endeavours to sharpen its services to attain higher customer
satisfaction, which in turn drives business and revenue performance.
Specifically, the Group pursues the following:

(@)  toacquire, produce and distribute quality content meeting local
tastes and needs;

(b) to integrate its media platform and advance towards an
omnimedia approach, which further expand audience
engagement and offer a wider range of marketing solutions;

(0 toinvest in infrastructure, network and delivery platforms to
enhance service level and customer convenience;

(d)  to utilise the infrastructure and programming resources of the
Group to unlock its full potential in cross-platform and
international distribution and continue to explore the potential
market in Greater Bay Area; and

(e)  to continuously better our processes and procedures to always
stay cost-effective.
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Business Review

¥ OEA

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

The year of 2023 marked a transformative period for both Hong Kong
and the Group. After a prudent evaluation of the market, the Group
made the decision to terminate its Pay TV operation, signifying the end
of one chapter and the start of another. With effect from 1 June 2023,
the Group ceased its Pay TV operation and redirected its resources
towards the development of an omnimedia platform, allowing the
Group to adapt and cater to the shifting consumption habits of the
audiences following the pandemic. In the telecommunications
industry, the operating environment has become challenging due to
factors such as evolving consumer behavior and rapid technological
changes. In response, the Group has undertaken active strategic
transformations and restructuring in recent years. By consolidating
resources and improving efficiency in business operations, the Group
aims to expand its business and enhance competitiveness in the
telecommunications sector, aligning with market changes.

MEDIA

The outbreak of the pandemic has expedited the growth of online
media platforms, causing a change in audience preferences towards
watching programmes and films through online media platforms.
Besides surrendering the Pay TV Licence, the Group's free-to-air TV
broadcaster has swiftly adapted to the changing of audience habits. It
has moved away from a singular broadcasting mode and instead
integrated all of its media platforms, embracing an omnimedia model
to expand its reach. In the long term, the Group aims to augment
advertising revenue across various platforms.

Following the end of the pandemic, the community gradually returned
to a state of normalcy, leading to improved business conditions in
various industries, particularly the hotel, retail, and catering sectors
exhibited the signs of recovery from the pandemic. However, the
overall recovery fell short of initial optimism. This can be attributed to
the pressure of rising interest rates and stock market volatility, which
dampened the consumer sentiment. Moreover, after the pandemic,
Hong Kong residents flock overseas during extended holidays for
“Revenge Travel”, and the lifting of border restrictions between Hong
Kong and the Mainland China resulted in the craze of Hong Kong
residents travelling northward in droves to spend money. These factors
significantly diminished local purchasing power. Despite advertisers
have increased their advertising and promotional budgets, they still
tend to be cautious.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)

Despite the potential challenges in the business environment, the
Group remained proactive in addressing them by leveraging its
boundless creativity and strong production capabilities to capture
audience attention. For instance, in response to the craze of “Revenge
Travel” among Hong Kong residents and the surge in consumption in
the Mainland China, the Group produced a series of travel
programmes. Additionally, the Group was actively recruiting and
nurturing production talents to develop more innovative programmes
that cater to diverse age groups of its audience, which aimed to boost
viewership ratings and enhance advertising revenue.

In recent years, the structure and ecology of the media market have
undergone rapid changes, from being dominated by traditional
television and text media to being divided among television, streaming
media, YouTube, and other social media platforms. Both the Group and
the industry are striving to adapt to this rapid transformation.
Previously, the entertainment industry had high entry barriers and
traditional television stations held the advantage of scale. However,
with the evolution of the internet and social media, the barriers to
entry in the entertainment industry have significantly reduced. For
instance, the cost of running a YouTube channel is much lower
compared to that of a television station, and it may offer stronger
profitability at different cost levels. Additionally, with fewer
geographical restrictions, local media now have to directly compete
with multinational streaming media, putting greater pressure on the
industry. Recognising the need to diversify revenue sources, the Group
acknowledges that relying solely on advertising or subscription fees is
no longer sustainable. As a result, the Group has actively pursued
collaborations with various types of advertisers, including government
organisation, sports groups, commercial clients and school sponsoring
bodies, to increase advertising revenue during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)

In the third quarter of 2023, Hong Kong’'s economy exhibited
continued improvement, driven by factors such as inbound tourism
and private consumption; the recovery of major international events
and exhibitions, along with government initiatives, contributed to the
gradual boost in the economy. In the preceding three quarters of 2023,
consumer expenditure experienced a continuous upsurge in response
to the improved employment rate. This resulted in increased
advertising expenditure on HOY TV, particularly in categories such as
food and beverage, health and medicine, tourism, and insurance. HOY
TV self-produced television programmes, including the popular show
"Where Do Do you go” (2% i# i Do #8), generated significant market
buzz and garnered strong interest for co-sponsorships in fields such as
beauty and skincare, tourism and insurance. Other programmes such
as "Macau Miko Tour” (K f§ 2 4 Miko %2 2 P9 ), "Charlene Herbal
Cuisine” (2 R Z R R ), and "Dog Alchemist 11" (/5 ¥ 17 &M 111)
resonated well with the audience, leading to an increase in advertising
expenditure on retail and consumer goods.

The Group secured the exclusive broadcasting rights for the Asian
Games in Hong Kong and effectively capitalised on this opportunity to
generate new revenue and established a powerful brand presence
through its professional production. A notable achievement was the
establishment of a novel collaboration model with sports associations,
including e-sports, to live-stream the event on social media platforms,
attracting sponsorships from banks and technology companies.
Simultaneously, a series of tailored segments also stimulated an
increase in viewership, resulting in additional sponsorship fees and
airtime sales.

However, the challenging external environment and the volatility in
the local stock market during the year ended 31 December 2023 led to
an adverse effect on the local economy, significantly impacting
investor confidence. Consequently, there was a slowdown observed in
advertising from real estate, financial and related trading platforms.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)
Committing to Society

Leveraging the media power and influence, the Group shouldered its
own social responsibility to bring positive energy to the society and
Hong Kong citizens. The Group's i-CABLE News team partnered with
various government departments in Hong Kong to develop a series of
promotional programmes. These programmes aimed to enhance
public awareness of the operations of different government
departments, foster a deeper understanding of the government
among the public, and strengthen the relationship between the
government and the public.

“Everlasting Mission 2" (2 & | [ | 8% % 2) provides an
exploration of the diverse work of the Police Force allowing the
audience to gain insights into the professional knowledge and
skills of the Police Force.

“Hearts on Fire 2" (/0 tb K 24 2) delves into the various roles
within the Fire Services Department and promotes fire
prevention activities across seasons to enhance the fire safety
awareness of the public.

"Spreading Warmth with SWD Services” (1t & AR 5 BE L [&)
presents a series of short stories highlighting the diverse services
offered by the Social Welfare Department.

In December 2023, “National Security Knowledge Challenge” (
= A kL 3

RLZ 2 H H B &) took place in schools in Hong Kong,
aiming to raise students’ awareness of the National Security Law.

REIRIT ()W)

HEE @

He2H
AEEREHERYENBTASHEE T ALS
RESTRIATES AEENAGTEEKEE
BHITHPIAE  BET —RIISESH  ETRT
12 31| 7 [F ER RTS8 P9 003 1 - AR Th B 3 T AT 60 328 38k A
R IN3R € MR o

(BEILEINREDBEENBERNZ T
1 MBRERERBPINFZMBAGEE -

L KB RARS B RO TR TIERER
ZEHIORE - ARESTRAAER

(LERBEMHE)EBERELL  NELE
B/ E R RERN TR RS -

(BRZ2FIKRBEEOIR-_F_=F+-AR
2EBRET FERSEBEEAHERLZEZIEN

27 2
R o



Business Review

¥ OEA

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)

Committing to Society (Continued)

Working Together to Create a New Vision in the Bay Area

In September 2023, the Group made a press release regarding its
strategic partnership with Guangdong Radio and Television Station,
and launched a collaborative project “Working Together to Create a
New Vision in the Bay Area” (}& F £ 81 /& & 13 7). The objective of
this project is to jointly produce a series of dynamic and innovative TV
programmes, tap into the potential TV audience market in the Greater
Bay Area, and establish a significant milestone in the history of TV
broadcasting in the Greater Bay Area.

[ Ll ﬂ((. K.y

%ﬁlﬁ?ﬁ m?ﬁ“fﬁéﬁ?ﬁﬁ
5 1'5;'151 y

Nurturing New Force for the Industry

The Group, in collaboration with the Home and Youth Affairs Bureau
and The Y.Elites Association, has initiated the “Event Elite” Trainee
Programme for the Asian Games. This programme involves a team of
passionate young individuals interested in the sports and
communication industry. They had joined the Group’s production
team in Hangzhou and participated in the creation and filming of a
series of documentaries showcasing the Hong Kong team'’s
participation in the Asian Games. These documentaries had been
broadcasted online. The “Event Elite” Trainee Programme offered
internship opportunities for young individuals who have a keen interest
in pursuing a career in the sports editing or digital media industry to
explore their interests and strengths while nurturing future leaders for
the industry.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)
Expanding Reach

Over the past few years, there has been a significant shift in the
entertainment preferences of the general public. In the past, people
primarily relied on traditional media such as television, newspapers,
and magazines. However, the media landscape has now evolved to
include various platforms like television, streaming services, YouTube,
and other social media. In response to these changes, the Group has
taken a new direction and redirected its focus towards the multimedia
field. It has allocated its resources to the development of free TV, digital
media and wall screen advertising. This proactive reform has resulted in
the Group's three free-to-air TV channels, namely, HOY International
Business Channel (Channel 76) ("HOY 76"), HOY TV (Channel 77) ("HOY
77" and HOY Infotainment (Channel 78) ("HOY 78"), as well as mobile
applications, achieving extensive coverage, reaching approximately
99% of the population in Hong Kong. As a result, the Group is able to
provide free and high-quality TV services to a large number of viewers
in Hong Kong. Additionally, the Group has introduced a new video
streaming service that offers a more flexible viewing experience for
both local and international audiences. Furthermore, the Group is
actively expanding into the Mainland China market and collaborating
with TV stations in the Greater Bay Area, which allow the Group to
enrich the content of its various multimedia platforms and strengthen
its competitiveness.

The Group had dedicated resources in developing digital media
channels to expand the reach and increase audience engagement. The
Facebook pages operated by the Group in total, have accumulated
more than 2.5 million followers as at 31 December 2023, representing
an increase of 25% as compared to that of 2022. These Facebook pages
have reached more than 34 million users. Among them, the most
popular Facebook pages, namely HOY, HOYIBC, i-CABLE News, i-CABLE
Life, and i-CABLE China, received a total of over 9 million interactions in
2023.

Diversified content

The Group is committed to providing audiences with diversified and
people-oriented programme content in order to achieve the unique
film and television trend of HOY TV.

Set out below are various programmes produced and outsourced by
HOY TV in 2023, including variety shows, cooking and dining, lifestyle,
infotainment, health, drama series, etc., which help to boost viewership
ratings and attract TV advertising revenue and sponsorship.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)

Diversified content (Continued)

Variety shows:

Cheng Yu Ling (Do Do), a prominent figure in the show business, has
debuted as a host for a travel programme “Where Do Do you go” (&
#2M Do %) on HOY TV. In this show, Do Do embarked on a journey to
explore hidden scenic spots in Europe and Asia accompanied by five

popular male celebrities, namely Terence Lam Ka Him, Jeffrey Ngai
Tsun Sang, Tyson Yoshi, Joey Hung Ka Ho, and Ying Chi Yuet
(MrLittleCat).

The popular variety show “Undercover Travel Group 3.0" (BAE ik 7T [
3.0) is co-hosted by Jiro Lee Sheung Ching, and Aiyana Lo, who
disguise as ordinary tourists and join various affordable tour groups,
embarking on a journey to uncover interesting and unique
experiences. This programme has garnered significant acclaim from
the audience, achieving a highest audience rating of 4.5 points, and
the show has gained substantial viewership on YouTube, with the
highest number of episodes viewed over 540,000.

This was the first time that Kenny Wong Tak Bun and Louise Wong Tan
Ni teamed up to shoot a unique travel programme “Live Offline” (70 %2
&0) for HOY TV. In this programme, they embarked on a journey to
Shikoku in Japan, focusing on introducing the audience to methods of
relaxation and spiritual cleansing.

To complement the Group's exclusive broadcast of the Asian Games
across Hong Kong, the Group specially produced “#1/HBR & ik E ", * 58
BT " and 5238 E M to introduce the latest updates and
preparation process of the Asian Games, as well as the attractions and
latest update of Hangzhou.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)

Diversified content (Continued)

Variety shows: (Continued)

Hosted by Miko Wong, a well-known internet Malaysian celebrity,
"Macau Miko Tour” (X E5 2z ## Miko %% 38 F9) brings the audience to
the vibrant streets and winding alleys of Macao, where they can delve
into the multifaceted characteristics of the city.

Other travel related variety shows: “Seoul Searching” (PU 5z & & ), “Sister
Travelling in Japan” (3% H ZX) and “Hot Spring Holidays” (2K ik 1T
).

Dining and cooking:

Hosted by Jiro Lee Sheung Ching, “Taste of the Two Dishes” (& %<
/) & £ 8R ) ventures into two dishes rice restaurants situated across
Hong Kong, Kowloon, and the New Territories, breaking through the
conventional idea of two or three dishes rice, and offers a tantalising
visual feast of two dishes rice.

Hosted by Charlene Tse, Gloria Mak Sze Man and Wong Ching Nam,
“Charlene Herbal Cuisine” (& EZ 2 X R ) revolves around the theme of
health, and promotes the concept of “homology of medicine and food”
by creating delectable and nutritious medicinal diet.

Other dining and cooking related shows: “Theme Cook 2" (& & COOK
2) *,“A Hongkonger's Guide to Old-Fashion Food” (ZEiRER Z HE)
"Cooking Martin” (5 H & 35 ),"What to Cook Today Christmas” ([ &R
M BB FL ), “Master Chef's Delight 2023 (A BT #5/0 HE 2023), “Top 100
Hong Kong Cuisine” (278 # & 10054 ), “What to Cook Today” (# &R
M), “Lunch Time 2" (W82 R &= 2).

Lifestyle:

Hosted by Omi Kwong and star dog trainer Eric Ko, “Dog Alchemist II”
(5 ¥ it B 1) addresses behavior issues of pet dogs and providing
solutions for their owners. Since its premiere, the programme has
garnered high praise and has been well-received by numerous pet
owners.

Other lifestyle related shows: “Master verse of Denim” (4-{F H) % EF
H),"Good Deal in Japan (Kansai)’ ( B [E] 5 & B (B8 70)), "Okinawa
Coffee Trail" R AE N BEHD 8], (REZEMEF).

“I'm a racer”
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

MEDIA (Continued)

Diversified content (Continued)

Infotainment:

In recent years, Hong Kong has experienced a rise in fraudulent
activities, the community-centered programme “Scam Alert"(52 V& 78
$®) revealed various social fraud cases from a unique perspective.
Hosted by Benjamin Au Yeung Wai Hoo (Ben Sir) and Master Seven (+
S EM &), “Scam Alert” (S HE 78 8%) involved the participation of 16
artists to re-enact the “real fraud process” so as to alert the audience
against swindlers.
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(BERL R H BV E B ERE) returned
for its second season. Jessica Kan Shuk Yi guided the audience to
witness and participate in the new lives of 15 groups of Hong Kong
people who have relocated to Taiwan.

"Far Away From Home (Taiwan)”

Health:

Health related shows: "Health Concern Group” (£ B8, 48), "Health
Concern Group — Asian Game” ({2 B @ ¥ BT iE ).

(BRI FNBRE)E_FRIGE HEHBRR
Jessicam BB —EBRAEE+ AATEA BT EARKR
BRI E R AETE -

HEZRARMEE (REMIA) (BEEIATER) -

17



18

i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2023

Business Review

¥R

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)

Diversified content (Continued)

Drama Series:

The Group provided drama series, such as “The Legends of Monkey
King” (/& Z &), “The Ingenious One” (&£ 2 (&),
Season I" (R0 B % —2=), "Jun Jiu Ling” (B JLH#R

Unit"(PTU B B) 2B B ), “Agency” (B &R A).

“Lost You Forever
), "Police Tactical

On the sport programmes, the Group has always supported the
development of local and international sports events and has exhibited
exclusive coverage of several high-quality sports events throughout
the year. Following the surrender of the Pay TV Licence, the Group
strategically consolidated its resources and shifted its focus to the
development of free-to-air sports events, aiming to expand the Group's
content exposure in the direction of omnimedia.

The Group has served as the official broadcaster of the Asian Games for
the seventh consecutive time. This was the first time that the Asian
Games were broadcasted on a free-to-air TV channel. This achievement
generated nationwide enthusiasm and reaffirmed Cable Sports’ leading
position in the industry. In addition to the Group's three free-to-air TV
channels, namely, HOY 76, HOY 77 and HOY 78, as well as its social
media platforms, the Group made extensive use of its newly renovated
website and mobile applications to provide comprehensive coverage
of Hong Kong athletes’ events throughout the Asian Games featuring a
packed schedule. The success of the coverage led to a surge in
viewership. With the exceptional performances of the Hong Kong
athletes and the comprehensive coverage by HOY TV, both on and off
the field, the ratings of HOY 77 experienced a significant increase. HOY
77 also achieved its highest ratings since its launch, with the Chinese
Women's Volleyball Final reaching a peak rating of over 7.6. Online
viewership was equally impressive, with over 2.45 million visitors
accessing the mobile application and website, resulting in a total of 36
million page views during the event period.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)
Diversified content (Continued)

Drama Series: (Continued)

During the Asian Games, the Group collaborated with various shopping
malls and organisations, resulting in 250 outdoor screens where the
Asian Games programmes could be watched. Additionally, the Group
actively expanded its partnerships with sports organisations, including
collaborations with eSports organisations to broadcast the Asian
Games, which contributed to the increased advertising revenue from
banking and technology products. Overall, the popularity of the Asian
Games, coupled with the production of customised content by HOY
TV, has proven successful in boosting programme sponsorship and
advertising revenue.

Furthermore, the Group secured the broadcasting rights for several
international competitions during the year ended 31 December 2023.
This allowed viewers to enjoy a wide range of exclusive world-class
competitions through the Group's free-to-air TV channels and various
digital media channels. The Group also provided professional analysis
and commentary to enhance the viewing experience. Notable
international competitions include the Hong Kong Sevens (2 7 Bl %
+ ABIRE), FIVB World Women's Volleyball League Hong Kong 2023
(FIVB Tt SR 2z Pk Bt 8 & 78 2023), Carabao Cup (E & BB E &), the
German Cup (“DFB-Pokal”) (12 B 43 £ BREE), EFL Championship (4§
BE B E), Coppa ltalia (B AF|HR), Copa del Rey (FITF#&) ,
FIBA Basketball World Cup (FIBA 5 75 55 F £ B &) and FIA World
Rallycross Championship Hong Kong China — Season Finale (FIA t 5%
% Hh L BF B8 8 1R B R B B B b F 4X ). Apart from world-class
sports events, the Group has been committed to producing and
delivering local sports competitions and news to viewers, including
"Loving Sports” (& « B2 &) which focuses on Hong Kong sports and
local athletes.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)
Cable TV 18 Channel (418 &)

On 1 June 2023, Cable TV 18 Channel, one of the most popular horse
racing channels in Hong Kong, made a transition from Pay TV to a
multimedia platform following the termination of Pay TV operation.
Through the collaborative efforts of various departments of the Group,
Cable TV 18 Channel was successfully migrated to the new OTT
platform “i-CABLE CH 18" (5 4% 18 & ). Throughout this transition, the
platform’s stability and the quality of its original programmes were
maintained. Users simply need to install the “i-CABLE CH 18" (G 4% 18
) to continue enjoying up to 14 different forms of professional horse
racing analysis programmes on a daily basis. These programmes
include “Race Card Talk" (BERZ#7 B), “Be a Big Punter” (Fk 2K ),
"Race Forecast” (& 55 78 J8l) and “18 Betting Tower” (1818 X &).
Additionally, the mobile application “Racing GPS" (& f§ GPS)
experienced a surge in downloads, reaching a new record high. The
innovation and transformation of Cable TV 18 Channel have led to the
diversification of programmes and services, aligning with the Group's
commitment to “originality, innovation, and dedication” in its horse
racing programmes.

i-CABLE News

During the year ended 31 December 2023, i-CABLE News remained a
leading source of 24-hour news, delivering uninterrupted news
coverage to viewers free of charge on HOY 78. HOY 78 continued to
uphold its philosophy of providing consistent and reliable i-CABLE
News. For 30 years since its establishment, i-CABLE News has
established itself as a reputable and influential news outlet, gaining
recognition within the industry.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)
i-CABLE News (Continued)

In addition to providing 24-hour news coverage, HOY 78 offers a range
of infotainment programmes. These programmes include “Inno Action”
(%8 « BI 7 3K) which highlights Hong Kong's innovation industry, “Let’s
Talk” (B 32 F 13 18) which explores important social and political
issues in Hong Kong, “Our Home Our Country” (X Bl X ) which
focuses on national conditions and Hong Kong's national security law
and is presented by government officials, and “World Living 2: Australia”
(&t F B E 28 M &) which provides comprehensive information
on overseas property and residence. Furthermore, i-CABLE News has
produced the flagship programme “City Focus” (— #% # 25 ) which
closely follows the most relevant community current affairs topics, has
been broadcasted on HOY 77 for over 400 episodes.

&

Digital media

On 21 November 2022, the Group introduced hoy.tv, a comprehensive
website that offers a centralised platform for accessing the
programmes content of three free-to-air TV channels: HOY 76, HOY 77
and HOY 78. This initiative accommodates the evolving needs of the
audience.

To enhance the viewing experience for the audience and meet the
high demand generated by the broadcasting of the Asian Games
events, the Group undertook a website revamp during the year and
offered a vast array of online on-demand videos, including over 1,800
episodes of TV series, entertainment shows, and informative
programmes, thereby expanding the diversity of programme content.
Furthermore, in addition to news, finance, and sports, the Group
expanded its digital content presence on i-cable.com and various
social media platforms to encompass lifestyle and entertainment
programmes.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)
Digital media (Continued)

To enhance the Group's competitiveness in the multimedia platform,
hoy.tv and i-cable.com websites have implemented cloud
infrastructure, resulting in improved stability and scalability for live
streaming. This upgrade ensures that audiences can enjoy a high-
quality audio-visual experience anytime and anywhere. The
optimisation of the websites and the enrichment of content have led
to a consistent growth in the number of users on the hoy.tv website.
By December 2023, the monthly active users on hoy.tv website
reached 0.2 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 6.5%, and
more than 0.6 million active users were recorded in the peak month of
the year. However, the number of monthly active users on the i-cable.
com website declined to 0.7 million in December 2023, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 58% due to the termination of the Pay TV
service.

On the other hand, the Group undertook a complete overhaul of the
HOY Mobile App in August 2023, to cater to viewers' preferences for
watching programmes on their mobile devices and enable users to
access exciting programmes from HOY 76, HOY 77 and HOY 78 at
anytime, as well as enjoy 24-hour live broadcasts. In addition, the HOY
Mobile App has been updated with new interface and added features
such as programmes search, my favorite collection and storage of
viewing records to further enhance the viewing experience.

By 31 December 2023, the HOY Mobile App has achieved significant
growth in its user base, with over 520,000 cumulative downloads,
representing a notable increase of 2.5 times compared to the previous
year; the mobile app “i-CABLE News — News, Finance, and Lifestyle
Information Platform” (B & #TE — #TE - WK REFEAFE)
experienced substantial growth in downloads throughout 2023. With
over 1.3 million downloads, there was a notable increase of 13%
compared to the previous year, and the overall number of users
showed a steady upward trend.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)
MTR In-train TV Advertising

The Group's “Cable News Express” (5 #43 ¥7 & #R i& ) is the sole
distributor of the advertisement and content provider for the MTR In-
train TV. The coverage extends to trains on the MTR East Rail Line, Tuen
Ma Line, Kwun Tong Line, and South Island Line. The Group delivers a
range of content to passengers on MTR trains, including real-time local
and international news, financial updates, sports coverage,
entertainment news, and informative programmes. It also provides
advertisers with a premium outdoor advertising platform, enabling
them to effectively convey their advertising messages to the
passengers.

ERBEBEANBRIA —ZZBE-=ZFFH
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Following the complete reopening of the border in March 2023,
economic activities in Hong Kong have been gradually returning to
normal. Between January and December 2023, Hong Kong witnessed
over 23 million inbound passengers, MTR recorded a 32% increase in
average daily patronage (Monday to Friday only) on an annualised
basis for the year. Advertisers, particularly those targeting cross-border
customers, such as healthcare, pharmaceuticals, and dental services,
have resumed their advertising spending in the MTR In-train TV. The
border opening has created opportunities for various economic
activities, including but not limit to hosting international events,
conferences, and economic forums. Consequently, advertising revenue
from sectors like insurance, lending, electronic payment, and real estate
has recorded an increase.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)
MEDIA (Continued)
MTR In-train TV Advertising (Continued)

As the exclusive broadcaster of the Asian Games, “Cable News Express”
took the initiative to create tailored content and develop a range of
marketing solutions to attract advertising spending from the
government and various product categories, including electronic
payment, food and beverage, health and supplements, and fast-
moving consumer goods.

TELECOMMUNICATIONS BUSINESS

The Group’s telecommunications business has demonstrated
consistent performance and currently possesses a telecommunications
network that serves over 2 million households in Hong Kong. In
addition to expanding the coverage of its primary fiber network and
enhancing the capacity of its core network to meet the demands of
residential and business markets, the Group has also undertaken the
transformation of its hybrid fiber/coaxial network into a full fiber
network using advanced technologies in recent years. Furthermore,
the Group has made continuous investments in the expansion of the
Gigabit Passive Fiber Network ("GPON") to offer high-speed Fiber-to-
the-Home internet services to an increasing number of subscribers.
These efforts are aimed at ensuring that its customers enjoy a stable
and high-speed internet experience.

With the end of the pandemic and the complete revival of the tourism
industry, the Group has introduced roaming data service plans tailored
for the Greater Bay Area, Asia, and global destinations to cater to the
increasing demand for such services. Additionally, as northward
consumption has gradually become a trend among Hong Kong
residents, the Group has launched a high data usage service plan to
fulfill the needs of its customers.

For the corporate services, the Group is actively exploring B2B
(business-to-business) opportunities and expanding its product
portfolio. Leveraging its existing expertise and skills, the Group is
seeking new avenues to expand its business scope. This includes
venturing into the commercial broadband business, generating
additional revenue through the management of optical cabling
systems and leasing spare network capacity. Furthermore, the Group
has maintained a strong strategic partnership with CMHK in various
areas, encompassing the network construction, network consultation
and promotion, as well as mobile communication business. Such
initiatives have not only provided a stable source of income but have
also facilitated the synergistic utilisation of network resources. In order
to further increase market share, the Group will continue to explore
better and more diversified telecommunications services while
strengthening its sales channels.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT (Continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING BY
THE GROUP

The following principal risks and uncertainties are considered to be of
significance and have the potential to affect the Group’s businesses,
results of operations and financial conditions. However, they are non-
exhaustive as there may be other risks and uncertainties arising,
resulting from changes in the economy and other conditions over
time.

The media segment is experiencing an intense competition in a
crowded marketplace with a super-dominant operator and changing
user behaviour. The fragmentation of the audience’s media
consumption habits is increasing, with viewers choosing to watch
various types of content anytime and anywhere through new platforms
and mobile devices. The availability of a vast array of programme
content on streaming platforms and social media platform has
intensified competition and reduced the necessity of relying solely on
traditional fixed platforms. As a result of these factors, the Group has
experienced weakened operating results. However, the Group remains
committed to creativity, continuing to produce programmes that
reflect local characteristics, integrating media platforms, and keeping
pace with the dynamic media market. The Group will make prudent
and necessary investments in programming and infrastructure to
enhance its competitiveness.

The telecommunications segment is faced with fast-changing
technology and customers are constantly demanding for better quality
and high-speed internet service. The Group's operations depend on its
ability to innovate and upgrade its services and the successful
deployment of new technologies. The Group will continue to enhance
its network and bolstering its marketing efforts through online and
telephone channels to provide superior services to its customers. These
enhancements can improve the cost efficiency of the
telecommunications business, thereby strengthening the Group’s
competitiveness and revenue growth potential.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is committed to
responding to the challenges of climate change by adopting
environmental protocols for its operations. The Group is also dedicated
to creating a favourable environment for its staff members; providing
resources to support their growth and development; as well as
promoting staff engagement in social undertakings and volunteer
work.

Reporting Scope
This Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") report summarises
the efforts made and accomplishments of the Group in Corporate
Social Responsibilities (“CSR”) during the period from 1 January 2023 to
1 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period”) in accordance with the
“comply or explain” provisions of Appendix C2 Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). With in-depth
consideration on various areas such as source of income and scale of
businesses which reflects the significance of ESG impact, the ESG
working group reckoned that scope of this ESG report covers the
Group’s key business operations in the provision of media and
telecommunications activities in Hong Kong. Details of the
establishment and duties of the ESG working group are set out in the
section headed “ESG Governance”.

Reporting Principles

The preparation of this report adheres to four reporting principles
below, in order to provide an unbiased picture of the Group's ESG
performance:

1. Materiality: Material ESG factors were being identified by the ESG
working group regularly during the Reporting Period through
annual stakeholder engagement. The final disclosures on ESG
issues have been reviewed and approved by the board (the
“Board") of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company.

2. Quantitative: The Group monitored various Key Performance
Indicators ("KPIs") during the Reporting Period with comparison
of the measurable historical data. In this way, the effectiveness of
ESG policies and management system can be evaluated and
validated. For all standards and methods adopted for calculating
the KPIs (if applicable), please refer to the relevant sections in the
ESG Report.

3. Balance: The ESG report provides an unbiased picture of the ESG
performance of the Group.

4. Consistency: The Group adopted consistent methodologies in
the data calculation by comparing historical ESG data over time.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
ESG Governance

The Group is committed to fulfilling stakeholders’ expectations on its
ESG practices. The Board has the overall responsibility for the Group's
ESG strategy and reporting and is responsible for ensuring that
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal controls
systems are in place.

The Board assumes the full responsibility of the Group’s sustainable
development and oversees key ESG issues, including formulating and
evaluating the risks and opportunities of the key ESG issues, reviewing
and to ensure the effectiveness of the relevant risk management and
internal control systems as well as endorsing the ESG report. The Group
has established an ESG working group, which reports to the
management of the Group and the Board, with representatives from
different functions, including the finance, human resources and
administrative departments of the Group, to collect the ESG data and
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facilitate the ESG reporting process. The ESG working group monitors /N4 BS B AR & .%WE BEZNEE  FIERE
issues that are material to the Group’s operations, sets and reviews ~ FI¥3RIE - @ R EA A B IZRIEZERER T L8
progress made against ESG-related goals and targets, and schedules & & 5 7 %7 R K # - DABUE AN R B ] B R
meetings in updating new policies and mechanisms in improving the B BIZA)E TR o th o) - IRIE - & K EA TIEE TR
management of the Group's strategic goals in sustainable %fﬁﬁﬁﬂlﬁﬁ’]%; R R AR - WHRNRE 4

development. In addition, the ESG working group evaluates the impact,
efficiency and effectiveness of policies that are already in place, and
takes remedial actions if the ESG policies are not properly
implemented. The management executes the ESG strategies
determined by the Board and performs ongoing monitoring of the
ESG-related risks. The Board oversees the ESG strategies and goals and
monitors the progress made on the execution. As part of the Group’s
internal control systems, a professional consultant has been engaged
for ongoing assessment of the internal control and risk management
systems so as to identify any deficiencies and provide
recommendations for improvement accordingly.
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Since 2021, the Group established several environmental targets to ~ H20214F » REBBFIZZHIRBHZ - LUE— T2
drive further improvement on its sustainability performance. The A EA#FEHERKRIR - TRV RFEHRERDN B 1Z

following table displays the targets and results achieved during the
Reporting Period:

NEER -

Result as at 31 December 2023

n=-—=2_—_=

Ft+=-—A=+t—HN&ER
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Replaced 12 new Euro IV diesel vehicles out of 23 such vehicles

Replace all Euro IV diesel vehicles by year 2027
R A R B R AT A B BE P H S B

Implement a policy of reducing paper usage in year
2022
RIZBZ_FEMBD A RERRBE

RBEMBBENEHEREFR BEEBRT 124

Policy established with the focus on centralised sourcing and measurement
of use, reduction of use via double side printing, education and
development of e-approval process for selected internal documents
EHIEBE - HERRETERIBEE  HMAEA - EHEF -
BB RH 2 S 0 F b AR

Achieved, 40,152 litres in 2023, which was approximately 28% lower than
56,094 litres in 2021

Reduce the consumption of diesel by 3% by year 2027
to that in year 2021

REZTZLFRBEBNERER-ZS-_—FK BDEK ZTZ=FR40122H HR=-Z=—FK56094 1 F
13% BT # 8%

Maintain 2023 water consumption intensity level same  Achieved, 2,216 cubic meters in 2023, which was approximately 4% lower
as 2021 than 2,306 cubic meters in 2021
RITZ=ZFHFRKBER-ZE-_—FH/K BEK ZTZ=ZFRNI6UFK HR-_ZF=—FHM23063777

I KB AT #94%
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
Stakeholder Engagement

With the aim to align the Group’s long term sustainability goals with its
current vision and mission, the Group recognises the importance of
integrating its stakeholders’ expectations and requests and truly
understanding their concerns.

The Group actively engages its stakeholders and provides updates on
its recent developments through diverse engagement channels. The
table below highlights the Group's key stakeholders and its
communication channels:

BARARE @)
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Stakeholder Group Engagement Channels

FHEER BHRE

Employees - Internal emails and publications

BT WEPE B & R

RV E

BIEH
FRIBFE

Intranet

NGIA: R

Meetings and briefings
Training and workshops
Bl R g

Employee activities

Performance appraisal

Customers - Corporate website
'R NSNS
Client meetings
EFgE
Investors and Shareholders « Annual general meeting and general meetings
REERBRR REBFRELRERAE

Annual and interim report
FERFBHRE

Press release and announcements
FEREAE
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
Stakeholder Engagement (Continued)

Stakeholder Group

FoEmE SHRE

AR ARE @)
B ESHE @

Engagement Channels

Suppliers, Contractors

and Business Partners ¥ ex
HER  RABREKRB M/ Site visits
HihE R

Business meetings

Government and Regulators

BEREE#E B

Email, phone and written communications

BENEEAR

Social Groups and Public
HEEERARAL EBR
EREEE

B rEE

Email and phone communications
B AR
Volunteer activities

Sponsorships and donations

Press release
ER
Public events

NV

Materiality Assessment

Through the Group's established engagement channels, the Group has
identified relevant ESG issues and assessed their materiality to its
businesses as well as to its stakeholders.

The materiality assessment process is set out as follows:

Identification of potential issues: Screening of initial relevant
issues with reference to the ESG Guide, and peer benchmarking
ideas against suitable peer companies to pinpoint material ESG
issues performed.

Stakeholder evaluation: Internal and external stakeholders, who
demonstrate significant dependence of influence on the Group,
are invited to rank the importance of each ESG issue via
established engagement channels and interviews.
Prioritisation: The results from issues identification and
stakeholder evaluation are synthesised to generate ESG
materiality ranking.

Validation: The ESG working group of the Group validates and
confirms the key material ESG issues, and how they link to the
respective Aspects (as defined in the Listing Rules) and KPIs of
the ESG Guide.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (Continued)
Materiality Assessment (Continued)

In accordance with the results from the stakeholder engagement
exercises, the Group has placed greater emphasis on ESG issues
relating to product responsibility, employee safety, supply chain
management and environmental protection. The table below
highlights the ESG issues which were determined to be material to the
Group covered and arranged them in order of their relative importance
to the business continuity of the business and their overall importance
to the society in this ESG report:

Material ESG Issues

EXRRE HEREREE

BARARE @)
EEMFAG @

REFSNESEIPNER  AEECEMEREE
mEE -BI%x: HEREENREREABNR
B-HeghEhEE  TREMUAENRE HE
REBRRETHREE/RYAKEMEBERNIRE
HEREREE  BHETELHF TRBHEHX
BOEGEEENAYEREERAES T ENBERER
MEETTHES

Aspects in the ESG Guide
(RE  -HEREAR/RBEHEID AL ERE

1 . Service Commitment B6: Product Responsibility
AR 7% % EmaE
Intellectual Property Rights
B EE
Personal Data Policy
BAERBR

2 . Employee Health and Safety B2: Health and Safety
BTREEZE fBERL 2

3 . Supply Chain Management B5: Supply Chain Management
e g e 1% HrEgEE e

4 . Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions AT: Emissions
ZE SR SOR E R BB HER HER

Fuel Consumption
BR O H #E

Air Emissions

ZE B

Waste Management

REFLE 12

5 . Energy Management

REIRE

Water Management

FKEE

Energy and Resources Consumption

BERFEENERERE

A2: Use of Resources

BREH

6 . Environmental Impact Management A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
REVEER REMBAER

7 . Climate Change Impact Management A4: Climate Change
RESITEEE RIERIE

8 . Labour Practices B1: Employment
BIER (A
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Materiality Assessment (Continued)

Material ESG Issues

EARRE HEREALAEAE

AR ARE @)
EEMFG @

Aspects in the ESG Guide
(RIR - HEREBREES) IS ERE

9 . Employee Development and Training B3: Development and Training
B TR RS Y=L

10 | - Prevention of Child and Forced Labour B4: Labour Standards
PribE T R T BT AR

31

11 . Anti-corruption B7: Anti-Corruption
k&5 R&S
Whistleblowing
£33 4 1)

12 | - Community Support B8: Community Investment
X FEt R R HERIRE
Community Engagement
AR AR

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to develop its CSR work in line 7R3 » NEB S EER S L ETEI L FEEAERDE
with its business plans and strategies. This will not be possible without & EF HEEBAEEEIMLET —DONEHFER
the Group's colleagues’ efforts and dedication in upholding CSRvalues.  #{bEH @ EFTHMEE ©

MATERIAL ESG ISSUES BEARE HERELRERE
1. Product Responsibility 1. EmER

AEBEERERD B RHREARSFHEAR
TR STRI N8 S| - RIS EST TIRRS - 85

The Group observes the codes and guidelines for television
programme service and telecommunications service licensees,
along with various legislations including:

Broadcasting Ordinance (Chapter 562 of the Laws of Hong CERBGRD (BB ENE62E)
Kong);
Broadcasting (Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance

CEHE CEIRGSO 5P (BB IEHIF391

(Chapter 391 of the Laws of Hong Kong);
Telecommunications Ordinance (Chapter 106 of the Laws
of Hong Kong);

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the
Laws of Hong Kong); and

Competition Ordinance (Chapter 619 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

)

CEAMGHD (FEEDFE 1068) :
CEAE# (LB & B1) (F & A 0I5 486

)R

GREERDD (BRENFE6198) -

AEETA R B TREEERBFAMKAA

The Group also has established various internal guidelines or
codes of practices for different functions and divisions, and
provided different trainings for staff development.

sl TRl RARB T HREHEEE -
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

1.

Product Responsibility (Continued)
Service Commitment

The Group was awarded 1SO 9001:2015 Quality Management
System certification & ISO 10002:2018 Quality Management —
Customer Satisfaction certification, covering after-sales services
and customer cases management, by SGS Hong Kong Limited in
March 2022 which continues to be well-maintained during the
Reporting Period. The Group was awarded the 12th “Junzi
Corporation Award” by The Hang Seng University of Hong Kong
to recognise its contribution to the society, the spirit of Junzi
and pursuit of excellence.

The Group places customer experience as its priority. A quality
management system in line with the requirements of the ISO
standards is implemented to improve its hotline and customer
care services, and to uplift installation and maintenance
standards. The Group has an efficient system in place to handle
the complaints and inquiries of the customers. The Group
communicates with customers through email, fax, letter, and
hotline. These are forwarded to the relevant departments for
timely response. Following the investigation, the Group will reply
to customer, notify the appropriate departments of the results,
and recommend corrective action. The Group addresses
customer complaints in a timely, fair and unbiased manner.
Customer views are regularly collected and analysed through
customer satisfaction surveys. During the Reporting Period, 288
written complaints (2022: 171 written complaints) were received
in relation to television services. The increase in the number of
complaints was mainly due to cessation of the pay television
services with effect from 1 June 2023.

Engagement of provision of media and telecommunications
activities is not subject to any recall for safety and health reasons.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group has the Corporate General IT Control Policies and
Procedures in place to manage, protect and monitor information
technology (“IT") systems and data. The use of unauthorised
software or copying of copyrights works is not allowed under
the Group's policy. During the Reporting Period, no incident of
intellectual property rights breach was reported.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

1.

Product Responsibility (Continued)
Personal Data Policy

The Group respects individuals' legal rights to privacy, and strictly
abide by the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) in collecting, holding, processing and
using customers’ personal data. In addition to establishing
policies and operation guidelines, the Group issues periodic
reminders and deliver regular briefings to frontline staff to
remind them of the importance of protecting customer data.

The Group protects the confidentiality of its customers’ personal
data by implementing layers of security (IT controls) to prevent
loss or leakage of customer data. The Group’s Corporate General
IT Control Policies and Procedures also ensure data security and
IT system user access control.

There was no incident of non-compliance with the
aforementioned laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business operations of the Group during the
Reporting Period.

Employee Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing and maintaining a healthy,
safe, and hygienic workplace for all employees and related
parties that are likely to be affected by its operations and
activities. The following four policies on health and safety have
been established and posted on the intranet, of which
employees are strictly required to observe:

1. The Safety Handbook & Company Policy which sets out
the requirements on work place safety;

2. Typhoon & Rainstorm Policy which sets out the working
arrangement under special weather;

3. Display Screen Equipment Assessment Policy which
provides safety guidelines for using equipment; and

4. Policy on Arrangement for Infectious Diseases Outbreak
which lays out guidance and measures in handling of
infectious diseases.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)
Employee Health and Safety (Continued)

2.

To enhance employees’ awareness of the importance of safe
working practices, the Group has adopted the following key
occupational health and safety measures:

Annual practice of mass fire drill in collaboration with the
Fire Department;

Demo video of physical exercise in department workplace
as reminder;

Establishment of the Department Operational Guideline
on safety measures for working-at-height and lifting of
heavy tools and objects; and

For the wellbeing and mental health of our employees, the
Group organised recreation and leisure activities including
latte art classes, and special offer on seasonal fruit, chinese
soup and breakfast appreciation arrangements.

Any occurrence of incident would be timely reported to the

management and follow up actions will be taken. There was no
incident of non-compliance with the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
during the Reporting Period.

Occupational Health and Safety Data
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Injury rate® Lost days Lost days rate®® Absentee rate”

TiEtbx@ BXBEH BXRBHEER RE LR
2023 — =% 0.0083 531® 0.0020 0.0204
Iy —— 0.0068 181 0.0006 0.0120

In the past three reporting periods (including this Reporting
Period), there was no incident of work related fatalities.

Notes:

1)
@)
3)
“)
5)

Fatality rate = Total fatality number/Total number of employees

Injury rate = Total staff affected/Total number of employees

Lost days rate = Total number of lost days/Total days worked

Absentee rate = Total number of absentee days/Total days worked

In 2023, 2 long work injuries had occurred, which led to an increased
number of lost days compared to last year. In response, the Group has
reminded its staff regarding the occupational health and safety measures
that should be followed and be cautious of the working environment to
avoid potential safety hazards.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

3.

Supply Chain Management

The Group sources from trustworthy suppliers and contractors
for quality and sustainable products and services, under well-
defined procurement policy. The Group offers equal opportunity
to all potential business partners. Supplier selections and
procurement decisions would be made based on assessment
over certain criteria such as reputation, image, social and
environmental protection responsibilities of the suppliers, quality
and sustainable reliability of the products and services,
compliance with user requirements and/or specifications,
conformance to technical evaluation instituted by requisitioning
department, compatibility with/conformance to existing
operating systems, service level commitment etc. The Group
encourages suppliers and contractors to take green measures
and products that fulfill the 4Rs Rule: “Reduce, Recycle, Reuse
and Replace” in order to minimise environmental and social risks
along the supply chain. The Group also continues to monitor the
product and service quality of the suppliers to ensure the
suppliers’ compliance with the requirements of the Group.
During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any
material environmental and social risks along the supply chain.

The Group strives on sourcing products and services from reliable
suppliers and contractors which comply with all legal
requirements and standards governing relevant labour practices,
environmental protection, intellectual property rights and anti-
corruption action. The Group sources from around the world with
over 89% of suppliers and contractors based in Hong Kong to
reduce carbon footprint in its supply chain, while supporting the
local economy. During the Reporting Period, the number of
suppliers of the Group from Hong Kong, Mainland China and
other countries was 833 (88%), 17 (2%) and 91 (10%), respectively.

Emissions

The Group recognised the importance of maintaining good
environmental protection behavior across the Group by integrating
environmental considerations into the business processes of the
Group. The Board believes that the Group is responsible for the
protection of the environment and adheres to create a sustainable
future for the stakeholders as well as the community in which the
Group operates by the continuous contributions from its
experienced management and employees. To this end, the Group
focuses on three main areas which include emissions', use of
resources, and the environment and natural resources.

" The Group did not generate significant sewage discharge during the Reporting Period.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

4.

Emissions (Continued)
Air and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group works strategically and collaboratively to identify
solutions for reducing greenhouse gas emissions, reducing
waste production as well as reducing energy consumption by
identifying rooms for improvement. The Group strictly follows
the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). During the Reporting Period, there was no
incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions and waste
management that have a significant impact on the business
operations of the Group.

The Group promotes the minimisation of greenhouse gas
emissions generated by the Group and encourages the
environmental care in its working environment. The Group
continuously takes the following measures to reduce the air and
greenhouse gas emissions:
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Fuel consumption

. Reduce the number of vehicles and optimise vehicle
utilisation;
Phase out pre-Euro IV diesel vehicles;
Regular maintenance to reduce carbon emission;
Conduct annual vehicle examination for vehicles to ensure
compliance with emission standards set by the
Environmental Protection Department of Hong Kong;
Provide guidelines on good driving practice; and
Green driving workshops conducted for the Group's drivers.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)
4. Emissions (Continued)

Air Emissions

NO, emissions e LWHEmE
SO, emissions mEL R E
PM emissions R Y HE 2

EARE HEREAEEW®W

4.

BER (@)

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

@ =
Jm &=

R
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
(in tonne) (in tonne)
(g ) (mg)
0.29 0.35
0.001 0.001
0.027 0.034
KREHEN

2023 2022

—E-=
(in tonne) (in tonne)
(mg) (mg)
CO, emissions — scope 1 (Note 1) “aibhixEEE —EE () 233 267
CO, emissions — scope 2 (Note 2) “aibhikEEE — B2 (faE2) 5,025 4,467
Total Fo 5,258 4,734

As compared to that in 2022, the Group recorded a lower
amount of NO,, SO, PM and greenhouse gas emissions in 2023.
Such reduction was mainly due to less frequent use, shorter
travel distance and decrease in the number of the Group’s
vehicles.

Notes:

1. Direct emissions (scope 1) includes greenhouse gas emissions from
combustion of fuels in company vehicle fleet. CO, emissions — scope 1
intensity was approximately 0.21 (tonne/employee) during the Reporting
Period (2022: 0.23 (tonne/employee))

2. Energy indirectly emissions (scope 2) includes greenhouse gas emissions
from consumption of electricity purchased from power companies. CO,
emissions — scope 2 intensity was approximately 4.63 (tonne/employee)
during the Reporting Period (2022: 3.82 (tonne/employee))

3. The calculation of air emissions and greenhouse gas emissions was based
on the "Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock
Exchange
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

4,

Emissions (Continued)
Waste Management

The Group has devoted substantial efforts to waste management
by minimising solid waste to landfills through waste reducing,
waste reusing and waste recycling. One of the essential
measurements is through promoting the importance of waste
reduction among the employees of the Group through training
and education. Going paperless is always the Group's key
message passed to the employees of the Group and they are
encouraged to use electronic copies for filing purpose and use
recycle papers for printing in order to reduce waste. The Group's
efforts to reduce paper usage include implementing paperless
e-Leave and e-Payroll systems.

The Group is not aware of any significant generation of
hazardous waste and adopted suitable waste handling and
reduction measures in accordance with local laws and
regulations. The total amount and intensity of non-hazardous
waste produced during the Reporting Period were 16 tonnes
and 0.015 tonnes/employee, respectively (2022: 8 tonnes and
0.007 tonnes/employee, respectively). All non-hazardous waste
generated are collected by waste recyclers and are either
destroyed or processed for recycling.

Types and amount of waste recycled
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Production
Equipment,
Office
Equipment and
Paper and Plastics Computers
Paper Product (Video Tape) (piece)
(tonne) (piece) Cartridge BUERE -
KRR B (piece) N
S m (% F7F) wHE
(i ) (=) (=)
2023 —F =% 4 7,403 82 2,352
2002 —F - — 3 2,001 71 650

There was no incident of non-compliance with relevant
environmental laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business operations of the Group during the
Reporting Period.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

5.

Use of Resources

Being a responsible corporation to the environment and the
society, the Group focuses on exploring opportunities to
minimise the use of energy or natural resources among the
Group and with the new technologies and by improving the
efficiency of operating procedures that provide the best use of
production and office equipment. The management of the
Group believes that the efficiency of the use of energy and
natural resources can be improved from time to time.

Energy Management

The Group endeavours to make use of energy efficiently and to
encourage employees of the Group to use energy effectively.
The consumption of energy is monitored regularly and measures
were taken to identify any rooms for improvement. Another key
focus by the Group is on how to minimise the use of resources
and how to use wisely is through education and training:

reduce operation hours of public lighting, escalators and
lifts;

automate switching off air-conditioning and lighting;
retrofit lighting system using energy efficient T5
fluorescent tubes and LED lights;

adjust indoor temperature settings;

purchase energy efficient office equipment with electron
energy loss spectroscopy; and

provide staff with tips for green office.

Water Management

There was no water sourcing issue within the Group as the
Group mainly consumes municipal water. The majority of the
water consumption of the Group is for air-cooled air
conditioning system, basic cleaning and sanitation. The Group
promotes the use of water smartly by training and education.
The management of the Group continuously monitors the
consumption of water and explores ways to further reduce the
Group's water consumption. Owing to the Group’s ongoing
education and efforts, the Group's water consumption for the
year 2023 has maintained similar level of 2,216 cubic meters as
compared to the consumption for the year 2021 of 2,306 cubic
meters and year 2022 of 2,277 cubic meters.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) EXARE HERERBRE®
5. Use of Resources (Continued) 5. ERMFEH @
Energy and Resources Consumption HREEREREEE

Electricity (kilowatt-hour) B (FTRAE) 12,884,764 11,454,969
Water consumption (cubic meter) RAKEGLAK) 2,216 2,277
Diesel (litre) s (A7) 40,152 49,355
Unleaded petrol (litre) S TM (R FH) 54,232 51,107
Electricity intensity (kilowatt-hour/employee) BERE (TR 8T1) 11,875 9,799
Water consumption intensity (cubic meter/employee) FB/KEZ (375K, B T) 2 2
Diesel per vehicle (litre/vehicle) 5m (A FHEE) 1,673 1,452
Unleaded petrol per vehicle (litre/vehicle) ESDm (BT EEH) 2,169 2,044
Note:  Use of packaging material for finished product is not a material aspect of Wiet - R BEANCRYH L HEAEFDEFEEENEX
the business operations of the Group g5
The Group's electricity consumption increased by approximately BT ZFARE  AREBEIEIIKAI12%E 08
12% when compared to 2022 as a result of a complete resume FoWWBHRAEER T =F LT EE
to work in 2023, the discontinuation of the Group’s work-from- MEEES BUBTAER LERK - W HEEZMN
home policy, and an increase in the number of events and SEENFIRMETRE - BENAERENFERE LA -
production shoots, which resulted in higher utilisation of office
equipment.
With the Group’s reduction in the size of the vehicle fleet and BEEAREE R EHRE WA FE 48R A
fuel consumption initiatives mentioned in section 4 as well as RFE N EITERRREAERE MR T - —
shorter distance travelled, the Group consumed 19% less diesel Mt - AEBEEZZS = =FF 19% SR EFRE o

in 2023 when compared to that in 2022.

Consumption of unleaded petrol increased by 6% due to the rise S SRS R ne% - L TV R AEEN =
in private car mileage as a result of an increased number of T_—FRAREPHRIEIIIBEELE M S
public events and location filming visits undertaken by the LRETEEEEMER -

Group in 2023.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

6.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group explores the possibility of the usage of clean energy
or reusable resources and the opportunities to minimise the use
of energy or natural resources in every department in different
business operations of the Group. The Group continuously
adheres to the principle of minimising the impact on the
environment and natural resources. During the Reporting Period,
the Group is not aware of any significant impacts of activities
arising from the business operations of the Group on the
environment and natural resources.

The Group’s Environmental Friendly Programme was
implemented in the Group throughout these years to bring the
employees together with the management of the Group to
contribute to its society. The Group takes great emphasis in the
future development of its environment.

Climate Change Impact Management

The management of the Group will take adequate steps to build
its resilience to climate change by identifying and managing
climate change risks and opportunities and by developing
strategies, which are in line with global best practices to adapt to
and mitigate the impact of climate change on its operations.

In order to mitigate the impact of climate change, the Group
takes climate change issues into consideration during its annual
enterprise risk management process to evaluate if the significant
climate-related risks would impact its business operations.
Contingency business plans regarding the possible scenarios
under various extreme weather conditions are established, such
as installing uninterruptible power supply (“UPS”) in order to
provide emergency power when the input power source or
mains power including hub sites, Digital News System (“DNS")
centre, Management Information System (“MIS") server,
broadcasting equipment, Multichannel Multipoint Distribution
Service ("MMDS”") station, etc. fails. The Group also encourages
employees, suppliers and customers to reduce carbon emissions
in their operations in order to mitigate its supply chain’s
environmental impact as much as possible.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

8.

Employment

The Group recognises employees as important assets. The Group
is committed to developing a positive and respectable working
environment that encourages collaboration between employees
and across departments. The Group strives to attract and retain
talents and aim to promote workforce diversity, in terms of age,
gender and nationality, as well as a culture of equal opportunity.

The Group has developed the Employee Handbook & Human
Resources Policy which have been posted on intranet, governing
compensation, dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination and other benefits and welfare in accordance
with respective laws and regulations.

The following Hong Kong laws in relation to the Group's
employment and labour practices are relevant to the Group:

Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong);

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance ("MPFSQO")
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the
Laws of Hong Kong);

Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of
Hong Kong);

Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the Laws of
Hong Kong);

Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 487 of the
Laws of Hong Kong);

Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 527 of
the Laws of Hong Kong);

Race Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602 of the Laws
of Hong Kong); and

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).

Working hours, leaves, remuneration and other employment
practices are reviewed regularly to ensure the compliance with
latest labour laws and regulations.

There was no incident of non-compliance with employment
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business operations of the Group during the Reporting Period.
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)
8.

EARE HEREAEEW®W

Employment (Continued) 8. EEmW

Employee Statistics EE#ZTTEE

The majority of the Group's employees in both year 2022 and REBARBHEEE_S__FR_FT_=F
year 2023 were employed and worked in Hong Kong. HEEBEARIE-

Total Workforce WET A

Employment Types
Alltypes of employee LB Employee category Geographical region

A RS R Permanent contract Temporary contract EEAE HE
REAH BRAH

M t General
R [PV [ P O s i e O
i
392 9 381 267

4 n f m 984 101

W3 -E-=F 693
WM =B=ZF 753 416 1,169 746 405 7 11 4 279 846 1,065 104

1,085 68

Total Workforce by Age Group HETAB(RFRERNE D)

Below 30 30-50 Above 50
305 LT 30 5% -50 5% 505% A £

£t

2023
Total Workforce —E—-= 91 102 333 220 269 70 1,085
BEIAH 2022

—ZF-= 104 137 389 211 260 68 1,169
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) EARKR HERERBE®@
8. Employment (Continued) 8. EfEmW
Employee Statistics (Continued) EEGTEE (#)
New Hires and Employee Turnover FABEBIREEBRAR
Year 305 LT 30 5% -50 5% 505% M L
£% | Male |Female | Male | Female | Male | Female |
2023
New Hires —g-= 70 84 69 66 15 8 312 | 0.288"
FABEST 2022
= 91 99 117 97 38 27 469 0401
2023
Employee —g-= 43 57 92 a 1 5 249 | 0.230®
Turnover®
T EVLE L 2022
S 52 51 117 62 31 12 325 0.2782
Employee Turnover Rate EERKLLE

By geographical
By age group region

1 F e 48 B Total

Ly R
Below 30

30251

2023
—E-=F 0.135 0.095 0.518 0.241 0.047 0.204 0.026 0.230?
2022
= 0.171 0.107 0427 0.298 0.131 0.267 0.011 0.278@
Notes: Bt
(1) New hire rate = Total number of new hires/Total number of employees () FABETIHE=FABETHE 1ESHEH
©2) Turnover rate = Total number of employee turnover/Total number of 2 RAHF-pEIESRE ESHEH
employees
3) Employee turnover refers to voluntary turnover, but exclude turnover of 3) 1ES A FIEEFRRER - T B 15K BN 6 B

employees during their probation period
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)

o.

Notes:

(1)

@)

Employee Development and Training

ERRER

9. EEBRERIZI

HEREAREREW@

The Group acknowledges the importance of training for
professional development of its employees. The Group places
adequate and appropriate resources on training and staff
development opportunities. The Group encourages vocational
education and training activities by providing tuition subsidies
and full funding training programmes.

During the Reporting Period, the Group conducted around 9
corporate training events™ (2022: 159 corporate training events)
involving 236 participants (2022: 1,139 participants) with a total
of 25,517 training hours (2022: 42,302 training hours)® to
enhance working knowledge, safety compliance, service quality
as well as compliance of anti-corruption. To promote happy
working environment, the Group participated in Happy@Work
2023 organised by the Employers’ Federation of Hong Kong.

Corporate training events cover performance management system training, ICAC
training and fine drill briefing sessions.

The decrease in training hours was mainly due to the reduction in on-the-job
training hours as a result of fewer new joiners in 2023, as compared to 2022.
Furthermore, only supervisors/appraisers were required to participate in the
performance management system training in 2023, as compared to all staff
participation in 2022 when the system was newly introduced.

st -

(1)

@

AEEREDE

I REEBXERNERKE -
AEBEEZNILETEREE T EFERRR
BENBER ASREBRBRHEBBEMULEE

EEIIEE SR NBEHE RIEIES -
RIREHR - $Elﬁh£w’79“¢¥i FEREO
(=2 == 591.&%1513”::%3&)%236%5\
IT2E(ZET-—F 11398 TLRME) » #I%

JI\M%&}%%SW/J\HT(_?__i 42302 /N IR
FIFE) @ FAIERB T ERA TIEMH Tz’i\
a8 HE%’%E% AKRBTEAR - RiFERE
{’Eiai}%*$%I%EEEEE/%4EIH§%S§5§#D#H]
Happy@Work 2023 °

DEFINRECERBEECERGE  FEZIREES
B e

HNFHA LT EAR —E = FHABNETHER T
::ﬁﬁﬁﬁT/& BHEBISINEH L - S R=ZF
F R B VA EABESBENEERZRE ME=-F
::fkc%’ﬁ?/AE%/ﬁ’:@ﬁﬁf B B THASMEF -
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued) EXRRR HERERZE®@®
9. Employee Development and Training (Continued) 9. &2 % E &I1Z 3 (@)
Employee Training and Development Data EEZIRERYE
Percentage of employees trained BiEZNEET I

By gender By employment category Overall
&Rl REEER percentage

Management | Senior Staff | General Staff | of employees

Staff (%) (%) (%)
Year EEE BRET —REI ERESEIH
FE (%) (%) (%)
2023 88 20 80 85 92 89
—E-=
2022 97 93 97 96 96 95
==
Remark: Overall percentage of employees calculation — Total participated Bt - BRESB D HE —SHEESBEGIAIESEE

employees divided by total number of employees

Average hours of training 15 3 31 B
BRI RERER average
training
hours
per
employee
(hour)
Management
Female Staff Senior Staff | General Staff [ BZESMNER
(hour) (hour) (hour) 15 2 S| s B
Year Z EHEE BRET
FE (NEF) (/NEF) (/INEF) (/NEF)
2023 19 32 19 16 27 24
=B==
2022 37 35 39 30 38 36
==
Remark: Overall average training hours for corporate training and departmental Bt - TEIES M1 F I R E0PT 15 3 6 B B8 15 15 5l s 2
training per employee calculation — Total training hours divided by total ATE 154 B LU IE B AR 2

number of employees
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)
10. Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Employment and Compensation & Benefits Policies are
established to meet or exceed the requirements of the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and the MPFSO. The Group has adopted the following measures
to prevent recruitment of child and forced labour:

Except for child entertainers and summer interns, the
Group shall hold against hiring any candidate who is
under 18 years old;

For child entertainers, the Group renews permission to
employ child entertainers yearly from the Labour
Department; and

For summer interns, strict collection of sworn declaration
forms and school endorsement are required to prevent
child labour.

Any occurrence of incident would be timely reported to
management and follow up action will be taken.

There was no incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations relating to labour standards that have a significant
impact on the business operations of the Group during the
Reporting Period.

BERBE HEREARZEm@m

10. BFLLETIRB&ILT
7N £ B 5T <7 40 CIR 1 TR 39 B BB U B )+ — 4
B SR R I (BB A RIS 57 5) R(R
M A TE S ST BB 49 B R o 7% 5 B JRER A
T AR 1E 2 T % 34 % 4% T A9 1R -

BRREZEEREHEBLNIN AEERK
MR AR AW 18 BR A EEE

FRREZE AKEEBFERASTRES
ARBEOEES &

ERERETLE RMABERBKETE

BRARERBAISERBUAG LERAET -
BEEAEBHERREEERSE - LRI
BOETTH ©

RBESHAMBELERHYAEEXKZER
EAFEAMS TR AR MEREN
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)
11. Anti-corruption

The Group prohibits bribery and corruption practices. The Group
has established the Employee Handbook, in addition, the
Company Policy has posted on intranet web link regarding
standard code of ethics, which states the prevention of bribery,
gambling, collections and insider dealing, as well as the policy
on reporting potential non-compliance and conflict of interest.

Under the Group’s Code of Conduct, all staff are required to
abide by the laws on anti-corruption, such as the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The
Group strives to promote business ethics and raise awareness
during the Reporting Period, the Group provided trainings and
regular communications to the Directors and the new
employees as part of their orientation programme of the Group.
During the Reporting Period, the Group invited representatives
from the Independent Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC")
to deliver training to its frontline staff. The training course covers
topics from understanding anti-corruption laws and regulations
to avoiding violation of laws and regulations in its operation
practices.

During the Reporting Period, there was no incident of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that have significant
impact on the Group relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering. There was no concluded legal case regarding
corruption practices brought against the Group or its employees
during the Reporting Period.

Whistleblowing

The Group operates a whistleblowing policy, which establishes
whistleblowing procedures for staff to report alleged material
non-compliance to the Group to investigate. Any possible
criminal offence cases will be referred to the audit committee of
the Group to decide further action with consultation from the
legal advisers of the Group. The whistleblowing channel is set up
in an anonymous manner for staff to report non-compliance
without the concern of retaliation. Any form of retaliation against
the whistleblower is prohibited. Staff is obliged to report alleged
material non-compliance to the Group, which will be
investigated.

Enviroqm_g_nta’[, §ocial and Governance Report
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)
12. Community

Community Investment

Volunteer Services

The primary charitable institution that the Group partners with is
Youth Outreach. During the Reporting Period, Youth Outreach
invited the Group to organise the “Youth Outreach X i-CABLE
Men'’s Basketball Friendly Match,” to foster the physical and
mental health of the youth.

Community Support

The Group cares about community development and offers
extensive support to society. During the Reporting Period, the
Group (i) collaborated with the The Y. Elites Association to launch
the "Hangzhou Asian Games Elite Trainee Programme,” (/01 28

EEFERMB L

youths interested in sports editing or the digital media sector; (ii)

51 21) which provides internships for

organised tours for various organisations and groups to i-CABLE
TV facilities, offered insights about the media industry’s
operations to help students to understand the evolution of the
television sector and its societal influence; (iii) took part in the
Government's “The Strive and Rise Programme,” aiming to
bolster the self-esteem and foster a positive life perspective

among young individuals.

ERBEBEANBRIA —ZZBE-=ZFFH
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MATERIAL ESG ISSUES (Continued)
12. Community (Continued)

Community Investment (Continued)

Community Engagement

The Group is dedicated to producing quality programmes which
enhance the connection with local communities and inspire
people to care for the society. During the Reporting Period, the
Group produced (i) “A Closer Look”, aimed at raising health
awareness among viewers during the COVID-19 pandemic,
paying particular attention to children’s health; and (i) “Health
Concern Group” (fi 5z [ )X #H), offered a range of health
information, with an emphasis on health matters associated with
physical activity. Additionally, the Group launched acquired
health information programmes “Mysteries of the Human Body”
(2 5 5 %8 5) and "Body Talk” (f 5 & F3 #4) during the
Reporting Period, which delved into the impact of daily living
habits on health and the role of genetic testing in disease
prevention.

Enviroqmg_ntal, §ocial and Governance Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

AR E SR

(A) REVIEW OF 2023 RESULTS (A) —E-=FEXENEE

Revenue from continuing operations of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 increased by approximately HK$35
million or 6% to approximately HK$598 million (2022:
approximately HK$563 million). Revenue from discontinued
operation of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
was approximately HK$118 million as compared to the year
ended 31 December 2022 of approximately HK$332 million,
which represented a decrease of approximately HK$214 million
or 64%.

The total operating expenses from continuing operations of the
Group increased to approximately HK$1,026 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 from approximately HK$889 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022. In which, cost of services
from continuing operations of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023, including programming costs, network
expenses and cost of sales, increased by approximately HK$129
million to approximately HK$816 million (2022: approximately
HK$687 million). Programming costs, network expenses and cost
of sales from continuing operations increased by approximately
23%, 21% and 7% respectively as compared to the year ended 31
December 2022. Selling, general and administrative and other
operating expenses from continuing operations of the Group
increased by approximately 4% as compared to the year ended
31 December 2022.

The non-cash impairment losses in aggregate amount of
approximately HK$47 million (2022:HK$62 million), HK$20 million
(2022: HK$37 million) and HK$15 million (2022: HKS$24 million)
were included within programming costs, network expenses
and selling, general and administrative and other operating
expenses, respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2023 as
a result of management’s assessment of the business prospect
of the Group in light of the latest market environment.

Loss from operations from continuing operations of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
HKS$428 million, representing an increase of approximately 31%,
as compared with the loss from operations from continuing
operations of approximately HK$326 million for the year ended
31 December 2022.

AEBHE-_Z-_=ZF+_A=+—HILFE
B35 48 45 2 ZE TS UL A AN 4Y 35,000,000 78 7T 3% 6%
Z #7598,000,000% 7L (= = —4F : £7563,000,000
BIL) o AEEHE T -_=ZF+-A=+—8
IEFEHE R4 E ZE U A £ 118,000,000%8
L REEZE__F+RAR=F+—HIEFE
#9332,000,000 7% 7Tk 249 214,000,000 5 7T 3% 64% ©

AEBFECEEBNKEERBEREE
T —F+ = A=+—H -FE#1889,000,000
TENEHE T _=F+=_A=+—HIL*%F
fE#91,0260000008 T - REFBHE-F
TRt AT HUEFEHESEELBLN
BRASECAN (B IEEN B RUMER A - R BB RIHE
A ) 38 0 49 129,000,000 7 JT 2 49816,000,000 78
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EBMEERIERAN BEBARBEEREAD
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+Z A=+ —HIEFEEML 4% °
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BESTMERESANEBEE A SAFTE
IFIR SR E BB EA A 47,0000008 T (T ==
£ 1 62,000,000 JT) * 20,000,000 L (Z T = =
£F 137,000,000 JT) K 1500000087 (Z T ==
F 1 24,000,000 7) D BIET AR S BRI E B RIE
A - MR EAREE - —K THEEMESE
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5B AT ST R 48 & BT 1B 49 428,000,000 8 7T, + BR
BHE - Z -+ A=+ HIFEHEK
8 TS KR B 18 49 326,000,000 78 T 12 A0 49
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CEERE S

(A) REVIEW OF 2023 RESULTS (Continued) (A) —E-=FEX£EDE@

On top of the recognition of non-cash impairment losses on
certain non-current assets mentioned above, the loss from
continuing operations of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 included the recognition of fair value losses on
financial assets at FVTPL of approximately HK$6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, as compared to the fair value
losses on financial assets at FVTPL of approximately HK$56
million recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Finance costs from continuing operations of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 increased by approximately
HK$28 million or 50% to approximately HK$84 million (2022:
approximately HK$56 million), of which approximately HK$41
million (2022: approximately HK$39 million) was the total interest
expense on unlisted long-term convertible bonds issued in June
2019 (the "2019 LCS") and March 2021 (the “2021 LCS"), and
approximately HK$37 million (2022: approximately HKS$13
million) was interest expenses on interest-bearing borrowings.

After the recognition of interest income, finance costs, non-
operating expenses, net and income tax, which included the
write down of deferred tax assets of approximately HK$23
million, the Group recorded a net loss from continuing
operations of approximately HK$548 million for the year ended

1 December 2023 (2022: approximately HK$623 million),
representing a decrease of net loss from continuing operations
of approximately 12%, as compared to the last year.

Loss from discontinued operation for the year ended 31
December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$42 million
(2022: approximately HK$262 million), due to the termination of
Pay TV operation with effect from 1 June 2023.

Loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 decreased by
approximately HK$297 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 34%, as compared to that of 2022. The decrease
in the loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
was mainly attributable to, among other things, (i) the decrease
in non-cash write-down of deferred tax assets and impairment
losses on certain non-current assets recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2023; and (ii) the decrease in fair value
losses on financial assets at FVTPL for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

AR E SR

(A) REVIEW OF 2023 RESULTS (Continued) (A) —E-=FEX£EDE@

Basic and diluted loss per share from continuing and
discontinued operations for the year ended 31 December 2023
was approximately HK8.3 cents (2022: approximately HK12.4
cents). Basic and diluted loss per share from continuing
operations for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately HK7.7 cents (2022: approximately HK8.7 cents).
Basic and diluted loss per share from discontinued operation for
the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately HK0.6
cents (2022: approximately HK3.7 cents).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, included in operating
expenses from continuing operations, impairment losses of
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$46 million,
right-of-use assets of approximately HK$4 million, programming
library of approximately HK$29 million and other related
intangible assets of approximately HK$3 million, were recognised
in relation to the cash-generating unit to which the remaining
assets of the Group are allocated. Management determined the
value in use of the cash-generating unit with the assistance of an
independent qualified professional valuer, which is measured
using the discounted cash flow projections. The cash flow
projections are based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of the Company. Cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using a long term growth rate. The
valuation method used was consistent with the requirements
prescribed by Hong Kong Accounting Standard (“HKAS") 36
“Impairment of Assets” and remained the same as that of last
year.

The key assumptions used in the cash flow projections included
forecast revenue at growth rates ranging from -9% to 19% (2022:
-25% to 18%) and forecast operating expenses at rates ranging
from -20% to -1% (2022: -13% to -2%) over the five-year period,
which are determined by considering both internal and external
factors relating to the businesses; long term growth rate of 2.5%
(2022: 2.5%) which is consistent with the forecast of the
businesses and the expected market development; and the pre-
tax discount rate of 16.34% (2022: 17.44%) which reflects specific
risks relating to the businesses. Changes in assumptions from
previous year's reflected management’s latest business plans
and business prospect in light of the latest market environment.

HE T -_ZF+-_BA=Z+—HLFEFEL
A&E%t&aiﬁmthgﬁﬁﬁ BEIE8483
BIN(ZEZZF 02481 - BHEZZT ==
FH+—RA=+— Etﬁf?f%%¥%Mtk
EARBEEBEBO7 7B (T = —F 487
B - BE_ZE-_=F+_A=+—HILEFE
ERIEREEEBNERERNREEEELN6H
W= 493780l) -

H=Ez— ?__¢+ A=+—HIEFE B3
AEBHRTEEESEMNReEE B ER
ABBEREEBSEBRANYE  BEREE
BB /B 18 49 46,000,000/8 7T - FREE ERESH
B #4,000,0008 T EREBEBEBELY
29,000,000/ T K A B EEREBBLN
3,000,000 87T c EREEEE LG ERE S MER
MBS TETReEEEMNNFEAEE  EF
}%E\EIEEEEE/”LE}E ElJ u+$ °© Iﬁimu%iﬁ E‘J%ﬁ/\
rArREE((EE)g(ESsg)IENRTF
HMBEE BALTHNREREER TS
BEXREE -FIEBNGEELTEAFEE BT
LR ([HFBGETER]) F36REERE]NR
TE - AREEFER -

BenemilhEAnNFTFEREBIEREFE
W&PE NF-0%ZFE19% (ZFE = —4F : -25%

Z£18%) FTE M TE R RIZEL BN T -20% E-1%
(_?__ Po13%E 2%) FFEMTER LR E
B hiEREEEERERN RN RINEZ
EE: REEREISW(ZTEZZF :25%) » #
¥BBEANTEHMBERE B URKR AT,
IE1634% (T -4 :1744%) - H iRz
HHEENETRR -8B EF—FEMRAL  BEA
FHRMEEERERTMIBSREG TS
BB REBNES -



i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2023

Management Discussion and Analysis

CEAEREY SR

(B) SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (B) 4 EBE& %

The principal activities of the Group comprise media and
telecommunications operations.

Media

The media segment includes operations related to the television
subscription business (terminated with effect from 1 June 2023),
domestic free television programme service, advertising,
television relay service, programme licensing, theatrical release
and other media related businesses.

Revenue from continuing operations derived from the media
segment for the year ended 31 December 2023 increased by
approximately HK$48 million to approximately HK$212 million
(2022: approximately HK$164 million), which was mainly due to
increased advertising revenue.

Operating expenses from continuing operations before
depreciation, amortisation of other intangible assets and
impairment losses incurred by the media segment for the year
ended 31 December 2023 increased to approximately HK$503
million (2022: approximately HK$315 million). As disclosed in
“Segment Information” in Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, the loss before depreciation,
amortisation of other intangible assets and impairment losses
from continuing operations of the media segment for the year
ended 31 December 2023 increased to approximately HK$291
million (2022: approximately HK$151 million), which was mainly
due to increase in operating expenses.
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(B) SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued) (B) 7o EER @)

Media (Continued)

The Group terminated the Pay TV operation with effect from 1
June 2023 upon the approval of application for the Licence
Termination, result to decrease in revenue and operating
expenses form discontinued operation for the year ended 31
December 2023. Revenue from discontinued operation of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$118 million as compared with year ended 31 December 2022
of approximately HK$332 million, which represented a decrease
of approximately HK$214 million or 64% as revenue from
discontinued operation for the year ended 31 December 2022
represented full year effect. The operating expenses from
discontinued operation decreased from approximately HK$595
million for year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
HK$160 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 which was
mainly due to the recognition of non-cash impairment losses on
property, plant and equipment, programming library, other
related intangible assets and contract acquisition cost in prior
year and operating expenses from discontinued operation for
the year ended 31 December 2022 represented full year effect.
Loss from discontinued operation decreased by approximately
HK$220 million to approximately HK$42 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: approximately HK$262 million).

Telecommunications

The telecommunications segment includes operations related to
broadband internet access services, portal operation, telephony
services, network leasing, network construction, mobile service
and mobile agency service as well as other telecommunications
related businesses.

Revenue derived from the telecommunications segment for the
year ended 31 December 2023 decreased by approximately
HKS$13 million to approximately HK$386 million (2022:
approximately HK$399 million).
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(B)

Q)

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued)
Telecommunications (Continued)

Operating expenses before depreciation, amortisation of other
intangible assets and impairment losses incurred by the
telecommunications segment for the year ended 31 December
2023 increased by approximately 10% to approximately HK$291
million (2022: approximately HK$264 million). As disclosed in
“Segment Information” in Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, the profit before depreciation,
amortisation of other intangible assets and impairment losses
from the telecommunications segment for the year ended 31
December 2023 decreased by approximately 30% to
approximately HK$95 million (2022: approximately HK$135
million), which was mainly due to the increase in operating
expenses and decrease in revenue.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and bank balances
and restricted bank balances of approximately HK$29 million and
HKS$12 million, respectively as compared to approximately HK$42
million and HK$17 million, respectively as at 31 December 2022.
The decrease in cash and bank balances was mainly due to the
net cash used in operations and investing activities and
offsetting with the net cash from financing activities. The cash
and bank balances and restricted bank balances of the Group as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong Dollar ("HKS"). The net gearing ratio, measured in terms of
the total interest-bearing borrowings and convertible bonds less
cash and bank balances and restricted bank balances divided by
total deficit, was a negative of approximately 118% (31
December 2022: a negative of approximately 146%). As at 31
December 2023, the Group recorded total assets of
approximately HK$945 million which were financed by total
liabilities of approximately HK$2,274 million offsetting with the
total deficit of approximately HK$1,329 million. As at 31
December 2022, the Group recorded total assets of
approximately HK$879 million which were financed by total
liabilities of approximately HK$1,619 million and total deficit of
approximately HK$740 million. The increase in total deficit was
attributable to the loss for the year.

Consolidated net liability value of the Group as at 31 December
2023 was approximately HK$1,329 million, while the Group
recorded a consolidated net liability value of approximately
HK$740 million as at 31 December 2022.
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(C) LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND REES HMEERRENER &

Q)

CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)

The carrying amount of interest-bearing borrowings
denominated in HKS as at 31 December 2023 was approximately
HKS$1,041 million (31 December 2022: approximately HK$591
million), in which the bank loan carries interest at variable rates
and was repayable on demand; and the loans from Celestial
Pioneer Limited (a company holding 72.0% of the total number
of issued shares of Forever Top (Asia) Limited (“Forever Top”), a
substantial shareholder holding 43.2% shareholding of the
Company, and is wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry
(“Dr. Cheng"), the Director) carry interest at fixed rates ranging
from 2.5% to 6% per annum and with a term of three years from
the date of respective loan agreements. As at 31 December 2023
and 31 December 2022, the Group has utilised all committed
borrowing facilities.

The 2019 LCS

On 4 June 2019, the issuance of the 2019 LCS with the principal
amount of HK$568 million by the Company to Forever Top, the
controlling shareholder of the Company was completed. The
2019 LCS would be convertible into 4,544,000,000 new ordinary
shares of the Company (the “Share(s)") upon full conversion of
the 2019 LCS based on the initial conversion price (the
“Conversion Price”) of HK$0.125 per conversion share and the
coupon rate of the 2019 LCS is 2.0% per annum and payable
quarterly. Details of the 2019 LCS are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 25 January 2019 and 4
June 2019 and the circular of the Company dated 8 April 2019
(the “2019 Circular”). During the year ended 31 December 2023,
there had not been any conversion of the 2019 LCS.

The carrying amount of liability component of the 2019 LCS
denominated in HKS as at 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$426 million (31 December 2022: approximately HK$405
million). Details of the 2019 LCS were set out in “Convertible
Bonds” in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.

The net proceeds raised from the issuance of the 2019 LCS have
all been utilised as at 31 December 2020 according to the
intended use of proceeds as disclosed in the 2019 Circular.
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(C) LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND Q) REBEL MBEERREARLERE @

CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)
The 2021 LCS

On 31 March 2021, the issuance of the 2021 LCS with the
principal amount of HK$200 million by the Company to Forever
Top was completed. The 2021 LCS would be convertible into
2,941,176,470 new Shares upon full conversion of the 2021 LCS
based on the initial conversion price of HK$0.068 per conversion
share and the coupon rate of the 2021 LCS is 2.0% per annum
and payable quarterly. The Company may at any time on or after
the date of issue of the 2021 LCS by giving not less than 10
business days’ written notice to the holder(s) of the 2021 LCS to
redeem all or part of the 2021 LCS at the outstanding principal
amount of the 2021 LCS together with all accrued but unpaid
interest. Details of the 2021 LCS are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 27 January 2021 and 31
March 2021 and the circular of the Company dated 2 March
2021 (the “2021 Circular”). During the year ended 31 December
2023, there had not been any conversion or redemption of the
2021 LCS.

The carrying amount liability component and redemption option
of the 2021 LCS denominated in HKS as at 31 December 2023
was approximately HK$146 million (31 December 2022:
approximately HK$141 million) and approximately HKS$34 million
(2022: approximately HK$37 million) respectively. Details of the
2021 LCS were set out in “Convertible Bonds” in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

The net proceeds raised from the issuance of the 2021 LCS have
all been utilised as at 31 December 2022 according to the
intended use of proceeds as disclosed in the 2021 Circular.

The Group takes a centralised approach to the Group's funding
and treasury management as well as optimisation of the funding
cost-efficiency. The management (i) strives to maintain a
balanced debt and capital financing structure; (ii) ensures secure
and optimum return on the investment of surplus funds within
an agreed risk profile; (iii) oversees the treasury related financial
risks, including but not limited to interest rate risk, currency risk,
liquidity risk and credit risk; (iv) strives to diversify source of
funding and maintain a balanced maturity profile; and (v)
maintains an appropriate control environment to protect the
financial return under the fluidity financial market conditions.
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Q)

(D)

(E)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)

The 2021 LCS (Continued)

The Group's assets and liabilities are mainly denominated in HK$
and United States Dollars ("USS$") and it earns its revenue and
incurs costs and expenses mainly in HKS and USS$. As HKS is
pegged to USS, the Group does not expect any significant
foreign currency exposure arising from the fluctuation of the
USS/HKS or HKS/USS exchange rates.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, capital expenditure
on property, plant and equipment amounted to approximately
HKS67 million (2022: approximately HK$114 million), the
additions to right-of-use assets were approximately HK$201
million (2022: approximately HK$12 million), the additions to
programming library were approximately HK$43 million (2022:
approximately HK$47 million) and the additions to other
intangible assets were approximately HKS3 million (2022:
HKSNil).

The Group financed its operations generally with internally
generated cash flows and loans from the controlling shareholder
of Forever Top.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities.

GUARANTEES

As at 31 December 2023, a corporate guarantee of HK$295
million (2022: HK$400 million) had been provided by the
Company to a bank in respect of the facility of borrowing up to
HK$295 million (2022: HK$400 million) to a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, of which HK$295 million (2022:
HKS$295 million) was utilised by the wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had made arrangements
with a bank to provide two separate performance bonds to the
counterparties amounting to approximately HK$35 million (2022:
approximately HK$40 million), of which approximately HKS5
million (2022: approximately HK$10 million) was secured by bank
deposits. The performance bonds are to guarantee in favour of
the counterparties the Group's performance in fulfilling the
obligations under a contract and the requirements as set out in
the licence issued by a regulatory body.
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(F)

(G)

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group had 1,070 full-time employees as at 31 December
2023 (31 December 2022: 1,151). Total salaries and related costs
before capitalisation and incurred for the year ended 31
December 2023 amounted to approximately HK$409 million (for
the year ended 31 December 2022: approximately HK$372
million). The remuneration of the Directors and the employees of
the Group is determined with reference to their qualifications,
experience, duties and responsibilities with the Group, as well as
the Group's performance and the prevailing market conditions.
Besides, the Group regularly provides training courses for the
employees of the Group to meet their needs.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

In view of the rapidly changing media landscape in Hong Kong,
and fierce competition among global operations related to the
Pay TV content providers and Pay TV operators, Hong Kong
Cable Television Limited ("HKC") has submitted an application for
the Licence Termination to the Government and has been
granted approval on 14 February 2023. The Group has
terminated the Pay TV operation with effect from 1 June 2023.

Although the Group has terminated the Pay TV operation with
effect from 1 June 2023, the Group recorded a slight
improvement on advertising revenue.

For broadband services, the number of customers as at 31
December 2023 decreased as compared to that as at 31
December 2022, due to keen market competition. In view of
above, the Group will continue to expand the network coverage
and upgrade of the Group's network to provide high speed
Gigabit-capable Passive Optical Network (“GPON") services to
enhance the Group's competitiveness.
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(H) CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

)]

)

(K)

As at 31 December 2023, restricted bank balances of
approximately HK$12 million (31 December 2022: approximately
HKS$17 million) were made by the Group to secure certain
banking facilities granted to the Group.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
AND SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associated companies and joint ventures or significant
investments of the Group, which would have been required to
be disclosed under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”), for the year ended 31 December 2023.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group will continue to invest in property, plant and
equipment and programming library as required by its business
operations, and explore the market and identify any business
opportunities which will be beneficial to its growth and
development, enhance its profitability, and strive for better
return to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

The Group's ongoing capital expenditure will be funded by
internal cash flows generated from operations and the available
credit facilities.

OUTLOOK

The Group terminated its Pay TV operation in 2023 and
transitioned to free TV and omnimedia operations. The year of
2024 will be an important year after the transformation of the
media business. In view of the rapidly changing landscape of the
media market in Hong Kong, it is imperative to develop branded
content and design multi-screen interactive forms to reach
audiences and users. Therefore, the Group will integrate social
media platforms, mobile applications, the MTR In-train TV, and
physical promotional events to create marketing solutions that
enhance customer engagement and consumption. In order to
promote the development of programme content and reinforce
its production capabilities, the Group will continue to devise
innovative content marketing strategies and recruit producers
with diverse styles and skill sets. The Group anticipates that the
transformation of local economic activities and inbound tourism
will have a positive impact on the quality of content and the
flexibility of operators in the advertising market in 2024.
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(K) OUTLOOK (Continued) (K) A& (@)

Media

Regarding programme content, the Group remains dedicated to
producing innovative shows that reflects current social changes
and the collective feelings of audiences. This includes shows like
“Hints of Postnatal Care” (A& F B ), which delves deeply into
the postnatal recovery of new mothers after the pandemic, and
"Make it a better place 2" (& /& 2= @ 2k & T 2), which caters to
the excitement of Hong Kong people about purchasing homes
and their aspiration to transform these spaces into cozy and
inviting homes. The Group is also preparing to launch self-
produced drama series in 2024, aiming to provide viewers with
more diversified programmes choices.

To cater to the Hong Kong people who are busy with
consumption, HOY TV is seeking innovative approaches to
produce travel and food programmes, such as “UK, OK" ( 2 B 32
2. 4F) which explores hidden gems in Britain, “Along with the
Goddesses” (22 ## [F] 77) where Taiwan's top ten popular
goddesses serve as guides, and “Undercover Service Squad” (FA
I AR 7% &) which challenges the services standard offered by
Hong Kong restaurants and attractions with the participation of
artists and guests. Moreover, to enhance the popularity and
topicality of these programmes, the Group has invited several

renowned and thematic artists to host the shows, including
Natalie Tong Sze Wing, Snow Suen Wai Suet, Ashley Chu Chi Yin,
Maisy Ma, Mizuki Lin (738 ) and Lisa Lin (#85%).
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Bl 5 (@)

(K) OUTLOOK (cContinued) (K)

Media (Continued)

Building upon the success of last year's broadcast of the Asian
Games, the Group will continue its collaboration with local
audiences to select a range of thrilling international events
featuring Hong Kong athletes to support the Hong Kong team in
2024. These include the exclusive coverage of events such as the
“AFC Asian Cup” (22 28 /& 3K &), the “2024 World Aquatics
Championships” (2024 t 557 7k #81F 2 ), the “AFC Champions
League” (28 78 & /& BK &), and the “2025 FIBA Asia Cup
Qualification Match” (2025 25 i 7 € Bk 2] & 1§ &). Together
with other international sports events, HOY TV maximises the
advantages of various media platforms to deliver high-quality
sports broadcasting to local audiences, and to elevate local
athletes and the sports community into the spotlight, and
facilitate engagement with audiences, witnessing the
development of sports in Hong Kong.

To seize the opportunities arising from the development of the
Guangdong-Hong Kong Greater Bay Area, the Group has
launched its self-produced programmes. These include “Map of
Shenzhen” (& 3l # B ) which caters to the consumption
preferences of Hong Kong residents venturing Shenzhen, “Let’s
Feast GBA" (B # COOK 3 /& [& 38 &) which focuses on the
cuisines in the Greater Bay Area, and “Railway Traveler” (—{E A
#8 38 77) which introduces tourist destinations along Mainland
China’s high-speed railway. Furthermore, the Group has
established a strategic partnership with China Guangdong Radio
and Television to jointly produce the Cantonese Spring Festival
Gala programme (5E 1 /& [& BRZ2 £F ) in 2024. This collaboration
enhances the Group’s presence in the Greater Bay Area. The
Group will continue to develop programmes with distinct Hong
Kong characteristics to better integrate into the Greater Bay Area
market. Additionally, the Group will pursue deeper and more
comprehensive cooperation with Mainland media and platforms
to attract more business partners and advertisers, thereby
fostering business growth. In addition to the Greater Bay Area
market, the Group will explore partnerships with platforms in
Malaysia, Singapore, the United States, Canada, and other
regions to tap into a broader film and television market.
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(K) OUTLOOK (Continued) (K) A& (@)

Media (Continued)

HOY 78 will persist in improving the production of local news
and global finance content to capture the business potential in
the banking and finance sector. In January 2024, the Group has
introduced an exclusive interview section “Inno Navigator” (%}
B ZB ) in programme “Inno Action” (% - 8l 7k 7)), which
engaged in discussions with ten influential guests from the
science and technology sector regarding the progress of science
and technology innovation in Hong Kong and the associated
industry policies. “City Focus” (— #% 1 &), produced by the
i-CABLE News team, is one of the highest-rated programmes at
HOY TV. In the future, it will be broadcasted from a new studio
equipped with AR (Augmented Reality) technology, allowing
closer engagement with the public on current social issues and
providing comprehensive analysis on diverse facets of people’s
livelihoods.

The Group will continue to strengthen its free-to-air TV channels,
digital media platforms and advertising businesses following its
successful expansion into the multimedia sector in 2023 in
response to the changing operating environment. With the rapid
advancements in 5G wireless networks and the increasing
popularity of streaming content on smartphones, the Group will
focus on improving the functionality of its mobile applications,
including “HOY" and “i-CABLE News" as well as mobile webpages,
to provide viewers with a more convenient and high-quality
digital experience. Additionally, the Group will work on
enhancing the flow and quality of film streaming on digital
platform, while continuously innovating to provide a wider
range of appealing content and advertising options to its
audience, which will contribute to the expansion of the
company’s business operations.

Furthermore, following the optimisation of the HOY Mobile App,
a new targeted sales function is added, which is expected to
bring revenue growth to the Group. By offering value-added
integrated marketing solutions and bundling multi-platform
media services, more business opportunities will be seized in
2024 and beyond.
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(K) OUTLOOK (Continued) (K)

Media (Continued)

Cable TV 18 Channel (B # 18 &) remains committed to
delivering a comprehensive lineup of horse racing programmes
to cater to the vast number of horse racing enthusiasts. The
channel will continue to enhance the mobile application “Racing
GPS" (£ 55 GPS) while adhering to the principles of originality,
innovation, and dedication. Cable TV 18 Channel (B 4218 &)
aims to provide a greater variety of thrilling and top-notch horse
racing information, especially for young horse racing fans,
offering them professional horse racing analysis from different
perspectives and maintain a leading position in the horse racing
channel, so as to attract more new users.

The recovery of economic activities and the increase in inbound
tourism in the Greater Bay Area will directly benefit the
advertising market in 2024. The convenience of travel on the
MTR East Rail Line will attract more cross-boundary travelers,
creating new business opportunities for both existing and new
advertisers. To diversify content and attract advertisers, the
Group plans to introduce additional lifestyle and entertainment
content on the MTR In-train TV, with aims to associate more
product categories with the content, thereby increasing the
placement of advertisements and generating higher revenue.
Moreover, the Group will launch new initiatives to offer
advertisers comprehensive and customised advertising
campaigns through bundled sales of MTR carriage
advertisements and in-app advertising positions, resulting in
additional revenue streams. Additionally, the introduction of
targeted sales as a new advertising feature on the MTR mobile
application is expected to generate interest from potential
advertisers and drive new business revenue.

The Group will continue to implement innovative sales
strategies, offer content sponsorship and integrate marketing
solutions to diversify the product portfolio. The advertising sales
team of the Group will continue to deliver personalised
advertising content, customised mini programmes, and cross-
platform bundled sales to seize more business opportunities.
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(K) OUTLOOK (Continued) (K) A& (@)

Telecommunications

The Group will continue to invest in the expansion of network
backbone coverage and core network capacity. The objective is
to meet the growing demands of both residential and
commercial markets and position the Group for future growth.
To address the rising demand for data traffic and services, the
Group will strive to expand its network infrastructure to provide
stronger network support and higher capacity.

Through investments in extending network backbone coverage,
the Group aims to achieve wider service coverage and enhance
connectivity, resulting in higher speeds and a more reliable
network experience. Simultaneously, expanding the capacity of
the core network will improve network throughput and
processing capabilities, catering to the increasing demand for
data transmission while ensuring network stability and reliability.

The objectives of these investments and endeavors are to
facilitate the business expansion of the Group and address
evolving market requirements. By expanding network
capabilities and establishing a stronger infrastructure, the Group
can offer customers a wider range of service options, cater to the
diverse needs of various industries and users, and maintain a
competitive edge.

The Group will persist in pursuing potential collaborations with
other business partners for network cooperation. Additionally, it
will enhance its existing partnership with CMHK, a long-term
strategic partner, encompassing areas such as content provision,
network consultation, and infrastructure layout. Furthermore, the
Group will leverage its network expertise and capabilities to
support CMHK in the design, planning, and installation of
infrastructure projects in Hong Kong.

The Group has a strong belief that its telecommunications
business will continue to operate efficiently and yield satisfactory
outcomes. Moreover, the Group is eager to explore additional
business prospects within the telecommunications sector,
aiming to bring new impetus to the Group's business portfolio
and enhance overall performance growth.
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(K)

(L)

(M)

OUTLOOK (Continued)
Telecommunications (Continued)

The Group has been focusing on formulating and implementing
an organisational restructuring which included, among other
things, (i) identifying cost-saving initiatives through automation
and process re-engineering; (ii) promoting more locally
produced high quality content and introducing new overseas
contents; (iii) exploring new television content co-operation
models and diversifor free television and other digital media
platforms in view of the increasing competition from alternative
media platforms; and (iv) performing strategic reviews on
possible restructuring of the Group to enhance business
performance and management efficiency, to promote synergies,
and to improve cost efficiency and profitability, and on the
financial performance of the Group. As part of a strategic review,
the Group has been and will continue to prudently evaluate any
potential partnerships.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

1. On 4 January 2024, HKC as the borrower, entered into a
loan agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the
lender, pursuant to which, HKC obtained an unsecured
loan with a principal amount of HK$80,000,000 for a term
of 3 years from the date of the said loan agreement, with
an interest rate of 6.0% per annum.

2. On 6 March 2024, HKC as the borrower, entered into a loan
agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender,
pursuant to which, HKC obtained an unsecured loan with
a principal amount of HK$90,000,000 for a term of 3 years
from the date of the said loan agreement, with an interest
rate of 6.0% per annum.

Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have any material
events affecting the Group's financial performance and/or
financial position significantly that have occurred since the end
of the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no
incidence of non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations of the place in which the Group operates that has a
significant impact on the business operations of the Group.
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(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(B)

(@)

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices, and procedures and to
complying with the statutory and regulatory requirements with
an aim to maximising the Shareholders’ values and interests as
well as enhancing the stakeholders’ transparency and
accountability. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company had applied the principles of good corporate
governance and complied with all applicable code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”") as set out in
Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules, with the exception of the
deviation as set out under section (C) below.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. The Company, having
made specific enquiries of all the Directors, was not aware of any
non-compliance with the required standard set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company has also applied the principles of the Model Code
for securities transactions to the employees of the Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and management of
the Group as well as promoting the success of the Group with
the objective of acting for the best of the interests of the Group
and the Shareholders as a whole by directing and supervising its
affairs in a responsible and effective manner. The key
responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the overall
strategies of the Group, monitoring the performance of the
management, and ensuring the duties delegated to respective
board committees of the Company are effectively performed.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Composition of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
ten Directors, of whom four are executive Directors, two
are non-executive Directors and four are independent
non-executive Directors. The composition of the Board is
set out below:

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
(Chairman, Non-executive Director)
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick
(Vice-chairman, Executive Director)
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng
(Executive Director)
Mr. TO Chi Hak (Notes (i) and (i)
(Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director)
Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis (Note (i)
(Executive Director)
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Non-executive Director)
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey
(Independent non-executive Director)
Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman
(Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger
(Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman
(Independent non-executive Director)

Notes:

(i) Each of Mr. TO Chi Hak and Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis has been appointed
as an Executive Director with effect from 3 May 2023.

(i) Mr. TO Chi Hak has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer
with effect from 3 June 2023.

For details of the above, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 2 May 2023.

Mr. TO Chi Hak and Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis, who have been
appointed as the Executive Directors during the year
ended 31 December 2023, had obtained the legal advice
referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 10 May
2023, and each of Mr. TO Chi Hak and Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis
has confirmed he understood his obligations as a director
of the Company.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Composition of the Board (Continued)

Biographical information of the Directors and the
relationship among the members of the Board are set out
in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors,
Senior Management and Company Secretary” on pages
133 to 143 of this annual report. Each Director has been
appointed on the strength of his/her calibre, experience
and stature, and his/her potential to contribute to the
proper guidance of the Group and its businesses.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers that all the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

The Company has established effective mechanisms to
ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board including but not limited to, giving the Directors
access to independent professional advice to discharge
his/her duties in appropriate circumstances. Such
independent views mechanisms in place are subject to

annual review by the Board.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Operation of the Board

The Company is headed by an effective Board which
makes decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company. The management of the Group (the
“Management”) has closely monitored changes to
regulations that affect its corporate affairs and businesses,
and changes to accounting standards, and adopted
appropriate reporting format in its interim report, annual
report and other related documents to present a balanced,
clear and comprehensible assessment of the Group's
performance, position and prospects. Where these
changes are pertinent to the Company or Directors’
disclosure obligations, the Directors are either briefed
during Board meetings or issued with regular updates and
materials to keep them abreast of their responsibilities and
of the conduct, business activities and development of the
Group. The Company has ensured that the Directors can
participate in Board meetings in a meaningful and
effective manner. The Company has also provided
accurate, clear, complete and reliable information in a
timely manner to the Directors to enable them to make an
informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as the Directors.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the
Board and the Management. Decisions on important
matters are specifically reserved to the Board while
decisions on the Group's general operations are delegated
to the Management. Important matters include those
affecting the Group's strategic policies, major investment
and funding decisions and major commitments relating to
the Group's operations.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined
to be material, the matter should be dealt with by a
physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution.
Independent non-executive Directors who, and whose
close associates (as defined under the Listing Rules), have
no material interest in the transaction should be present
at that Board meeting.
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued) Q) E=E®W

ll. Number of Board/general meetings and n. B8 BRASGEYHERE

Directors’ attendance EHESRARY
The Board has a balance of skills and experience and a EEAEYENRETNER  MEFH
balanced composition of executive and non-executive TEFHEINTES 2HENREEE -
Directors with diversity of skills and experience appropriate to MESELHENFEERCERREANEEER
the requirements of the Group’s business. Seven Board 2Bk -BE_Z-_=Z#+_-_A=+—H
meetings of the Company were held during the financial year IEMBEE ARAREBITLRAESZSS
ended 31 December 2023. Notice of not less than 14 days HOEHESTREHESS SR ETYD
was given to all the Directors for the reqular Board meetings RI4B@EM URREREESRESTE S
and the Directors were given an opportunity to include HERELIEEE EF 2 HFELEHT
matters in the agenda for the regular Board meetings. The m

attendance records of the Directors are set out below:

Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)

HEeBENE SEEA
Annual
Board General General
Meetings Meeting Meetings
Directors EZgeE RREAFAE BRAE
Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry BREET

(Chairman, Non-executive Director) () FHTEE) 6/7 01 0/2
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU (former Vice-chairman, AHE2EMES (HELE -

Non-executive Director) (Note (j) FHTEE) (Hiiz) 33 -/- /-
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick BRERE

(Vice-chairman, Executive Director) (B1FfE HITEE) 717 11 172
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng FEBRE

(Executive Director) (BHTEZE) 717 N 22
Mr. TO Chi Hak (Chief Executive Officer, M REE(TRBHFNTEE)

Executive Director) (Notes (i) and (iv)) (BZE ) R (i) 4/4 N 22
Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis (Executive Director) (Note (i) BREBL (HTEE) (Wit) 4/4 /1 b))
Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU B S A

(Non-executive Director) (Note (iif) (FE#TEE) (B3 i) 23 /- /-
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard HrrErE

(Non-executive Director) (Note (i) (FEBTTEE) (W7t (i) 33 /- -
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Non-executive Director) RIEKZ T (FHTESE) 3/7 0/1 072
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey M Tt

(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) 717 11 22
Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman L4 E S 6

(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHITEE) 717 N 22
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger REREE

(Independent non-executive Director) (B HHTEE) 6/7 0N 12
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman HERLE

(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) 717 11 22
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EEESHRE

(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Number of Board/general meetings and
Directors’ attendance (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU has resigned as a non-executive Director
and a Vice-chairman with effect from 3 May 2023.

(i) Fach of Mr. TO Chi Hak and Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis has been appointed

as an Executive Director with effect from 3 May 2023.

(iii) Each of Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU and Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard
has resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 3 May
2023.

(iv) Mr. TO Chi Hak has been appointed as Chief Executive Officer with
effect from 3 June 2023.

The external auditor attended the annual general meeting
of the Company on 16 June 2023 (the "AGM") to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation
and content of the independent auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence and the
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) also held a
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors
without the presence of other Directors during the year.

The Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company (the “Articles”) and the Listing
Rules. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company. Any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office until the next following general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at such
meeting.

ERBEBEANBRIA ZZBE-=ZFFH
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Number of Board/general meetings and
Directors’ attendance (Continued)

Each Director (including non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years and renewable automatically for successive
terms of three years upon expiry of the then current term
of the appointment, unless terminated in accordance with
the terms of his/her letter of appointment. They are also
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles and the Listing Rules.

Code Provision C.1.6 of Part 2 of the CG Code stipulates
that independent non-executive directors and other non-
executive directors, as equal board members, should give
the board and any committees on which they serve the
benefit of their skills, expertise and varied backgrounds
and qualifications through regular attendance and active
participation. Generally, they should also attend general
meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding
of the views of shareholders. Also, Code Provision F.2.2 of
Part 2 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman of the
board should attend the annual general meeting.

Dr. Cheng (the chairman of the Board and a non-executive
Director), Ms. Ng Yuk Mui Jessica (a non-executive
Director) and Mr. Luk Koon Hoo, Roger (an independent
non-executive Director) were unable to attend the AGM
and the general meeting of the Company held on 16 June
2023 respectively as each of Dr. Cheng, Ms. Ng Yuk Mui
Jessica and Mr. Luk Koon Hoo, Roger had other
engagements at the time of such meetings. Dr. Cheng, Mr.
Tsang On Yip, Patrick (the vice-chairman of the Board (the
"Vice-chairman”) and an executive Director) and Ms. Ng
Yuk Mui Jessica were unable to attend the general
meeting of the Company held on 28 September 2023 as
each of Dr. Cheng, Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick and Ms. Ng
Yuk Mui Jessica had other engagements at the time of
such meeting. In the absence of the chairman of the
Board, Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick, the Vice-chairman and an
executive Director, acted as the chairman of the AGM, and
together with other Directors present at the AGM, were
sufficiently knowledgeable and capable to address any
questions at the AGM, ensuring an effective
communication with the Shareholders.

(=540 )
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(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Iv.

Director’s Induction and Continuous
Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors will be provided with induction
training. Each of them shall receive the information on the
duties and responsibilities of directors under statutory
regulations and the Listing Rules, and other information
on corporate governance matters. The newly appointed
Directors shall meet the fellow Directors and the
Management to ensure they have an understanding on
the Group's operations and business. They shall also
receive materials relating to the operations and business
of the Group.

The Company will arrange for Directors to attend training
sessions and forums which place emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of a listed company director, as well
as the development of regulatory updates and issues. The
Company will also provide the Directors with the latest
development of the Listing Rules, and the relevant laws,
rules and regulations relating to the Director’s duties and
responsibilities. All Directors had provided their training
records to the Company for the financial year ended 31
December 2023 and the training records are maintained
by the Company.

ERBEBEANBRIA ZZBE-=ZFFH
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Iv. EEZABRBESEEER @

(C) BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

IV. Director’s Induction and Continuous
Professional Development (Continued)

According to the records of training maintained by the
Company, all the current Directors had, during the
financial year under review, pursued continuous
professional development and relevant details are set out
below:

RIFAR R R FTRTF 0945 IR0 8% - OB ER RS
BEEAMABREESFEA2EFETE
R LBEBERI AN T

Type of continuous professional
development
RESXEREY

Attending
Reading journals,  seminars and/or

updates and conferences

articles and/or and/or forums

materials, etc.  and/or E-training

FMEST - &3 HEMRHER/

B XER/B REBR/RRE

Directors ENEE  R/BHBLEN

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
(Chairman, Non-executive Director)
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick (Vice-chairman,
Executive Director)

BxmEt
(EF - HHITEF)
BRERE(BIZRE  HITEE)

Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng FEELE
(Executive Director) (Bl77TEE) v
Mr. TO Chi Hak (Chief Executive Officer, M2 R FEE (TTHAER  HITEE)
Executive Director) (Notes (i) and (ii)) (BteE ) & (i) 4
Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis (Executive Director) (Note () EREEL (HTEE) (HE0) 4
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Non-executive Director) RBKRZ T (F#HT7EF)
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey e ke
(Independent non-executive Director) (BHHNTEE) 4
Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman TR
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) -
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger EERLE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) 4
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman HERLE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHNTEE) -
Notes: Hist -
(i) Each of Mr. TO Chi Hak and Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis has been appointed (i) MR tEREERBELEBERZERNT
as an Executive Director with effect from 3 May 2023. BEF g -—FRAZHAEEXK-
(ii) Mr. TO Chi Hak has been appointed as Chief Executive Officer with (i) M2 LB EEARITRESR E-F ==

effect from 3 June 2023. FENHZARBER -
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EXRELGRSE

(D) CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(E)

Mr. WONG See Yuen used to serve as the chief executive officer
of the Company until his resignation with effect from 3 June
2023.0n 3 June 2023, Mr. TO Chi Hak was appointed as the chief
executive officer of the Company. For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 2 May 2023. Mr. TO Chi Hak is
responsible for developing strategies, executing strategies as
agreed by the Board and the general operations of the Group.

Dr. Cheng is the Chairman during the year. Dr. Cheng provides
leadership to the Board and is primarily responsible for
monitoring the Board's efficiency.

The Board also believes that the balance of power and authority
is adequately ensured by the operations of the Board which
comprises experienced and high-calibre individuals.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Under the Articles and the Listing Rules, all Directors are subject
to retirement at an annual general meeting of the Company at
least once every three years and are subject to re-election. The
Board may from time to time appoint a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any such new
Director shall hold office until the next following general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at such meeting.

The re-election of each of the independent non-executive
Directors who has served on the Board for more than nine years
is subject to (i) a separate resolution to be approved by
Shareholders at the relevant annual general meeting of the
Company; and (ii) further information being given to the
Shareholders together with the notice of meeting regarding the
reasons why the Board believes the relevant Director is still
independent and should be re-elected.

Appropriate liability insurance for the Directors has been
arranged for indemnifying their liabilities arising out of corporate
activities.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES

)

Audit Committee

The Company has set up the audit committee of the
Company (the "AC") with majority of the members being
independent non-executive Directors. As at the date of
this annual report, the AC comprises Mr. LUK Koon Hoo,
Roger (an independent non-executive Director and the
chairman of the AC), Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman (an
independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Tang Sing
Ming Sherman (an independent non-executive Director).

No member of the AC is a former partner of the existing
audit firm of the Company during the period of two years
after he ceases to be a partner of the audit firm. All AC
members have sufficient experience in reviewing audited
financial statements as aided by the auditor of the Group
whenever required. In addition, at least one of the
member of the AC has the appropriate professional
qualifications or experience in financial matters as required
under the Listing Rules.

Two AC meetings were held during the financial year
ended 31 December 2023. Attendance records of the AC
members are set out below:

(F) EXZEE

)

BRERS
ARRAERIADFABRELG (BRE
B®))  REBANS RBIFNITES -
RAEHRAS BREETHERT AL
(B FNTEERBEREAGIR)  #
BARHE B ERTES) RSERLE

(B IEMITESR) MK -

BERFEEFRARARENZEAF
AIEABARBEZZBRARAEAER
EAtMERER - HEEZZEEKE -
E2HEZZEENBEEEHEERYT
ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ VHEFEZEHA
SEOZBERE - I BREEEE
PR ERA LHRAMERKEE D
EXERANU BT mAEER -

HE_ZT-=F+-A=+—HIEHHF
r %ﬁia@%ﬁﬂﬁﬁl/\am’ﬁg\ﬁ@
HER BT

Attendance/

Number of

Meetings

HEERW

Committee Members Y GEEE

Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger (Chairman) BEE A (£E) 2/2

Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman (Note (i) FARE RS (M2 ) 1

Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard (Note (i) FLEEE S A (AT e Gi) 0/1

Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman mERREA 2/2
Notes: Mt -

(i) Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman has been appointed as a member of
the AC with effect from 3 May 2023.

(i) Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard has ceased to act as a member of the
AC upon his resignation as a non-executive Director with effect
from 3 May 2023.

() HEAHFCEZTAEREZEEKE A=
FEo=FRHA=HBEN-

(i) BZFEZ=FAAZHE LEELELEFTF
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Corporate Governance Report

EEESHRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

)

(i)

The terms of reference of the AC, which are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company, are aligned with the provisions set out in
the CG Code and the recommendations set out in
“A Guide for Effective Audit Committees” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Given below are the main duties of
the AC:

(A) Relationship with the Company’s
external auditor

(@)  to be primarily responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of their resignation
or dismissal;

(b)  to review and monitor the external
auditor's independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable
standards. The AC should discuss with
the auditor the nature and scope of the
audit and reporting obligations before
the audit commences; and

() to develop and implement policy
on engaging an external auditor to
provide non-audit services. For this
purpose, “external auditor” includes any
entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with the
audit firm or any entity that a reasonable
and informed third party knowing all
relevant information would reasonably
conclude to be part of the audit firm
nationally or internationally. The AC
should report to the Board, identifying
and making recommendations on any
matters where action or improvement is
needed.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
() Audit Committee (Continued)

(i) (Continued)

(B) Review of financial information of the

Company

(@ to monitor integrity of financial
statements of the Company and the
Company's annual report and accounts,
half-year report and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and to
review significant financial reporting

judgements contained in them. In
reviewing these reports before
submission to the Board, the AC should
focus particularly on:

(0

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(Vi)

any changes in accounting
policies and practices;

major judgmental areas;

significant adjustments resulting

from audit;

the going concern assumptions
and any qualifications;

compliance with accounting
standards; and

compliance with the Listing
Rules and legal requirements in
relation to financial reporting.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
() Audit Committee (Continued)
(i) (Continued)

(B)

(@)

Review of financial information of the
Company (Continued)

(b)  regarding (B)(a) above:

(i) the AC should liaise with the
Board and senior management
and must meet, at least twice a
year, with the Company’s
external auditor; and

(i) the AC should consider any
significant or unusual items that
are, or may need to be, reflected
in the report and accounts, it
should give due consideration to
any matters that have been
raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function,
or for compliance function or
auditors.

Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system, and risk
management and internal control
systems

(@ to review the Company’s risk
management and internal control
systems covering all controls; including
financial, operational and compliance
controls;
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

)

(

)

(Continued)

(@)

Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system, and risk
management and internal control
systems (Continued)

(b)

to discuss the risk management and
internal control systems with
management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to
have effective systems. This discussion
should include the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and
budgets of the Company’s accounting,
internal audit, financial reporting
functions and the Company’s ESG
performance and reporting;

to consider major investigation findings
on risk management and internal
control matters as delegated by the
Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these
findings and review the statements
concerning risk management and
internal control systems to be included
in the annual report;

to ensure co-ordination between the
internal audit function and external
auditor, to review and approve the
annual internal audit plan, to ensure
that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the
Company for it to carry out an analysis
and independent appraisal of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company'’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control
systems, and to review and monitor the
effectiveness of the internal audit
function;
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

)

(

)

(Continued)

(@)

Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system, and risk
management and internal control
systems (Continued)

(e)

to review the Group’s financial and
accounting policies and practices;

to review the external auditor’s
management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to
management about accounting
records, financial accounts or systems
of control and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a
timely response to the issues raised in
the external auditor’'s management
letter;

to report to the Board on the matters in
the code provisions as set out in the
Listing Rules;

to establish procedures for (i) the
receipt, retention, and treatment of
complaints received by the Company
regarding accounting, internal
accounting controls, or auditing
matters; and (ii) the confidential,
anonymous submission by employees
of the Company of concerns regarding
questionable accounting or auditing
matters;
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) (F)
() Audit Committee (Continued)
(i) (Continued)

(@)

(D)

Oversight of the Company’s financial
reporting system, and risk
management and internal control
systems (Continued)

() to review arrangements employees of
the Company can use, in confidence, to
raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters. The
AC should ensure that proper
arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these
matters and for appropriate follow-up
action;

(k) to act as the key representative body
for overseeing the Company’s relations
with the external auditor; and

() to consider other topics, as defined by
the Board.

Review and reassessment of these
terms of reference

At least annually, the AC shall review and
reassess the adequacy of these terms of
reference and recommend any proposed
changes to the Board for approval.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

)

(i)

(i)

(Continued)

(E) Oversight of the Company’s Corporate
Governance Matters

(a)

to develop and review the Company's
policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations
to the Board:;

to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of
the Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the
code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees
and the Directors;

to review the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in the
corporate governance report as set out
in the annual report of the Company;
and

to consider other topics, as defined by
the Board.

The Group has adopted and established the
Whistleblowing Policy & Procedures. The AC has the
delegated authority and responsibility, for
employees and those who deal with the Group (e.g.
customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in
confidence and anonymity, with the Head of
Human Resources Department, and any and all

relevant complaints received may then be referred

to the AC about possible improprieties in any matter

related to the Group.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued) (F) EBZEE @)

() Audit Committee (Continued) ) BEREEE W
(i) The work performed by the AC for the financial year iy BERLTESAEHE_T_=ZF+=
ended 31 December 2023 is summarised below: A=+—B LtV BRFEANTER
ZMT

@  review of the annual audit plan of the external @ REZIIER AL EINERZ
auditor before the audit commences, and AR FEFEZE - R
discussion with them about the nature and mEZMEREE
scope of the audit;

(b) approval of the remuneration and the (b)  HEEINEAZEED A BN R E
appointment and the terms of engagement ERERCS /O
of the external auditor;

(©  review of the external auditor's independence (© =i A M2 R 5 HNEE Az SR
and objectivity and the effectiveness of audit REEBUREBREZEFES
process in accordance with applicable B
standards;

(d) review of the half-year and annual d HTHEFERIFLFEREF
consolidated financial statements of the REBGEHBEHRERAELE
Group before submission to the Board, with Bl - WA RIS EXX()BERE
particular consideration of the points MEZZEINSRBE
mentioned in paragraph (i)(B) above
regarding the duties of the AC;

()  review of the internal audit report and annual e HBEIVYFEZEAIRITANIEZ
audit plan of the internal audit function MERABEZRERFTESR
carried out by independent professionals; %t gl

() review of the Group's risk management and fH B AEER/NEREIE &AL
internal control systems and the statements ERERG REHNBEAF®RE
concerning risk management and internal FEREIERAEZE RGN
control systems to be included in the annual PR
report;

(@ meeting with the external auditor without @ HFEITESTESHBERLTHE

the executive Director present;

SNEE BB H
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EEEGRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

)

Audit Committee (Continued)
(i) (Continued)
(h)  review of the corporate governance matters
of the Group;

(i) review of the terms of reference of the AC;
and

() review of and monitoring of the Group's
compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements.

(1) Compensation Committee

The Company has set up the compensation committee of
the Company (the “CC") consisting of four members of
which three of them are the independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this annual report, the CC
comprises Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey (an independent non-
executive Director and the Chairman of the CC), Mr.
TSANG On Yip, Patrick (an executive Director), Prof. HU
Shao Ming Herman (an independent non-executive
Director) and Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger (an independent
non-executive Director).

Two CC meetings were held during the financial year
ended 31 December 2023. Attendance record of the CC
members is set out below:

ERBEBEANBRIA ZZBE-=ZFFH
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AR OB FTES) REBRE
HOBIFAITES) MK °

FHWZEeRBE_T_=F1t_A
S+ HALEMBFERABRITRREE
MEZBEKB 2 HFmEERmT

Attendance/

Number of

Meeting

HEEEN

Committee Members RE EHEE

Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey (Chairman) Mg S () 2/2

Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU (Note (i) RETE2BmES (MiE6) 0/0

Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick BLHEEE 2/2

Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman (AL e 2/2

Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger BB AE 2/2

Note: Htaz -

0 Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU has ceased to act as a member of the CC (i) BE-ZE-_=—#FH=A SHHEZEHEEH

upon his resignation as a non-executive Director and a Vice-
chairman with effect from 3 May 2023.

EHRTEERBTRRETBELHNZRE
4=
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ERELGRSE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(1) Compensation Committee (Continued)

0]

The terms of reference of the CC, which are available

on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company, are aligned with the provisions set out in
the CG Code. Given below are the main duties of
the CC:

(@)

to make recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for all
Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration, and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;

to review and approve the management’s
remuneration proposals by reference to the
Board's corporate goals and objectives;

either:

(i) to determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management; or

(i) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and
senior management.

This should include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(1) Compensation Committee (Continued)

U]

(Continued)

®

to review and approve compensation payable
to executive Directors and senior
management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is
otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal
of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms
and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of their
associates is involved in deciding that
Director’'s own remuneration;

to advise the shareholders on how to vote
with respect to any service contracts of
Directors that require the shareholders’
approval under the Listing Rules;

to decide with respect to the employee share
option scheme:

(i) the Employees to whom options shall
be granted;

(i) the number of shares subject to each
option;

(i) the date on which options shall be
granted; and

(iv)  the subscription price;
to review and/or approve matters relating to
the share schemes under Chapter 17 of the

Listing Rules; and

to review any compensation related or other
issues as requested by the Board.
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TEERRE

(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(1) Compensation Committee (Continued)

(F) EEZEE W
n FHZEEZ @

(i)

The work performed by the CC, which has the
delegated authority and responsibility, for the
financial year ended 31 December 2023 is
summarised below:

iy #H=EZFT-_=ZF+-_A=+—H1
BHRFEE HFNZESEERESH
ETHITERZHOT

(@  review of the Company's policy and structure @ BIARAEERSREEA
for all remuneration of Directors and the B2 B e R AR
senior management;

(b)  assess performance of the executive Director b)) FERATEEHRBLZER
and the consideration and approval of the HEZBEZEREREEAER
emoluments for all the Directors and the HEN S
senior management;

(©  make recommendations to the Board on the © HEANZEERAREEAED
remuneration packages of individual Directors TS ERNESGREESR
and senior management;

(d)  review of the terms of reference of CC; and d BIFNZESHREDE:

)53
()  review the scheme rules of the Share Option e MEEERERTEIMETEIRA] -

Scheme.

The basis of determining the emoluments payable to its

Directors and the senior management is with reference to

their qualifications, experience, duties and responsibilities

with the Group, as well as the Group’s performance and

the prevailing market conditions.

The remuneration of the senior management, whose

biographical details are included in section headed

“Biographical Details of Directors, Senior Management and

Company Secretary” of this annual report, during the year
falls within the bands are disclosed in Note 12(b) to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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TI2REEBE  KRERAEEAALED
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

(I

(1)

Compensation Committee (Continued)
Remuneration Policy

The remuneration of the Directors and the employees of
the Group is determined with reference to their
qualifications, experience, duties and responsibilities with
the Group, as well as the Group’s performance and the
prevailing market conditions. Besides, the Group regularly
provides training courses for the employees of the Group
to meet their needs. Under the share option scheme of
the Company adopted on 24 May 2018 (the “Share Option
Scheme”), share options of the Company (the “Share
Options”) may be granted to the Directors and eligible
employees of the Group to subscribe for Shares.

The CC also made recommendations to the Board on the
terms of service contracts and letters of appointment of
the new Executive Directors appointed during the year.

Nomination Committee

The Company has set up the nomination committee of
the Company (the “NC") which requires the majority of its
of its members to be independent non-executive
Directors. As at the date of this annual report, the NC
comprises Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman (an independent
non-executive Director and the Chairman of the NC), Mr.
LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey (an independent non-executive
Director) and Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger (an independent
non-executive Director).

At present, more than one-third of the Directors on the
Board are the independent non-executive Directors. They
represent diverse career experience in both international
and local enterprises. They bring with them diverse
professional backgrounds, spanning property
development and investment, banking, legal, advisory,
hospitality and entrepreneurship. They also hold or have
held important public service positions in Hong Kong and
China, covering business, industry and commerce, sports,
education, regulatory and politics.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(I1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Board composition reflects various cultural and
educational backgrounds, professional development,
length of service, knowledge of the Company and a broad
range of individual attributes, interests and values. The NC
considers the current Board composition has provided the
Company with a good balance and diversity of skills and
experience appropriate to the requirements of its business.
The NC will continue to review its composition from time
to time taking into consideration specific needs for the
Group's business.

The Board has adopted the Director Nomination Process
and Selection Criteria of the Company (the “Nomination
Policy”), which aims to set out the relevant selection
criteria and nomination procedures to assist the NC and
the Board to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to the
requirement of the Group’s businesses and to ensure that
the Directors devote sufficient time and make
contributions to the Company that are commensurate
with their role and board responsibilities. A summary of
the Nomination Policy is disclosed as below.

1.  Criteria
The NC and the Board shall consider the following

criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

Characteristics of individual director including
integrity and accountability, informed
judgement, prudence and maturity (being
able to engage in constructive debate and
give independent opinions), principled and
professional and other characteristics as the
NC deems appropriate);

Competencies in the areas including
accounting and finance, law, industry
knowledge, marketing and competencies as
the NC deems appropriate to ensure the
Board's overall suitability;

The structure, size and composition of the
Board;
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(I1) Nomination Committee (Continued)
1. Criteria (Continued)

The appropriate mix of competencies
between Directors to enable the Board to
discharge its responsibilities effectively;

The appropriate balance of skills, experience,
knowledge, expertise and diversity of the
Board is maintained, and the board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) adopted
by the Board is followed;

The capability of the candidate to devote the
necessary time and commitment to the role.
This involves a consideration of other
commitments including matters such as
other board or executive appointments; and

The potential conflicts of interest, and
independence.

The NC shall also consider the requirement for the Board
to have independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules and such other perspectives that are
appropriate to our Company'’s business and succession
plan and where applicable, may be adopted and/or
amended by the Board and/or the NC from time to time
for nomination of directors and succession planning.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(I1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

2.

Nomination Procedures

The NC or the Board shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new director
and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship.

If more than one candidate are nominated by
the NC, the NC shall base on the criteria (as
set out in section 1 above) and recommend
the most competent candidate to the Board
(where applicable).

The NC shall also consider the number of
board positions they hold in other firms.

The NC shall engage external consultants
where necessary to assist in the selection
process of suitable candidates.

After the NC reviewed and considered the
candidates, the NC makes recommendations
to the Board on any proposed changes to
implement the Company’s corporate strategy.

For any person that is nominated by a
Shareholder for election as a director at the
general meeting of the Company, the NC and
the Board shall evaluate such candidate.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(I1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy. Under
the Board Diversity Policy, the Company recognises and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board with a
vision for the Company to achieve a sustainable and
balanced development.

The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board and the NC has developed
the measurable objectives to implement this Policy, taking
into account the factors based on the business model of
the Company and specific needs from time to time. In
achieving the board diversity, a number of factors,
including but not limited to, cultural and educational
background, gender, ethnicity, age, skills, knowledge,
experience and length of service and any other factors
that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from
time to time taking into account the Company’s business
model and specific needs, are considered. All the Board
appointments are made on merits while having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The NC will review the Board Diversity Policy annually to
ensure its effectiveness, and recommend any appropriate
revisions to ensure it remains relevant to the Company’s
needs and reflects the current regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practices.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(I1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

The Board Diversity Policy has been consistently
implemented by the Group. As at the date of this report,
the Board consists of one female Director and nine male
Directors. The Board considers that the gender diversity in
respect of the Board with reference to business needs is
satisfactory. The Board targets to maintain at least the
current level of female representation. In considering the
Board's succession, the NC will search from, including but
not limited to, different professional firms, legal,
accounting, directorship bodies or through independent
professional search firms to help identify potential
candidates, as and when necessary. The Board will
continue increasing the proportion of female members
over time as and when suitable candidates are identified.

The male to female ratio in the workforce of the Group
including senior management is approximately 1.8:1 as at
31 December 2023, which remained the same as
compared to 2022. Despite the Group having an
unavoidable workforce supply dominated by male given
the nature of work in network construction and
maintenance, the Group will actively look for the right mix
of people to work together and to the gender diversity at
all levels of the Group to improve collaboration.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(111) Nomination Committee (Continued)
Diversity Mix
As at 31 December 2023, the Board consists of 10 Directors
and the Board composition is as below:

ERBEBEANBRIA ZZBE-=ZFFH

(F) EEZEE W

m RBZEE @)

ZRitdEs
RZFZ=F+ZA=+—H EFEE
BTERESF EFERWT

Number of Directors
EEA™
10
Over 10 years
NED o
9 Over 70 B0
FB 38 70 5%
8
7
ED 61-70 6-10 years
6 Male 612 705% 6 & 104
¢
5
51-60
4 51 60 5%
3
0-5 years
5 INED e 0o &
41 E505%
1 Female
4
Designation Gender Age Board Tenure
BE 4 5l FiR Exeal
ED : Executive Director ED ; WITES
NED : Non-executive Director NED : FWITES
INED Independent Non-executive Director INED : BYUEHITES

Biographical details of the Directors, including details of
their skills and experience are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary” of this annual
report. The Group sees increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in attaining its strategy and
achieving sustainable and balanced development of the
Group, and will continue to further enhance board
diversity while maintaining an appropriate balance
between continuity of experience and Board refreshment.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(I1) Nomination Committee (Continued)

The terms of reference of the NC, which are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, are
aligned with the provisions set out in the CG Code. Given
below are the main duties of the NC:

(@) toreview the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy;

(b)  toidentify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships;

(c)  to assess the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors;

(d)  to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
Chairman and the chief executive; and

(e)  to develop and maintain a board diversity policy
and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board, as appropriate, to ensure it
remains relevant to the Company’s needs and
reflects the current regulatory requirements and
good corporate governance practices and to
making disclosure of its review results in the
Corporate Governance Report annually.
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(F) BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
(I) Nomination Committee (Continued)

The work performed by the NC, which has the delegated
authority and responsibility, for the financial year ended 31
December 2023 is summarised below:

(@)  review of the Board Diversity Policy;

(b)  review of the terms of reference of NC;

() review of the structure, size and composition of the
Board taking into account the Board Diversity Policy
and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board;

(d)  assess the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors; and

(e)  make recommendations to the Board for the re-

appointment of Directors standing for re-election at
the AGM.

Two NC meetings were held during the financial year
ended 31 December 2023. Attendance record of the NC
members is set out below:
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Attendance/
Number of
Meeting
HERE,
Committee Members SREAE
Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman (Chairman) AR (=) 2/2
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey iR EE 5 2/2
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger BBt AE 2/2
(IV) Corporate Governance Functions (Iv) ERERRAE

While the Board is and remains to be principally
responsible for the corporate governance functions of the
Company, it has delegated the relevant duties to the AC
to ensure the proper performance of corporate
governance functions of the Company. In this connection,
the terms of reference of the AC include various duties
relating to corporate governance matters which are set
out in paragraph “(E) Oversight of the Company’s
Corporate Governance Matters” on page 85 under sub-
section “(I) Audit Committee” of section “(F) BOARD
COMMITTEES" above.
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(G) AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees in relation to the audit services for the financial year

(H)

ended 31 December 2023 provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
the external auditor of the Company, amounted to approximately
HK$3,099,000 and the remuneration in relation to non-audit

services, mainly included tax compliance services and other
compliance services, paid or payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers
amounted to approximately HK$1,670,000.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

M

Risk Governance

The risk management and internal control systems (the
“RM&IC Systems”) of the Group comprise a well-defined
governance structure, with areas of responsibility and
limits of authority of each business and operational unit
clearly delineated to ensure effective checks and balances.
Internal control policies, procedures and guidelines have
been compiled to safeguard assets against unauthorised
use or disposition, to maintain of proper records, to assure
of the reliability of financial information for internal use or
publication and to comply with relevant legislation and
regulations.

The Board acknowledges its ultimate responsibility to
oversee internal control systems, to evaluate and
determine the nature and extent of the risks (including
material ESG risks) it is willing to take in achieving strategic
objectives and for maintaining the RM&IC Systems as well
as to monitor their effectiveness. The management is
tasked with the design, implementation and monitoring
of the systems. The AC has been delegated by the Board
to oversee the systems and is supported by independent
professionals to perform the internal audit function, which
provides assessment on risk and internal control oversight.

The internal audit function monitors compliance with
policies and standards and carries out an analysis and
independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the RM&IC Systems across the Group. Findings
regarding risk management and internal control matters
are reported to the AC, in line with the annual audit plan
reviewed by the AC, and communicated to the business
or corporate units concerned.
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(H) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

)

(I

Risk Governance (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above, the RM&IC Systems are
designed to manage the risk rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Risk Management Processes and Practices

The management maintains a risk register to identify
major risks, which are then categorised into business risks,
financial risks, compliance risks, operational risks and other
risks. The risks identified are evaluated in terms of
individual likelihood of occurrence, severity of
consequence, priority and the existence of early warning
signal. Based on the results of the assessment, the
management will determine the appropriate risk response:
acceptance, transfer, elimination, reduction or sharing, and
formulate corresponding control activities and mitigation
measures. The risk profile will be reviewed and the risk
register will be updated on an ongoing basis to
incorporate any change in the nature and extent of
significant risks including ESG risks. Internal control
deficiencies, if any, are communicated to the responsible
parties for taking corrective action.

The AC, through independent professionals to perform the
internal audit function, conducts annual review of the
effectiveness of the RM&IC Systems and procedures, on a
rotation of different cycles basis, covering all controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, by
way of the above risk identification and assessment exercise.
Confirmations from the management, in the form of
certification that the risk management and internal control
procedures are functioning effectively to meet the
respective financial reporting, operational and compliance
needs, is obtained from business and corporate unit heads.
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(H) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

(I

(1)

Risk Management Processes and Practices
(Continued)

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of
inside information and compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations, the Group has in place, as an internal
control element, a disclosure policy of inside information
providing guidance on reporting and dissemination of
inside information and preservation of confidentiality. Under
the policy, Directors or heads of business units shall report
to the Chairman/the Chief Financial Officer for any
potential/suspected inside information event as soon as
practicable when it materialises for determining the nature
of developments, and if required, making disclosure. All staff
are also required to observe the code of ethical standards to
keep non-public information confidential.

Periodical Review

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the AC through
the independent professionals to perform the internal
audit function, had conducted review of the RM&IC
Systems on behalf of the Board, including the adequacy
of, inter alia, resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, as well as these relating to the Group's ESG
performance and reporting. Such review has been
conducted on an annual basis. Written management
confirmation on the effectiveness of the RM&IC Systems
has been received.

The results of the review were reported by the AC to the
Board, based on which the Directors concluded that, for
the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the RM&IC
Systems and procedures of the Group were effective and
adequate. The Group has complied with the provisions in
the CG Code regarding the risk management and internal
control systems.
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)

)

(K)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
financial year ended 31 December 2023, which give a true and
fair view of the financial position of the Group as a whole as at
the end of the financial year and of the Group'’s financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended and in
compliance with the requirements of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “CO”") and the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules.

The reporting responsibilities of the auditor of the Company in
the Independent Auditor's Report are set out on pages 144 to
154 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lau Yee Wa ("Ms. Lau”) has been appointed as the Company’s
Company Secretary. Ms. Lau is currently a director of corporate
services of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional services
provider specialising in integrated business, corporate and
investor services. All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary on corporate governance and
board practices and matters. Mr. Kwok Chi Kin, the chief financial
officer of the Company (“Chief Financial Officer”) has been
designated as the primary contact person at the Company which
would work and communicate with Ms. Lau on the Company'’s
corporate governance and secretarial and administrative matters.
During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, she had
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training. The
biographical details of Ms. Lau are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors, Senior Management and
Company Secretary” section of this annual report.

SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

A Shareholders Communication Policy has been adopted by the
Company to ensure that the Shareholders are provided with
ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company (including its financial
performance, strategic goals and plans, material developments,
governance and risk profile), in order to enable the Shareholders
to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to allow the
Shareholders and the investment community to engage actively
with the Company.
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(K) SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT (Continued)

(L)

The Group uses several formal channels to ensure fair disclosure and
comprehensive and transparent reporting of its performance and
activities. Annual and interim reports are published/printed and
printed copies of such reports or notifications of publication thereof
on the Company’s website are sent to all Shareholders. Such reports
and press releases are posted and are available for download at the
Company’s corporate website (www.i-cablecomm.com). In addition,
the Company makes full use of the internet to make information
broadly available to the Shareholders. The Company’s website
provides the relevant contact information by which enquiries may
be put to the Board. Constantly being updated in a timely manner,
the website also contains a wide range of additional information on
the Group's business activities.

The Company encourages its Shareholders to attend and
participate in the annual general meetings of the Company to
ensure a high level of accountability and to stay informed of the
Group's strategy and goals. The Directors and the external
auditor are also available to answer the Shareholders’ questions
at the meetings.

The Board reviewed the Group’s shareholders engagement and
communication activities conducted in 2023 considering
multiple channels for communications with shareholders and
investors were in place and was satisfied with the
implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders
communication policy.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
() Convene a General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 566(2) of the CO, on written
requisition by the Shareholders representing at least 5% of
the total voting rights of all Shareholders having a right to
vote at general meetings, the Directors must convene a
general meeting.

(I) Send Enquiries to the Board

The Company's corporate website (www.i-cablecomm.
com) provides the relevant contact information (for
enquiry purpose only) by which Shareholders may at any
time address their enquiries to the Board.
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(L) SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)
(1) Make Proposals at General Meetings

0]

(i)

The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for
election as Director(s) at a Shareholders” meeting
are set out in the Corporate Information section of
the Company’s corporate website.

The procedures for proposing resolution(s) to be
moved at the Company’s annual general meeting(s)
are as follows:

Pursuant to Section 615(2) of the CO, the
Shareholder(s) can submit a written requisition to
move a resolution at the Company’s annual general
meeting(s) if they represent:

at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders who have a right to vote at the
annual general meeting to which the
requests relate; or

at least 50 members who have a right to vote
on the resolution at the annual general
meeting to which the requests relate.

The relevant written requisition must:

(@)  identify the resolution of which notice is to be
given;

(b)  be authenticated by the person or persons
making it; and

(c)  be received by the Company not later than 6
weeks before the relevant annual general
meeting to which the requests relate; or if
later, the time at which notice is given of that
meeting.

Any written requisitions from the Shareholders to the Company
pursuant to Sections 566 and 615 of the CO must be deposited
at the Company’s registered office.
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(M) DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy (the “Dividend Policy”).
Under the Dividend Policy, the Board may from time to time pay
to the Shareholders annual dividends, if any, on the outstanding
ordinary Shares declared by and subject to the discretion of the
Board and must be approved at a general meeting of the
Shareholders. In addition, the Board may from time to time pay
to the Shareholders such interim dividends as appear to the
Board to be justified, both annual dividends and interim
dividends shall not exceed the amount recommended by the
Board, in accordance with the provision of the Articles and the
CO.

The Board may only consider to make a distribution if the
amount of the Company’s net assets is not less than the
aggregate of the Company’s called up share capital and
undistributable reserves; and to the extent that, the distribution
does not reduce the amount of those assets to an amount less
than the aggregate of the Company’s called up share capital and
undistributable reserves.

The Board shall consider, including but not limited to, the
following factors before the declaration and payment of
dividends:

(@)  the Group's results of operations;

(b)  the earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

(c) the Group's actual and expected financial performance
and conditions and liquidity position;

(d)  the Shareholders’ interests;

(e)  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group's lenders;

() the Group's expected working capital requirements,
surplus and future expansion plans;

(g)  contractual, statutory and regulatory restrictions;
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(M) DIVIDEND POLICY (Continued)

(N)

()

(h)  general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have any impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the Company;
and

(i) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board endeavours to maintain a balance between meeting
the Shareholders' expectations and prudent capital management
with a sustainable dividend policy. The Board will continue to
review the Dividend Policy and reserve the right in its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the
Dividend Policy from time to time.

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2023. The
consolidated version of the Articles is available on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group recognises the importance of building a stakeholder
and customer-centric way of innovation and servicing. The
Group aims to inspire positive thinking and empower people to
live vividly. The Group continues to expand its product and
service offerings for the betterment of the living qualities of
Hong Kong people.

To keep our customers engaged, the Group utilises an “insights-
driven and customer-centric” approach in designing our
programme content, developing digital solutions, and
innovating new services and products to broaden our customers’
choices.
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(O) CORPORATE CULTURE (Continued) (0) E k@)

With the new leadership and management team, the Group
strengthened its cultural framework with four core values:
authenticity, credibility, diversity, and excellence. The Group has
also derived a new cultural change programme focusing on
being customer-centric, accountable in its work, and transparent
in its communication with five new core competencies
underpinning measurement and clarity. The five core
competencies are (i) ownership and personal drive; (ii) work
efficiency and quality; (iii) prioritisation and decisiveness; (iv)
collaboration and (v) leadership and people management. The
details of such competencies are tied in with the annual
performance appraisal to ensure the appropriate corporate
cultural behaviours are awarded and incentivised.

The Group has made improvements to its internal
communication strategy via holding regular town hall briefing
sessions with managerial staff and establishing a newly
revamped corporate intranet to enhance internal engagement.
This year, a new weekly summary of company media coverage
for all staff has also been launched.

More information about the Group’s mission, vision and values
are available on the Company’s website.

The Board, through its various committees, provides direction to
management in setting out the strategies, monitors the Group’s
operating and financial performance and reviews the Group's
compensation policies and succession planning. The Board has
completed an annual internal evaluation to ensure that the
Group's defined purpose, values and strategy are aligned with
the Group’s culture and that a positive culture, effective internal
control risk management and ESG policies are in place.
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The Directors have the pleasure of presenting their annual report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
financial year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries and consolidated structured
entities are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year is provided in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 7 of this
annual report, “Business Review” on pages 8 to 25 of this annual report
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 51 to 67 of this
annual report. The principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces are
contained in the section headed “Business Review" on page 25 of this
annual report and Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report. Particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the financial year are contained in
the section headed “Events After the Reporting Period” on page 67 of
this annual report. The future development of the business of the
Group is provided in the sections headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis — Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets”
and "Management Discussion and Analysis — Outlook” on pages 61 to
67 of this annual report.

In addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, compliance with the relevant laws and regulations and
an account of the Group’s key relationship with its employees,
customers and suppliers are contained under the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 26 to 50 of
this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December
2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 155 to
157 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
financial year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HKSNIl).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2023:

The aggregate amount of revenue attributable to the Group's five
largest customers represented less than 30% of the Group's total
revenue for the year.

The aggregate amount of purchases attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers represented less than 30% of the Group's total
purchases for the year.

A subsidiary of Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited was one of the
Group's five largest customers for the year. Dr. Cheng, who is the
chairman of the Board, a non-executive Director and a substantial
shareholder of the Company, is a member of the Cheng family which
holds or controls CTFJ Group (as defined in the section headed
“Connected Transactions” below), details of which are set out in the
section headed “Connected Transactions” below. Save as disclosed
above, none of the Directors nor their respective close associates holds,
nor does any Shareholder owning (to the knowledge of the Directors)
more than 5% of the total number of issued Shares hold, any interests
in any of the Group's five largest suppliers or customers.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years is set out on pages 267 to 268 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

BANK LOAN AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the bank loan and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2023 including interest-bearing borrowings and convertible
bonds are set out in Notes 24 and 25 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Shares issued and the movements in the share capital of
the Company during the year are set out in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme disclosed in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” below and the issuance of the 2019 LCS and the 2021
LCS disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis — The 2019 LCS and The 2021 LCS" and Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report, no equity-linked
agreement (as defined in section 6 of the Companies (Directors’ Report)
Regulation (Chapter 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)) was entered into
by the Group during the financial year or subsisted at the end of the
financial year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of reserves of the
Company available for distribution to equity Shareholders, as calculated
under the provisions of Part 6 of the CO, was HKSNil (2022: HKSNil).

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry Gam, Ggs (Chairman, Non-executive Director)
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU (Vice-chairman, Non-executive Director)
(resigned with effect from 3 May 2023)
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick 88s (Vice-chairman, Executive Director)
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng (Executive Director)
Mr. TO Chi Hak (Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director)
(appointed as Executive Director with effect from 3 May 2023 and
Chief Executive Officer with effect from 3 June 2023 respectively)
Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis (Executive Director)
(appointed with effect from 3 May 2023)
Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU (Non-executive Director)
(resigned with effect from 3 May 2023)
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard (Non-executive Director)
(resigned with effect from 3 May 2023)
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Non-executive Director)
Mr.LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey Gam, Gas, Jp (Independent non-executive Director)
Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman Gs, Jp (Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger 88s, ¢ (Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman (Independent non-executive Director)

ERBEBEANBRIA ZZBE-=ZFFH

IR EH St =
BTSN iR 8 — ST E MR E R E
EEF‘T.:H& T — —E—NEFERPTBERESER =
—EEHHT%HX.%E%%J—Eﬁﬁﬂﬁsﬁé’ﬁ*ﬁ_q
*AEEHHTWXEE‘%&_Y_*EEHETWX
AR A FRERE B EIREM 255 - NEBE R AR IR
FEATEITLREZRBHE (EELEEENE
622DE(ARFR(EEERES) KA FE6E) - MER
ZRBRHER AT REE L RGTE -

] 5 70 T Ak
R-F-=GF+-A=+—8 AHIERTESRE

RN A Bl 258 (THAR IR (R a1 B1) 55 6 3B 2 1§11
AE)ATEL(ZZE_F  THEIT) -
AKRARESE

REARBEAREARZESNT

ERAEE T com, os (F B FIHHTTEE)

N EEEMEE (BIFEHRIFENTESE)
(B=ZF=—=FAH=HEFHE)

B ks (G FEFEANTEE)

FTREBRE(BMTESE)

MRk (TTRAERFNTTEEF) (FFE
CECCFAACHEZIERTEER
B -E = NNA=ZHEZTATHEE)

FeREE LT (MTEF)
(B=F-_=FhAA=ZHBEZT)

EfEEB A (FFHTTEE)
(B-—ZE-=F7A=ZHEFT)

FLFEE S A GERTTESE)
(BE=—FE=-=FAaA=HEFL)

RIBFRZ T (FERTTEFE)

PRAESE 55 cam cas, P (B U IEHTTEF)

FRBE R HUR cas P (B IFHTTEF)

FEER e Emps e (B UL FEHTTEF)

BERS A (B IENTESE)

111



112

i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2023

I_g_epo_g of the Directors
EEEHRES

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

In accordance with Article 106(A) of the Articles, Mr. TSANG On Yip,
Patrick, Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey, Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger and Mr.
TANG Sing Ming Sherman will retire from the Board by rotation and
being eligible and shall offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. None of the retiring Directors
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU, Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU and Mr. HOONG
Cheong Thard resigned from directorship with effect from 3 May 2023.
Each of the Directors has confirmed that (a) he has no disagreement
with the Board and (b) there is no matter relating to his resignation that
needs to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

Biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors, Senior Management and
Company Secretary” on pages 133 to 143 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The names of all persons who, during the financial year and up to the
date of this report, serve as directors of the companies included as
subsidiaries of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December
2023 are set out below:

Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU*
Ms. CEN Li Yan

Ms. CHAN Man Yee Fiona
Mr. CHAN Wai Man

Mr. HO Ming Yan Herman
Mr. KWOK Wing Fai Brian
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng
Ms. SUEN Chung Yan Julia
Mr. TO Chi Hak

Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick
Mr. WONG Hei Pui

Mr. WONG See Yuen*

Ms. YEE Oi Kwan

Mr. YIP Yiu Chung

Ms. YU Wing San

Remark: Those marked with an asterisk* are no longer directors of any subsidiaries of
-CABLE Communications Limited as at 22 March 2024.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company received from each of Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey, Prof. HU
Shao Ming Herman, Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger and Mr. TANG Sing Ming
Sherman a confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and the Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors (including non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors) has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years and
renewable automatically for successive terms of three years upon
expiry of the then current term of the appointment, subject to his/her
retirement and re-election at the annual general meeting in
accordance with the Company’s Articles. The details of the
remuneration of each of the Directors are disclosed in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not terminable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong (the “SFO")), which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO, including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO, or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors adopted by the
Company, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES (Continued)

Long position in Shares

Name of Shareholder

EERTHASNE S 2ER @)

B zFR

Number of Shares

BH8E

Interest of

a controlled

Beneficial owner

corporation

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry - 11,052,488,230

(Note 1)

BRAEL (Btat1)
Note: Htat -

Celestial Pioneer Limited (“Celestial Pioneer”) was wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng and
held 72.0% interests in Forever Top. Accordingly, both Celestial Pioneer and Forever
Top were controlled corporations of Dr. Cheng. Forever Top was interested in
10,568,899,364 Shares, which represented (i) 3,083,722,894 Shares owned by
Forever Top; (i) 4,544,000,000 new Shares to be issued by the Company upon full
exercise of the conversion rights under the 2019 LCS; and (iii) 2,941,176,470 new
Shares to be issued by the Company upon full exercise of the conversion rights
under the 2021 LCS. Celestial Pioneer was interested in 11,052,488,230 Shares,
which represented (i) 483,588,866 Shares owned by Celestial Pioneer ; and (ii) the
deemed interests 10,568,899,364 Shares held by Forever Top under the SFO.
Therefore, Dr. Cheng was deemed to be interested in such 11,052,488,230 Shares
under the SFO.

Approximate
percentage of
the total
number of
issued Shares
BB BITR G
By BN
Bk

Other interest

- 11,052,488,230 154.91%

Celestial Pioneer Limited ([ Celestial Pioneer |) B &5 18 + 2 & H
TFEH K 720% 155 o Bt » Celestial Pioneer X 7k 7149 5 25 1#
FH) LB o KR 10568899364 RAR 17 A HE B 1S 0 1HE
B ()oK FHE B 893,083,722,894 R R 17 (i) = F — N FERHIA]
HRREFEFHAT L RBEETEITEENATHARFETH
4,544,000,000 B FT B 17+ R (iii) = F = —FE R A A] R RFEHTH T
S IR R BT IE 1R 15 A B9 2K 1 B] BT 89 2,941,176470 IR 3T R
17 © Celestial Pioneer 72 11,052,488230 8 IR 17 H HE B # 25 - 1%
R 2 (i) Celestial Pioneer # 7 £ 483,588,866 IR & 17 + J% (ii) 1R 15 7&
FREIE RG] - K18 (EF B £ 10,568,899,364 IR AR (7 ##E 7 ©

Hut  RIBEFRBAEE  BELHBEBRZE
11,052,488,230 R AR 17 #E 5 4 2 ©
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EFEREE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN FEREREF LS 2#EE
SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2023, so farasis knownto B TITXHEEEIIN  R-_T-_=ZF+-_A=+—H0 &
the Directors or chief executive of the Company, the Company had not ~ B RSt AN QAR ITERABEATA - AR &)W EEZEEE A
been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief ~+ (BEZSHKA QA RITHARKGIN e ERKH A8
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the BB R BARIEFHF K BEEHIEXVIEE 2 RE
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the 39 EF AR AR AR B B E D SOXE » iR &
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the  #& % R B3 EIEHIF 336 1K7BA AR a7 E M EGLMET
SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the  FRERRIEZSSIA A ©

Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Long positions in the Shares RIRGWEFE
Number of Shares
RH#HE
Approximate
percentage of
Interest of the total
a controlled number of
Name of Shareholder Beneficial owner  Spouse interest corporation Other interest Total issued Shares
HERTRG
BB
RREH LB BREE SEHEEES , BOL
Celestial Pioneer Limited 483,588,866 - 10,568,899,364 - 11,052,488,230 154.91%
(Note 1)
(K1)
Forever Top (Asia) Limited 10,568,899,364 - - - 10,568,899,364 148.14%
(Note 1)
I (M) BRAE (Hiit1)
Mr.NG Hung Sang 156,169,500 98,502,500 464,376,000 - 719,048,000 10.08%
(Note 2) (Note 3)
RBERE (Hfat2) (Hfa£3)
Ms. NG Lai King Pamela 98,502,500 620,545,500 - - 719,048,000 10.08%
(Note 4)
RERZL (it 4)
South China Securities Limited 463,000,000 - - - 463,000,000 6.49%
(Note 3)

BEEFRERRAA (Hiat3)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (Continued)

Long positions in the Shares (Continued)

Notes:

1. These 10,568,899,364 Shares represent (i) 3,083,722,894 Shares owned by Forever
Top; (i) 4,544,000,000 new Shares to be issued by the Company upon full exercise
of the conversion rights under the 2019 LCS; and (iii) 2,941,176,470 new Shares to
be issued by the Company upon full exercise of the conversion rights under the
2021 LCS. Celestial Pioneer held 72.0% interests in Forever Top, and was therefore
deemed to be interested in all the interests held by Forever Top under the SFO.
Celestial Pioneer was wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng. Accordingly, both Celestial
Pioneer and Forever Top were controlled corporations of Dr. Cheng, and Dr. Cheng
was therefore deemed to be interested in these 10,568,899,364 Shares under the
SFO. For details of Dr. Cheng’s interests in the Shares, please refer to the paragraph

headed ‘Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in Securities” above.

2. Mr. Ng Hung Sang, the spouse of Ms. Ng Lai King Pamela, was deemed to be
interested in 98,502,500 Shares which Ms. Ng Lai King Pamela was interested in
under the SFO.

3. Mr. Ng Hung Sang was deemed to be interested in 464,376,000 Shares which his

controlled corporations are interested in under the SFO. South China Finance and
Management Limited directly held 1,376,000 Shares, while South China Securities
Limited directly held 463,000,000 Shares. Both of these companies were wholly-
owned by South China Financial Holdings Limited. Based on the information
available to the Company, South China Financial Holdings Limited was held as to
approximately 29.52% by Mr. Ng Hung Sang, among which approximately 25.66%
was held through his wholly-owned corporations, while according to publicly
available information, approximately 3.86% was held by him as beneficial owner.

4, Ms. Ng Lai King Pamela, the spouse of Mr. Ng Hung Sang, was deemed to be
interested in 620,545,500 Shares which Mr. Ng Hung Sang was interested in under
the SFO.

DILUTIVE IMPACT ON THE SHARES IN THE EVENT
THAT ALL THE OUTSTANDING 2019 LCS AND
2021 LCS WERE CONVERTED

On 4 June 2019 and 31 March 2021, the Company issued the 2019 LCS
and the 2021 LCS with the principal amount of HK$568 million and
HKS$200 million, respectively, to Forever Top, the Controlling
Shareholder of the Company. As at 31 December 2023, none of the
2019 LCS and the 2021 LCS was converted.
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Report of the Directors

EFEREE

DILUTIVE IMPACT ON THE SHARES IN THE EVENT
THAT ALL THE OUTSTANDING 2019 LCS AND
2021 LCS WERE CONVERTED (continued)

Assuming (i) 4,544,000,000 Shares were issued upon full conversion of
the outstanding 2019 LCS on 31 December 2023; (i) 2,941,176,470
Shares were issued upon full conversion of the outstanding 2021 LCS
on 31 December 2023; and (i) that there were no other changes in the
share capital of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2023, the number of issued Shares will be increased by 7,485,176,470,
representing approximately 104.91% of the total number of issued
Shares as at 31 December 2023 (i.e. 7,134,623,520 Shares) and
approximately 51.20% of the total number of issued Shares as enlarged
by the issue of the outstanding 2019 LCS and 2021 LCS (i.e.
14,619,799,990 Shares). Assuming that there were no other changes in
the shareholding of the substantial shareholders (which has the
meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules) of the Company as at
31 December 2023, the following table sets out, for illustrative purpose
only, the dilutive impact on the shareholding of the substantial
shareholders of the Company:

As at 31 December 2023
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Immediately upon full conversion of
the 2019 LCS and the 2021 LCS
EE-Z-NEFRETRRESR

“EC-ERETARESBHAAE

Approximate

Approximate

percentage of the percentage of the

Number of total number of Number of total number of

Name of Shareholders issued Shares issued Shares issued Shares issued Shares
B#1T HERTRG B#1T HERTRG

RRER L ROEE  AZPFNESLL RABE  HAHBOEIL
Dr. Cheng (Note) HE+ (Hra) 3,567311,760 50.00% 11,052,488,230 75.60%
Celestial Pioneer (Note) Celestial Pioneer (H5F) 3,567,311,760 50.00% 11,052,488,230 75.60%
Forever Top (Note) KF(HiEE) 3083,722,89% 43.22% 10,568,899,364 72.29%
Other Shareholders HiiR® 3567,311,760 50.00% 3,567311,760 24.40%
Note:  Celestial Pioneer was wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng and held 72.0% interests in ~ [{iF : Celestial Pioneer i Zb 18 1 2 B # B & #5 B K H 72.0% # 5 ©

Forever Top. Celestial Pioneer held 3,567,311,760 Shares, which represented (i)
483,588,866 Shares owned by Celestial Pioneer; and (ii) 3,083,722,894 Shares owned
by Forever Top.

The full conversion of the outstanding 2019 LCS and/or 2021 LCS
would not have dilutive impact on the loss per Share of the Group.

Celestial Pioneer 1% % 3,567,311,760 iR A& 17+ 1H & 1 : (i) Celestial
Pioneer #E  483,588,866 AR AR 17 + X% (ii) 7K 7+ #E 7 9 3,083,722,894
fRAZ 17 °

BYHBRRTE_S-NEFRPTRRES R %
—Eo-ERUPNARZEFETEHASEERER
ELHELE -
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DILUTIVE IMPACT ON THE SHARES IN THE EVENT
THAT ALL THE OUTSTANDING 2019 LCS AND
2021 LCS WERE CONVERTED (continued)

2019 LCS

The 2019 LCS is not redeemable by Forever Top before the maturity
date unless there is an occurrence of certain events as stipulated in the
2019 LCS subscription agreement dated 25 January 2019. The maturity
date of the 2019 LCS is the end of the tenth year from the date of the
issue of the 2019 LCS. Considering (1) the fact that the 2019 LCS will
become mature in 2029; (2) the fact that there are no circumstances
leading to a possible indication that there may be an early redemption
of the 2019 LCS; and (3) the financial position and resources of the
Group, it is expected that the Company will be able to meet its
redemption obligations under the 2019 LCS when it becomes due.

It would be equally financially advantageous for Forever Top to convert
or redeem the 2019 LCS based on the implied internal rate of return of
the 2019 LCS at the Company’s share price of HK$0.095 and HK$0.100 if
Forever Top fully converts the 2019 LCS on 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2024, respectively.

2021 LCS

The 2021 LCS is not redeemable by Forever Top before the maturity
date unless there is an occurrence of certain events as stipulated in the
2021 LCS subscription agreement dated 27 January 2021 (the “2021
LCS Subscription Agreement”). The maturity date of the 2021 LCS is the
end of the tenth year from the date of the issue of the 2021 LCS.
Considering (1) the fact that the 2021 LCS will become mature in 2031;
(2) the fact that there are no circumstances leading to a possible
indication that there may be an early redemption of the 2021 LCS; and
(3) the financial position and resources of the Group, it is expected that
the Company will be able to meet its redemption obligations under
the 2021 LCS when it becomes due.

It would be equally financially advantageous for Forever Top to convert
or redeem the 2021 LCS based on the implied internal rate of return of
the 2021 LCS at the Company’s share price of HK$0.050 and HK$0.052 if
Forever Top fully converts the 2021 LCS on 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2024, respectively.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME BRRESTE

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 24 May 2018 AR AR T — N\FH A -+ HRMNERETS
which shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years from the — Z&T 2115 B R4 B B+ E M AE -
date of adoption.

Purpose of the scheme: The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentives to the eligible persons, to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions that the eligible persons have made or may make to
the Group and to promote the success of the business of the Group.

TR B BRETSE ARSI RBRERBAE  BRHBI D TEERAL
RELRTAEERALTERLAAREAREBIER 2 BRI EEAEE 2 %
TERCHE ©

Participants of the scheme: Any person who is (or will be on the date of grant) an employee of the Group, a
Director, a consultant or an advisor, as may be determined by the Directors from
time to time.

rElm2mE EEMRITRETER (SERELEEH) SAREEET - =% - B

%

=) E@/\E"]Tﬁtfﬂ/\i °

Total number of Shares available for issue  There were 620,602,015 Shares issuable under the Share Option(s) to be granted

under the scheme and percentage of issued  under the Share Option Scheme (representing approximately 8.70% of the total

Shares as at the date of this annual report: number of issued Shares) and no outstanding Share Option as at the date of this
annual report.

STERATEITHOROABEARERNEAE KRAFHREOHBEERBAIERENERRETAIZETIROR

BRABEDRETROMAD X 620,602,015 f% (15 B 1T 7 481 K98.70%) » B MARITIEREARKE -

Maximum entitlement of each participant  Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of Shares issued and to be

under the scheme: issued upon the exercise of the Share Options granted to each eligible person
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding Share Options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the relevant class of securities of the Company in issue.

el ER2EETERER LR BROEERCREL A& - BAIEM 2@ A BEAN - BITEERTFTEEEBRAL
BBRE (BIEETE B ARTTEBRE ME BT A THETH
BROBHTBRBARNARDEITHBESERIN1% -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The period within which the option may be
exercised by the grantee under the scheme:

AFEARIERT BRI TE B HR

The vesting period of options granted under
the scheme:

REBEAEFMEHBRENREY -

The amount payable on application or
acceptance of the option and the period within
which payments or calls must or may be made
or loans for such purposes must be paid:
RS EMBIRE RN AR REE
FRT R EIRR S BRI B Y
R :

The basis of determining the exercise price of
options granted:

PRI B R AR T R B B E &2

The remaining life of the scheme:

AR B

AR REST & )

The period as notified by the Board upon the grant of Share Options during which it
may be exercised, such period not to exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the
relevant Share Options.

BEFEgNREBERERBNA TITEBRENVER  ZHREXHEHEE
Mt B HA R 5T NS BB T4 o

Any period as determined by the Board.
HEFSETNERMBAR -

The amount payable for the acceptance of a Share Option shall be HK$1.00 which
shall be paid upon acceptance of the offer of such Share Option. This consideration
shall not be refundable to the participant and shall not be deemed to be a part
payment of the exercise price.

MEANBRERNNSESRI0BT  AREMAZBREZNRTIUAX
ff - ZRETBRETREE  THAEEAXNITREN—HD -

The exercise price of the Share Option shall be at a price determined by the Board
and notified to a participant.

BRENTEEERESSETNERLANEREE -

The exercise price shall not be less than the higher of:

TEEMNERATHENRSE :

(A)  the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of such Share Option;

and
RIFHZEREE AR ME B MERFTFIIR DR FTAU T E
P54

(B)  the average closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of such Share Option.
ERFEZBRESRN DAL ERBIME B RERMIIKRNHR
B 2 P EY AW ME -

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from
the date of adoption, i.e. 24 May 2018.

BREASEEMAH B —_ZE-—N\FRAZ+TMA) B 10FAERR
R o
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

There were 620,602,015 Shares issuable under the Share Option(s) to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme (representing
approximately 8.70% of the total number of issued Shares) and no
outstanding Share Option as at the date of this report. Up to the date
of this report, no options have been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Contracts of Significance
with Controlling Shareholders” and “Connected Transactions” in this
Report of the Directors and “Material Related Party Transactions” in
Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report,
and the contracts amongst group companies, no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or any entities
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the financial year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below and in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” in this Report of the Directors and the section headed
“Material Related Party Transactions” in Note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report, there were no other contracts
of significance between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and a
controlling Shareholder or any its subsidiaries subsisting at the end of
the year or at any time during the financial year.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

On 25 January 2019, the Company entered into the unlisted long-term
convertible securities subscription agreement with Forever Top, the
Controlling Shareholder, pursuant to which the Company has
conditionally agreed to issue, and Forever Top has conditionally agreed
to subscribe for the 2019 LCS. On 4 June 2019, the issuance of the 2019
LCS with the principal amount of HK$568 million to the Forever Top
was completed. The 2019 LCS would be convertible into 4,544,000,000
new Shares upon full conversion of the 2019 LCS based on the initial
Conversion Price of HK$S0.125 per conversion share. The Conversion
Price represents a premium of approximately 8.7% over the closing
price of HK$0.115 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 25
January 2019, being the date on which the terms of the 2019 LCS were
fixed. The coupon rate of the 2019 LCS is 2.0% per annum and payable
quarterly. The 2019 LCS is convertible into ordinary Shares at any time
during the period from the date of the issue of the 2019 LCS up to the
close of business on the maturity date, subject to the conversion
restrictions. The maturity date of the 2019 LCS is the end of the tenth
year from date of the issue of the 2019 LCS and all of the remaining
outstanding 2019 LCS shall be redeemed by the Company at 100% of
the outstanding principal amount of the 2019 LCS together with any
interest accrued but unpaid thereon. The net price per conversion
share was approximately HKS$0.125. Details of the 2019 LCS are set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 25 January 2019 and 4
June 2019, and the 2019 Circular.

On 27 January 2021, the Company and Forever Top entered into the
2021 LCS Subscription Agreement, pursuant to the 2021 LCS
Subscription Agreement, the Company has conditionally agreed to
issue, and the Controlling Shareholder has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, the 2021 LCS. The principal amount of the 2021 LCS is
HKS$200 million. The initial conversion price is HK$0.068 per the new
Share to be issued upon exercise of the conversion rights under the
2021 LCS. The coupon rate is 2.0% per annum and payable quarterly.
The maturity date of the 2021 LCS is the end of tenth year from date of
the issue of the 2021 LCS. On the maturity date, all of the remaining
outstanding 2021 LCS will be redeemed by the Company at 100% of
the outstanding principal amount of the 2021 LCS together with any
interest accrued but unpaid thereon. The 2021 LCS is convertible into
Shares at any time during the period from the date of the issue of the
2021 LCS up to the close of business on the maturity date, subject to
the conversion restrictions. The Company may at any time on or after
the date of issue of the 2021 LCS by giving not less than ten business
days’ written notice to the holder of the 2021 LCS to redeem all or part
of the 2021 LCS at the outstanding principal amount of the 2021 LCS
together with all accrued but unpaid interest. Details of the 2021 LCS
are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 27 January
2021 and the circular of the Company dated 2 March 2021. The 2021
LCS Subscription Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder were approved by the independent Shareholders on 23
March 2021,
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

On 21 January 2022, HKC (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company), as the borrower, entered into a loan agreement with
Celestial Pioneer Limited (the controlling shareholder of Forever Top
and is wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng), as the lender. Pursuant to such
loan agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$70 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 2.5% per
annum.

On 4 April 2022, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$50 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 3.0% per
annum.

On 28 June 2022, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$50 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 3.0% per
annum.

On 24 August 2022, HKC as the borrower entered into a said loan
agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to
such loan agreement, the borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$80 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 3.0% per
annum.

On 8 November 2022, HKC as the borrower entered into a said loan
agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to
such loan agreement, the borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$50 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 3.0% per
annum.

ERBEBEANBRIA ZZBE-=ZFFH
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year was the Company, any of its
subsidiaries, its holding company or any subsidiary of such holding
company a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, none of the Directors
(other than Independent Non-executive Directors) are considered to
have interests in the businesses which compete or are likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly with the business of the Group
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director is entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all costs, charges, expenses, losses
and liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution and/or discharge of his/her duties and/or the exercise of his/
her powers and/or otherwise in relation to or in connection with his/
her duties, powers or office, to the extent as permitted by laws.

The Company has maintained director’s liability insurance throughout
the year, which provides appropriate cover for the Directors and the
directors of the subsidiaries of the Company for indemnifying their
liabilities arising out of corporate activities.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Employees in Hong Kong who are eligible will participate in the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”), which is not
operated by the Group, with terms as stipulated by the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority. The contributions from employer
and each of the employees respectively are subject to a cap of
HKS$1,500 per month and thereafter contributions are voluntary. The
Group will provide voluntary top-up benefits to employees in Hong
Kong receiving a monthly basic salary exceeding the statutory limits
prescribed by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Except for the Group's
employer voluntary contributions, no forfeited contributions under the
MPF Scheme are available to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Employees in PRC who are eligible will participate in the defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit
Scheme”) organised by the relevant local government authorities in
the PRC. The Group is required to make contributions to the Retirement
Benefit Scheme at a certain rate of the standard wages determined by
the relevant authorities in the PRC during the year. No forfeited
contributions under the Retirement Benefit Scheme are available to
reduce the existing level of contributions.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were neither
contributions forfeited under the MPF Scheme and Retirement Benefit
Scheme which may be used by the Group to reduce the existing and
future contribution nor had there been any utilisation of such forfeited
contributions to reduce the existing and future contributions (2022:
same). There was no accumulated forfeited contribution available as at
31 December 2023 for such use by the Group (2022: same).
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DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21 OF THE
LISTING RULES

On 19 March 2019, HKC as borrower, and the Company, as guarantor,
confirmed the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank (the
“Lender”), as the lender, in respect of, among other things, a
HK$400,000,000 revolving loan facility (the “Revolving Loan Facility”)
being subject to review at any time and in any event not less than
annually by the Lender; and on 15 March 2019, the Company, as
applicant, (together with HKC, the “Borrowers”) confirmed the acceptance
of a facility letter issued by the Lender in respect of a HK$33,830,000
performance bond facility (the "Performance Bond Facility”) with a
maximum tenor of five years being subject to review at any time.

On 24 March 2023, HKC accepted a renewed and revised offer from the
Lender in respect of the Revolving Loan Facility to revise, among
others, the limit of the Revolving Loan Facility from HK$400,000,000 to
HK$295,000,000. Such limit is subject to review by the Lender at any
time and in any event not less than annually. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 24 March 2023 for details.

Pursuant to the facility letters in relation to both the Revolving Loan
Facility and the Performance Bond Facility (as renewed from time to
time), the Borrowers have undertaken that Forever Top, the Controlling
Shareholder, would (i) hold greater than 35% of the total number of
the issued Shares and (i) be the single largest Shareholder of the
Company. In the event of a breach of the aforesaid covenant, the
Lender has the right to suspend, withdraw or make demand in respect
of the whole or any part of the respective facilities made available to
the relevant Borrower at any time or determine whether or not to
permit drawings in relation to the respective facilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the above specific
performance obligations under the Revolving Loan Facility and the
Performance Bond Facility have been complied with. Details of the
transactions were set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 17 April 2018 and 18 December 2018.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the following connected transactions during the
financial year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report:

On 9 January 2023, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$80 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 5.0% per
annum.

On 3 April 2023, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$80 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 5.0% per
annum.

On 25 May 2023, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$80 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 5.0% per
annum.

On 2 August 2023, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$80 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 5.0% per
annum.

On 18 September 2023, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan
agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to
such loan agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan
with a principal amount of HK$80 million for a term of three years from
the date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 5.0% per
annum.

ERBEBEANBRIA ZZBE-=ZFFH

REXS
BE-T-=F+- A=t BUMEFEEEAF
RO AREEATHERS -

R-ZE_=ZF—ANB ERERUEBERA) E
Celestial Pioneer Limited ({fE A E R A) 5] L B X ik ©
RIBEZE S - Ll g sk AR AN £ E8 A 80,000,000
BIHEERER g Lt ERRE AR AR
F - WIRFMFES0%ETE °

RZEZ=FMOA=H BHRER ERERA) &
Celestial Pioneer Limited (fE B E X A) F] L EZ % ©
BIEZERHZE - LB R A BB $ 58 /480,000,000
BITHNERKEER B L ER S H BB A=
F - WIRFNES0%ETE °

RZE-_=ZFRA-_+HB  BHEER UEAEBFRA)
i Celestial Pioneer Limited ({EAE A ) AI L Bk sk ©
REBEZE R - L&A IS A& 55 80,000,000
BITHNERFER B L ER R EBRsT A=
F o WIRFFE50%ETE °

RZE-_ZFNA-H BHRER UEAEZRA) &
Celestial Pioneer Limited ({fE B E X A) FI L EZ 5% ©
RIBEZE Sk - il &S AR €58 480,000,000
BIHEEREN 8 LB mE AR AR=
F o WIRFFE50%ETE °

RZBEZ=ZFNA+NH BHREHREAERA)H
Celestial Pioneer Limited ({fE 2B A) 5L EF & ©
RIEZE S - LB R AR R & 58 480,000,000
BITHEEREN 8 Lt ERpE A BRstAR=
F o WIRFNZE50%F 8 °

127



128

i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2023

I_g_epo_g of the Directors
EEEHRES

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

On 21 November 2023, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan
agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to
such loan agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan
with a principal amount of HK$50 million for a term of three years from
the date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 6.0% per
annum.

On 4 January 2024, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$80 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 6.0% per
annum.

On 6 March 2024, HKC as the borrower entered into a loan agreement
with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender. Pursuant to such loan
agreement, the said borrower obtained an unsecured loan with a
principal amount of HK$90 million for a term of three years from the
date of the said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 6.0% per
annum.

As the provision of the above-mentioned loans are conducted on
normal commercial terms or better and are not secured by the assets
of the Group, the transactions contemplated under the loan
agreements are fully exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions

On 10 May 2023, the Company (for itself and on behalf of the Group)
entered into the agreement (the “Master Sales Agreement”) with Chow
Tai Fook Enterprises Limited and its subsidiaries (together the "CTFE
Group”), Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited and its subsidiaries
(together the "CTFJ Group”) and Chow Tai Fook Nominee Limited and
its subsidiaries (together the “CTFN Group”) for the sale of advertising
services (the "advertising services”) by the Group to the respective
members of CTFE Group, CTFJ Group and CTFN Group for three
financial years commencing from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2025, unless terminated earlier in accordance with the terms of the
Master Sales Agreement. Each of CTFE Group and CTFN Group has a
diversified investment portfolio. CTFJ Group has profound experience
and reputation in jewellery business. As part of their promotion
activities to create their brand awareness, the Group will provide the
advertising services through various free television channels and digital
platforms. The Master Sales Agreement will enable the Group to
achieve greater synergies with CTFE Group, CTFJ Group and CTFN
Group.

The fees payable by the respective members of CTFE Group, CTFJ
Group and CTFN Group under the Master Sales Agreement will be
determined after aim’s length negotiations with reference to prevailing
market price and in accordance with the pricing policy of the Group
from time to time.

Dr. Cheng, who is the chairman of the Board, a non-executive Director
and a substantial shareholder of the Company, is a member of the
Cheng family which holds or controls each of CTFE Group, CTFJ Group
and CTFN Group. As such, each of CTFE Group, CTFJ Group and CTFN
Group is treated as a connected person of the Company. Accordingly,
the Advertising Services contemplated under the Master Sales
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Master Sales Agreement, the transactions contemplated
thereunder and the related annual caps were approved by the
independent shareholders at the general meeting of the Company
held on 16 June 2023.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

Details of the above continuing connected transactions were disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 10 May 2023 and the
circular of the Company dated 25 May 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate transaction
amount for the above continuing connected transactions under the
Master Sales Agreement are summarised as follows:

REXS @

BFERERSZ @)
TRBERES S FENARTAMA_E-=FF
A+TBHRAERARRBRHA-_SE-_=ZFRAA_-+H
B 038 (R R o

BHE_ZT_=F+_A=+—H  Lll@HEHHEE
THEBEXSNRZEBHRMAT :

Aggregate

transaction
amount Annual cap
for the for the year
year ended ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2023
BZE

BZE —=2-=
—E-=F +t=H=+-—H
+=—HA=+—H LEFEZ
LEERFHERA FE LR
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET THET
(1) Master Sales Agreement (1) HBEEHR

Amount received/receivables by the Group REFED Y TEK S EE 9,795 20,000

The price and terms of the continuing connected transactions
mentioned in (1) have been determined in accordance with the pricing
policies and guidelines as set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 10 May 2023 and the circular of the Company dated
25 May 2023. These continuing connected transactions have been
reviewed by the independent non-executive directors of the Company
who have confirmed that the transactions have been entered into:

(@) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  onnormal commercial terms or better;

(c)  according to the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

shareholders of the Company as a whole; and

(d)  within the caps as set out in the relevant announcement and
circular.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised), Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing
his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group on pages 129 to 131 of the Annual
Report in accordance with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56.

The material related party transactions entered into by the Group during
the financial year ended 31 December 2023 are disclosed in the section
headed “Material Related Party Transactions” in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report. These
transactions include amounts which fall under the definition of
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules with respect to the connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions entered into by the Group during the financial
year ended 31 December 2023.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the financial
year ended 31 December 2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the percentage of the Shares which are in the hands of the
public exceeds 25.0% of the Company’s total number of issued Shares.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group now presented
have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public
Accountants who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment, at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024
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SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION

(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary

(i)

Directors

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry Gswv, GBS (Age: 77)

Dr. Cheng was appointed as the Vice-chairman and a non-
executive Director in September 2017, and re-designated
as the Chairman in November 2021. Dr. Cheng is the
chairman and executive director of New World
Development Company Limited, NWS Holdings Limited
and Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited, and the
chairman and non-executive director of FSE Lifestyle
Services Limited, all of which are listed public companies
in Hong Kong. He was the chairman and a non-executive
director of New World Department Store China Limited
until his resignation in May 2021, which is listed public
companies in Hong Kong. He is a director of Cheng Yu
Tung Family (Holdings) Limited, Cheng Yu Tung Family
(Holdings II) Limited, Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited, Chow
Tai Fook (Holding) Limited, Chow Tai Fook Enterprises
Limited ("CTFE") and Chow Tai Fook Nominee Limited. Dr.
Cheng is also a director of each of Forever Top (the
controlling shareholder of the Company) and Celestial
Pioneer (the controlling shareholder of Forever Top and is
wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng).

Dr. Cheng is the chairman of the Advisory Council for The
Better Hong Kong Foundation. He was a Standing
Committee Member of the Twelfth Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of The People’s Republic
of China. Dr. Cheng was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star
and the Grand Bauhinia Medal in 2001 and 2017,
respectively by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the “HKSAR").

Dr. Cheng is the uncle of the spouse of Mr. Tsang On Yip,
Patrick, an executive Director.
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SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION

(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary
(Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick 5585 (Age: 52)

Mr. Tsang was appointed as a non-executive Director in
September 2017 and re-designated as an executive
Director in November 2021. He was appointed as a Vice-
chairman in November 2021. He is also a member of the
CC. Heis also a director of a subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Tsang is the chief executive officer and director of
CTFE. He is also an executive director of Melbourne
Enterprises Limited and UMP Healthcare Holdings Limited,
and a non-executive director of Giordano International
Limited, SJM Holdings Limited and NWS Holdings Limited,
all of which are listed public companies in Hong Kong. Mr.
Tsang was a non-executive director of Greenheart Group
Limited and Integrated Waste Solutions Group Holdings
Limited, all of which are listed public companies in Hong
Kong, until his retirement from the office in May 2022 and
August 2022 respectively. Mr. Tsang is a director of Cheng
Yu Tung Foundation Limited and Chow Tai Fook (Holding)
Limited, the founder and a director of CTFE Social
Solutions Limited, a governor of Chow Tai Fook Charity
Foundation Limited, a member of Hong Kong Chief
Executive Election Committee, and a vice chairman of
Employers’ Federation of Hong Kong. He has been a
member of the 14th Beijing Municipal Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference since
2023. Mr. Tsang was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in
2023 by the Government of the HKSAR. Mr. Tsang
obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from
Columbia College of Columbia University in New York,
USA. Mr. Tsang is also a director of each of Forever Top (the
controlling shareholder of the Company) and Celestial
Pioneer (the controlling shareholder of Forever Top and is
wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng, a non-executive Director).

Mr. Tsang's spouse is a niece of Dr. Cheng, a non-executive
Director.
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SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION

(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary
(Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng (Age: 44)

Mr. Lie Ken Jie was appointed as a non-executive Director
in July 2019, and re-designated as an executive Director in
November 2021. He is an authorised representative of the
Company (the "Authorised Representative”). He is also a
director of a subsidiary of the Company. He is currently a
senior vice president of CTFE with responsibilities in
making strategic investments globally. He is also a non-
executive director of Greenheart Group Limited which is a
listed public company in Hong Kong. Mr. Lie Ken Jie holds
a Master's degree in Finance and a Master’s degree in Civil
Engineering, both from Imperial College London in the
United Kingdom. He is also a director of Forever Top, the
controlling shareholder of the Company.

Mr. TO Chi Hak (Age: 60)

Mr. To was appointed as an executive Director in May 2023
and as the Chief Executive Officer in June 2023. He is also a
director of the subsidiaries and consolidated structured
entities of the Company. He is a seasoned media executive
with over 30 years of experience in television, publication
and radio industry in Mainland China and Hong Kong. He
has served controller and management roles covering a
wide range of media functions from programming and
acquisition, production management of documentary,
variety and drama projects, to sales and marketing for over
a quarter-century. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. To was
the deputy general manager of Television Broadcasts
Limited from July 2016 to August 2021, and the Chief of
Viu Originals of PCCW Services Limited primarily
responsible for organising and producing drama series for
the regional over-the-top (OTT) service Viu and Hong
Kong broadcaster Viu TV from September 2021 to January
2023. Mr. To graduated from the University of Hong Kong
in 1985 with a bachelor's degree in social science.

ERBEBEANBRIA ZZBE-=ZFFH

UNGIEE - X0 )

(A) EE - - SREEBRLAMEZEHN

(%)

)

B

FEMERE (1458)

FREAENR _T-NFLRAEZERIK
HITES YR —F+—AfATA
HITEE - WAARARERR ([RER
K1) - BHBAAR —HMBEBRRZEE -
RBERBAREBELESARES AEEH
REERE - WITR/EL LT RARABERL
SEERARINFNTES - FRIELE
FERBERATEERSHMBRTEM R
TARIRBELEM - WIFARR AR
RKFT2ESE -

H2Rm%EE (6057)

MEER-_TE-_=FhHABZEANITE
ERRZE=FNAEZEEITBBE -
BIHABRABINBAR RS EHIEEE
EFRAERKBITHAE RPER
WEREBNER HREEETEESS
FEH - EBE-THFREETEER
%oOREBERZEERE BESMERER
R okl SEHE REBEEMNE
EER - AEMBREH - IMAKREEF -
MEEBR_ZE—RFLtAEZZ=_—%F
NAEAEREREERAFEELEE I
MN-E-—FHAE-T-=F—F#EF
PCCW Services Limited & T Chief of Viu
Originals ' T Z A B AR OB AL ASRIE
MEARKOMBHEVIUEEBERERQF
Vi TVEEBREESERB &S - HAEER
—NNRAFEERETBARE  BELgR

CEET TR

135



136

i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2023

I_g_epo_g of the Directors
EEEHRES
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(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary
(Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis (Age: 47)
Dr. Luk was appointed as an executive Director in May
2023. Dr. Luk joined the Group in April 2020 and is
currently a director of the content development division
of a subsidiary of the Company.

Dr. Luk is the head of external affairs of CTFE. Prior to his
current appointment at CTFE, he was an assistant to the
chairman of the board of directors of New World
Development Company Limited, a listed public company
in Hong Kong. Dr. Luk also served as a principal researcher
at Hong Kong Ideas Centre and a senior researcher at the
Central Policy Unit of the Government of the HKSAR.

Dr. Luk has been appointed by the Government of the
HKSAR as a member of the Barristers Disciplinary Tribunal
Panel, the Mental Health Review Tribunal, the Appeal
Tribunal Panel (Buildings), the Municipal Services Appeals
Board and the District Fight Crime Committee (Yau Tsim
Mong District). Dr. Luk is a founder and a director of CTFE
Social Solutions, the philanthropic arm of CTFE that is
committed to providing innovative solutions in response
to society’s challenges. Dr. Luk is a fellow of the Royal
Geographical Society with the Institute of British
Geographers in the United Kingdom and holds a Doctor of
Philosophy degree from the University of Oxford.
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I_g_epo_g of the Directors
EEEHRES

SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION

(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary
(Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica (Age: 45)

Ms. Ng was appointed as a non-executive Director in July
2019. She is an executive director, the executive vice
chairman, chief executive officer and a member of the
executive committee of South China Financial Holdings
Limited whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, and the executive vice chairman of South
China Media group.

She is also a non-executive director of South China
Holdings Company Limited whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and an executive
director and the executive vice chairman of South China
Assets Holdings Limited whose shares were listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange and were delisted on GEM of the
Stock Exchange in March 2022.

She holds a Bachelor's degree in Law from King's College
London, University of London in the United Kingdom and
was admitted to the Hong Kong Bar in 2006. She is an
associate member of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants, a member of 12th Hebei
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference and a standing committee
member of the 13th Hebei Provincial Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.

Ms. Ng is the daughter of Mr. Ng Hung Sang, who,
together with his spouse and companies controlled by
him, is interested in approximately 10.08% of the total
number of issued Shares.
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(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary
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(i)

Directors (Continued)

Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey csv, Gss, Jp (Age: 72)

Mr. Lam was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in September 2017. He is also the chairman and a
member of the CC and a member of the NC. Mr. Lam
holds a bachelor degree in mechanical engineering from
Tufts University in the United States. He has over 40 years
of experience in the manufacturing industry and is
currently the managing director of Forward Winsome
Industries Limited which is engaged in toy manufacturing.

Mr. Lam is an independent non-executive director of
Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited, C C Land
Holdings Limited, China Overseas Grand Oceans Group
Limited, Wynn Macau Limited, CWT International Limited,
Wing Tai Properties Limited, Analogue Holdings Limited
and CSC Holdings Limited, all of which are listed public
companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Lam was an executive
director of Hong Kong Aerospace Technology Group
Limited (now known as USPACE Technology Group
Limited) a listed public company in Hong Kong, until his
resignation in November 2023.

Mr. Lam is a non-official member of the Executive Council
and a member of the Legislative Council in Hong Kong. He
also holds a number of other public and community
service positions including being a general committee
member of the Hong Kong General Chamber of
Commerce, member of HKSAR Advisory Committee on
the Northern Metropolis, and a member of the board of
directors of Heifer International-Hong Kong.
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SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION
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(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary
(Continued)

(i)

Directors (Continued)

Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman Gss, Jr (Age: 70)

Prof. Hu, B.Sc, FCIBSE, FHKIE, MIEEE, C. Eng., has been an
independent non-executive Director since April 2012. He
is also the chairman of the NC and a member of each of
the NC, AC and CC. He is the chairman of Ryoden
Development Limited. Prof. Hu has been re-elected as a
Deputy to the 14th National People’s Congress of the
People’s Republic of China. He is the vice-chairman of The
Chinese General Chamber of Commerce, Hong Kong. He
is also a general committee member and chairman of
Mainland China Committee of the Employers’ Federation
of Hong Kong, the Vice-President of the Sports Federation
& Olympic Committee of Hong Kong, China, an Honorary
Court Member of The Hong Kong University of Science &
Technology, a member of the Election Committee of the
HKSAR and the Vice Patron of The Community Chest of
Hong Kong. He was awarded the Honour of Silver Bauhinia
Star (SBS) and Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS) by the Government
of the HKSAR on 30 June 2017 and 1 July 2023
respectively.
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(i)

Directors (Continued)

Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger 855, /r (Age: 72)

Mr. Luk, FHKIB, has been an independent non-executive
Director since September 2010. He also serves as the
chairman of the AC and a member of each of the AC, CC
and NC. He has over 30 years of comprehensive
experience in accounting and financial management. He
joined Hang Seng Bank in 1975, became the bank's
director and deputy chief executive in 1994 and then
became managing director and deputy chief executive of
the bank in 1996 until his retirement in May 2005. Mr. Luk
is an independent non-executive director of two
companies publicly listed in Hong Kong, namely, Hung
Hing Printing Group Limited and Harbour Centre
Development Limited. Mr. Luk was formerly an
independent non-executive director of Wheelock
Properties Limited (formerly a listed public company until
it became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wheelock and
Company Limited in July 2010) from February 2008 to July
2010, China Properties Group Limited (formerly a listed
public company in Hong Kong until it was delisted in
August 2023) from February 2007 to June 2023 and
Computime Group Limited (a listed public company in
Hong Kong) from September 2006 to September 2023. Mr.
Luk also served in the past on the Court and Council of
Hong Kong Baptist University, the Advisory Committee on
New Broad-based Taxes, the Personal Data (Privacy)
Advisory Committee, the Central Policy Unit of the Hong
Kong Government, the Statistics Advisory Board, the
Broadcasting Authority, the Advisory Committee and the
Investor Education Advisory Committee of the Securities
and Futures Commission, the Barristers Disciplinary
Tribunal Panel, the Operations Review Committee of ICAC,
the Town Planning Board and the council of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He was an appointed member of
the Hong Kong Legislative Council from 1992 to 1995, a
member of the first Election Committee of the Legislative
Council and a non-executive director (non-official) of
Urban Renewal Authority.

Mr. Luk graduated with a Bachelor of Social Sciences
Degree in Statistics from The University of Hong Kong and
also holds a Master of Business Administration Degree
granted by The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a
fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers. He is also a
Non-official Justice of the Peace and was awarded the
honour of Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2004 in recognition of
his contributions to public services.
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I_g_epoE of the Directors
EEEHRES

SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION REHREER @)
(Continued)
(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior (A) EE  SAEEBRATGMEZEHN
Management and Company Secretary (%)
(Continued)
(i) Directors (Continued) (i) =S @
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman (Age: 66) SEREE (665%)
Mr. Tang has been appointed an independent non- BEEE T —NF—AREZTERE
executive Director since January 2014. He is also a member FATEF BT REZZEGHE -
of the AC. He holds a Master degree in Electrical BEEHEMNAEEHK TIRSE T2
Engineering and a degree of Doctor in Medicine from the RBEELTEMN SFLEERBEREAMNE
University of Southern California, the United States of REER - RNREREBEZE  WYEER
America. Mr. Tang is a seasoned entrepreneur in the EEFEAS —THEER BB
hospitality industry and has over 20 years of experience in EREE  BEEELMARRAINEES
investment and operation of restaurants, cafes and bars. RAR GAEEEIERERAR)NERR
He is the founder and owner of the Epicurean Group and THEH BERZE—R"F+—HBfF-

also served as the chairman and chief executive officer of
Epicurean and Company, Limited (now known as StarGlory
Holdings Company Limited), a listed public company in
Hong Kong, until his resignation in November 2016.

(i) Senior Management (il SREEE
Mr. TO Chi Hak, Chief Executive Officer (Age: 60) MZREE  7TEAH (605%)
Mr. To was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer in MEER T -_=—FNAEZTATHE
June 2023. For the details of Mr. To's biographical details, H-BEMETENBREFE #2HLX

please refer to the “(i) Directors” above. [(WEE]—E&-
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(Continued)

(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior
Management and Company Secretary
(Continued)

(ii)

Senior Management (Continued)

Mr. KWOK Chi Kin, Chief Financial Officer (Age: 47)

Mr. Kwok joined the Group in September 2017 and he is
the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. He is
responsible for the accounting and financial management
and corporate governance and secretarial functions of the
Group. Mr. Kwok obtained his Bachelor of Business
Administration in Finance with First Class Honours from
The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. He
is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered
Governance Professional and an associate member of The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute. He has over 25 years of
experience in auditing, accounting and financial
management, company secretarial practice, and corporate
governance. Prior to joining the Group, he worked for an
international accounting firm and was the chief financial
officer and the company secretary of International
Entertainment Corporation, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, from May 2004 to June 2017.
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I_g_epoE of the Directors
EEEHRES

SUPPLEMENTARY CORPORATE INFORMATION REHREER @)
(Continued)
(A) Biographical Details of Directors, Senior (A) EE SHEEERARAMEZEGN
Management and Company Secretary (%)
(Continued)
(iii) Company Secretary (iiiy ARAWE
Ms. LAU Yee Wa, Company Secretary BligEL L NAlWE
Ms. Lau has been appointed as the company secretary of BBFELLTRELZERARNBRRAWERE
the Company and an Authorised Representative with BRE BZZEZ=F A=+ N\BREE
effect from 28 June 2023. e
Ms. Lau is a director of corporate services of Tricor Services BT R AR EEXNBERATER
Limited, a global professional services provider specialising BEE - Z AR RERUENEERB AR
in integrated business, corporate and investor services. Ms. EPFNRERMHAYT  CERREEGER
Lau has over 20 years of experience in the corporate o B Z TR AR MEBEER B 20FK
secretarial field, and has been providing professional B R—EAEELMARNUREBEREAG -
corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as well FARR RBEF D RIRBEEN D ERT -
as multinational, private and offshore companies. Ms. Lau Rzt AFHWE BHFEAREEAER
is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance BEBERASEAE RERFITARNAER
Professional and an associate of both The Hong Kong T AL TESHERREINERS
Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered T2 o

Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. Ms. Lau
obtained her bachelor of business administrative
management from the University of South Australia.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WIS ERES

i
pwec

To the members of i-CABLE Communications Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of i-CABLE Communications
Limited (the “Company”), its subsidiaries and its consolidated structured
entities (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 155 to 266, comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BB AR E S

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Going concern assessment

Impairment assessment of property, plant & equipment (“PP&E"),
right-of-use assets, programming library and other related
intangible assets
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BIZSERES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FERETEEm@m

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HEETER BANESTNNEEREETSER

Going concern assessment

FREENE

Our audit procedures to assess this key audit matter included the
following:

B % AR ET FENFTRFEEATSIEA

Refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
FLHERE T BWERMTE2 -

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current liabilities of
HKS$452 million and total deficit of HK$1,329 million and during
the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a net
loss of HK$589 million and total operating cash outflows
amounted to HK$287 million. Included in its current liabilities as
at 31 December 2023 was an interest-bearing bank borrowing of
HK$295 million which was immediately repayable on demand
and subject to review at any time and in any event not less than
annually. The Group terminated its pay television operation with
effect from 1 June 2023 upon the approval of application for the
termination of its domestic pay television programme service
licence.

RZZE_=F+-_RA=+—H  E5SEERPEEFHE
452,000,000 7 7T K 48 &5 4t 1,329,000,0008 7T - MR B E =
T_=F+T_A=T—HLLFE EXERGIERE
589,000,00078 T K2 A% ‘& 3 & 7t th 48 %8 287,000,000 8 7T °
=+ A=+t—HB RPEEEFERITE
7X295,000000/8 7T A BRIAARERENKER - B/AK
BRERMA IR —FEXES - REUEAMKES
REERBERBROBFREIL LR EEREB T -_=F
NA—BBKIEREKETHER -

Understanding management’s processes in relation to the
preparation of cash flow forecast and assessing the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and the judgement
involved in preparing the cash flow forecast for the
purpose of going concern assessment;
TREEBEFHURAERERETEANEF  FBE
BEATHEEMNEEERFELLETHRRRS
ME TR K ey # B - A E KRB R E A
[ fz

Discussing with management to understand the key
assumptions used in the cash flow forecast and their
future operation plans in the Forecast Period;
HERENmATREARERSRERBMALN
FERBRRERRELTE
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BI B RE S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
HRESER

These events casted doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. As part of the going concern assessment, the
directors reviewed the Group's cash flow forecast prepared by
management which covered for a period of twelve months from
31 December 2023 (“Forecast Period”) and have taken into
account certain plans and measures as set out in note 2 of the
consolidated financial statements and considered that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on
a going concern basis.

ZEEHS|I B ESRERTHENBELENRE -

ERFBERLETEN -y EFEEHNEREMRR
BMEB_Z_=F+_A=+—HAEstTEAHRE (&
AEEDY EXEBRRERAN WE2ERGEUR
WmARME2PAEEE Tar 8l R - URRIRFELSER
ERFUGEVBRRBEE -

ERBEBEANBRIA ZZBE-=ZFFH

FEEETEE @)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

RANESTNNEEREETER

Challenging the reasonableness of the key assumptions
adopted by management, including the revenue growth
rate, estimated operating expenses by considering the
historical trend, current business plans and approved
budget;

FRERELBY B RESLTEESE
REEEMKAZIZRRX (BREKRERE 16.#
KREBR)MAEN

Enquiring management of the availability of financing
facilities, other recourse to financing and the proposed
fundraising activities and corroborating with relevant
supporting information, including agreements and deeds
of undertaking of financial support;
MEREESAARE  HURESR
EE - WA X ERHERIERE
SR AEGR R

s &@*iﬁ ﬁ
BiE kA
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BIZSERES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) B EST B H ()
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BREIEHE BRPNESNWEERRETEE
As management’s assessment of the going concern basis used - Evaluating the financial capability of Forever Top (Asia)
in the preparation of consolidated financial statements involves Limited (a substantial shareholder holding 43.2%
significant management’s judgements and assumptions, this shareholding of the Company) and its controlling
matter is considered as a key audit matter. shareholder to provide financial support to the Group
HREEEHREGESVBRRAMERFELCERLEDN based on relevant supporting evidence;
AT RERNEREHE RBR  ZFERRABARESE - RBAR X FRE - fEEoKT (M) BR A A (5
TEIE - B BERAIB2KRENETERR) REERKRR

M BEEREREBFOTLE

Evaluating management'’s sensitivity analyses around the
key assumptions in the cash flow forecast to consider the
downside effect of such changes; and
AHEEREHR @ RERNE ERBOHBREIN
NEZRZEZBHN TTTE &

Evaluating the appropriateness of the disclosures relating
to the going concern basis of preparation included in the
consolidated financial statements.

MG BRAAEAAFELCERBUEENR

BRTHY -

Based on our work, we found that the key management’s
judgement and assumptions used in management’s going
concern assessment were supported by the available evidence.
REBRMOTIE BRMZRNEBEEFELETHPRE
AEREREHEG RBRENSEEFR -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
WIS RES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FARETEE@m

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BEMNESFNAEEREETSEHR

REETER

Impairment assessment of PP&E, right-of-use assets, Ouraudit procedures to assess this key audit matter included the
programming library and other related intangible assets

ME BERKRE ERAEEE BATEREMAR

following:

B S X EARET EENETEFEEATEIEA

B EENRER

Refer to Notes 4(b), 14, 15, 16 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.
B2HEETBRERWE40) 141516 %17 °

The Group held various PP&E, right-of-use assets, programming
library and other related intangible assets amounting to HK$589
million (net of impairment) as at 31 December 2023. The Group
recorded a total impairment loss of HK$82 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023, according to the impairment
assessment for these assets.

RZZ_=F+-A=+—H  ESERFEZEME-
BENEE EREEE HREHB REMHEBETLE
B+ &% /3589,0000008 7T (FREE) - REZFEEN
ARG BEEEREBE_FT_=F+-_HA=t+—H1L
F [ 81155 (B /85 18 48 5§ 82,000,000 78 7T °

Management conducts impairment assessments on these assets
if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The impairment assessment is based on the
recoverable amounts of the relevant cash-generating unit
("CGU") to which these assets are allocated.
MEEHRBERESHERAIEHRRAE EEESHZ
FEEETHER G BREFGNDERZTZEEESR
MR EEABN (REELBM ) HATKEISER -

Understanding management’s processes in relation to the
preparation of impairment assessment and assessing the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and the judgement on
key assumptions used in preparing the cash flow forecast
for the purpose of impairment;
THRERBHERRETENER  WHEBERE
WER EREIRSRETR S kb T HEE M2
BARFAEERRNHAL  FEERERRED
BRR

Discussing with the independent external valuer to
understand the valuation approach, methodology and key
assumptions used;

BB SN ER R ERMAETT AT am - A T BEPT AR (ETA -
FERMETZRE

Evaluating the outcome of prior period assessment of
management'’s forecast to assess the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process;
AHEEIRE TR A M AR - AR EE R
B BEn AR

Assessing the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of key assumptions, including discount
rates and long term growth rate, by comparing the
industry comparables, with the involvement of our internal
valuation experts;

FRLEBTE TREEFERFERR (BER
BERERPAERE)NEGEN  ABEHEERTZ
EHA
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BI B RE S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

HREETER

Management determined the recoverable amounts with the
assistance of an independent external valuer, where appropriate.
The recoverable amounts were determined based on the higher
of its value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. The
determination of CGU and recoverable amounts involves
significant judgement and the estimation or forecast of cash
flows of the relevant CGU based on certain key assumptions.
EIREAEB NG EMEO R T (HER) Exr ke
CHE -ABEeEDREEAEAEEREAABERLE
KAZRSEET ErREEFEURAKROEEY
NERHAEGRBEE T EERRXMEAXTAUEERE
EBUNHRSRE -

Significant management’s judgement and assumptions were
involved in the impairment assessment, including forecast
revenue, forecast operating costs, long term growth rate and
discount rate, and hence we considered this is a key audit
matter.

WMERESREREREHE KRR - SFEERRES -
BRALERS RPEREIRBEX At HMRR
It AREg TR EIR -

FEEETTEE @)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BHNESNNEEFEEENSE

Assessing the reasonableness of CGU determination based
on our understanding of the Group’s business and
assessing the reasonableness of forecast revenue and
operating costs by considering the Group's business
development plans, approved budget and our knowledge
of the industry and the Group;

RERME EEEXBNTH FERSELE
UETHAREL WERER ESENEBER
FrE - BHREERRMAETER EEENME
AHETERI S KR S B AN S IR

Checking data input in the discounted cash flow forecasts
to supporting evidence;

75 86 3R IR & 7 B TR R o ) A BUR B SRR R IR AT
X

Evaluating management'’s sensitivity of a reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions adopted in the
discounted cash flow calculation to the recoverable
amounts of the CGU; and
AHEREEHMRREREFEPMRAFERR
Y& 3P A AL B B) U130 & B AR BE i AT U (D) & BR A BURK
B R

Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures relating to the
impairment assessment in the context of applicable
financial reporting standards.

RIZER N BREERNTEERARETHORER
BRRE °

Based on our work, we found that the management’s judgement
and assumptions adopted in the impairment assessment were
supported by the available evidence.

BREHRMOIE ZMBEREBREERENETEAN
H B R RRIE IS BRI HF ©
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BB AR E S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibility of overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

ERBEBEANBRIA ZZBE-=ZFFH

L5 R
ERRMEFAHEMEERR - RMEERETER
FRANAEERS  ETEEESMBERRLEFH
ZEEN RS o
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BIZRE R E S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BRBMRZEA RSN BRRNEM

BANEBER EHSAMBRIBEBESTFEHAR
RFXERMEBNERNERRAMBAERE - I
HABREHMEENREEISRE - HAREREE(A
ARG 40515 - A1 BT (ERER) mEHMNE
R BRUIASN R RIEEM A H) - AT EFA
BENABTREMEMALTE FRAREREE &
BREZSKFORE  BETRRBRR(BERG
ERNETHE  EX - BEAERRATFTEREE
TR o FEARMRAL ] AR ERFF IR RR S - IIRB TR
HEeMEBKERRRAEZEFEVBRRERE
KBRS M B RRTELOEERTE © A BREREER
RO A IRARVEE K o

ERB(ERBETERDETETHNBRES - RIAER
TERAE  RETEREEREE - BT

a8 Bl RN RY i e 0 B RF 288 AR T S BAR A B IS R
RIFEERERRAORR - &R RAITE
BFRFARYELRER ARERERNEE D
BFBRE FAERMABRRNER - X GFA
B RER e FRER ERRAM - F0F
BRAmES 2zt Fib Ree#REARFME
BB ARSFERRM A E R SR AREEREHR
MEMNE A REAA R

TRREBRGABAAMIES  URAEENE
AR EEMAY EREARBIERNE
BEBRRER -

HEESMRASTERNREERFLES
BETAMAER R ERN AR -
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BB AR E S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguard applied.

ERBEBEANBRIA ZZBE-=ZFFH

BREM PR ZBFT FEMBRRNVEE @

HEERAKBECEZSHTERNREEIELAE
e RIBMERNEGE HERSFESR
EEFABRABEANEATHEEE EmAlES
HY BEEENBELERENELERNRE -
MRBRMRASFEEATHEEL AV EE
ZBMBETRFEAEIZFSMBHRRTD
MAABEE BREARNERETRE  RIRFE
ERRFEREBER -BANGEREENEE
iR S H LTS M BJAHRE - R - RKF
RABERAEEER ERETRIEELE -

FESEVBRRNBRIH SN  EBNA
B BREE URBAMBERREETER
BREZ S FISEIA o

. EEREABERIEHEINTHESER
R BENETERR  AEHESMBEHRER
BERER-BMARE EKEHEFNTR EE
M#TT - RABBEFBERABEZ2SPRE -

BREMEIRN  RFREZZEQER T EINER
#HE KEZHE EAEARRS  BERMES
o 38l P AR ) B (R R EE R ER B

BATAEZZESRRIEH  HARMECHEEMR
BYEMHERERERER  YEMFMBEREAES
B RAETERMBLIENMEBERNELMER -
REREBBROBERT  BBREB I EEEREN
TTENSIRER RO 45 06 ©

153



154  i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2023

Independent Auditor’s Report
WIS ERES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDITOF BB HZ B RS W B BN EE @
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we {EBZZ B BEAMNEIEF  KPIETHLEEY
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of ~ANEIGA M BRERNBARAEE - AMEKBEE
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 5t 78 o HMEXERI R E P IMAE L EIE - [BRIFE
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our EERTAFLAFABEEELEE  EBKFERLNE
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure T * (1 RGEFEHAERMREST EBESHEKN
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we B HEERBBEEEMN AR @ RIPRETNEERS
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report ~ F B BZETH o

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent A ZAB I ZHAIHRENEFTHE AR ABMKRSES -
auditor's report is Chan Ka Yee.

PricewaterhouseCoopers B KEGTEERKA
Certified Public Accountants BEEEED

Hong Kong, 22 March 2024 BE ZEMF=HA=+=H



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

FEREmR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_T_ =+t _A=t+—HLFE

ERREBAERAE

—B-=xER

2023 2022
—EB-=F — -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F#E T
(restated)
(#=&E75)
Continuing operations BFEREER
Revenue N 6,7 597,898 562,794
Cost of services i[OI N
— Programming costs — &7 B RUEK AR (396,988) (323,310)
— Network expenses — R EA (255,649) (210,706)
— Cost of sales — HEKAR (163,410) (152,898)
Selling, general and administrative and HE - —& TR
other operating expenses Hangs & A (209,617) (201,727)
Loss from operations REER (427,766) (325,847)
Interest income F B A 749 1,111
Finance costs BEEH (83,547) (55,561)
Non-operating expenses, net LR FE (4,060) (55,456)
Loss before taxation BRBAIEE 8 (514,624) (435,753)
Income tax A BT 9@) (32,940) (187,627)
Loss from continuing operations FELE X EE (547,564) (623,380)
Discontinued operation ERIEKEEK
Loss from discontinued operation BRI EEKEE 10 (41,710) (262,338)
Loss for the year FREE (589,274) (885,718)
Attributable to: FEfh
Equity shareholders of the Company Vi NN - ) ) (589,274) (885,718)
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FEEmR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_ =+t _A=t+—HILFE

2022
==
(restated)
(F&E5)
Loss per share BEREE 13
From continuing and discontinued REFELER
operations BRI ETE
Basic HAK (8.3)HKcents | (12.4) HK cents
B4l Al
Diluted BEE (8.3)HKcents | (12.4) HK cents
B4l Al
From continuing operations REFELSEEK
Basic R (7.7) HK cents (8.7) HK cents
p=2 1] Al
Diluted HEE (7.7) HK cents (8.7) HK cents
B4l Al
From discontinued operation RECKRILEREEK
Basic HIA (0.6) HK cents (3.7) HK cents
B4l Il
Diluted gk (0.6) HK cents (3.7) HK cents
=2 1] Al
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

GEE2EKER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_T_ =+t _A=t+—HLFE

2023 2022
—E=HF —F-—
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FTER FHET
(restated)
(F &%)
Loss for the year FRER (589,274) (885,718)
Other comprehensive income for the year FREMEZEKE
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to HEn gt B D E B A

profit or loss: HE :

Currency translation difference BT EER (14) 100
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEKEHEE (589,288) (885,618)
Attributable to: PG

Equity shareholders of the Company RN T RERIRR

— Continuing operations — BEREER (547,578) (623,280)

— Discontinued operation — BRI EER (41,710) (262,338)

(589,288) (885,618)
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EEMBIRIR

As at 31 December 2023
RZZEZ=F+=-RA=+—H

2023 2022
—E=HF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB REE 14 393,219 457,567
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 194,248 9,655
Programming library HAEAE 16 - 11,075
Other intangible assets EmErEE 17 1,218 2,661
Contract acquisition costs G KU P AR 4,248 3,683
Deferred tax assets EEFRIBE B 27(b) 69,551 102,144
Deposits, prepayments and Ze - BNEZRKE
other receivables Ho b e UK 31,154 34,132
693,638 620917
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 5B 19 3,416 6,473
Trade receivables and contract assets EREXEREREENEE 20 120,203 106,219
Deposits, prepayments and e ENERK
other receivables L E R 46,007 41,565
Contract acquisition costs G U PR AR 6,534 6,102
Financial assets at fair value through BEARBEFABEDN
profit or loss SREE 21 34,392 40,081
Restricted bank balances PR B SR1T 45 65 22 12,050 16,550
Cash and bank balances e MIBTES 22 28,919 41,587
251,521 258,577
Total assets mEE 945,159 879,494
EQUITY Rz
Capital and reserves BERK#E
Share capital [N 26(c) 7,928,975 7,928,975
Reserves & (9,257,792) (8,668,504)
Total deficit R A (1,328,817) (739,529)




EEMBIRIR

As at 31 December 2023
RZZEZ=F+=RA=+—H

ERREBAERAE

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

—Eo=fEH

2023 2022
—E-=fF
HK$'000 HKS /000
TER T
LIABILITIES =N
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Convertible bonds A RIE 5 25 572,005 546,040
Interest-bearing borrowings HEER 24 746,035 296,035
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 225,169 7,820
Other non-current liabilities HM3ERBEE 26,969 21,373
1,570,178 871,268
Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables JE - & AR K 23 85,486 50,278
Accrued expenses and other payables TEIRE A R H A FE TR 23 234,879 247316
Receipts in advance and customers’ FEWEREEE
deposits ®’e 23 83,538 117,811
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEN 24 295,000 295,000
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 4,815 37,258
Current tax liabilities EHNEaE 27() 80 92
703,798 747,755
Total liabilities mafmE 2,273,976 1,619,023
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 945,159 879,494

The notes on pages 164 to 266 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 22

March 2024.

F164E 206 B 2 MIFEARGE P BERENEK TS -

E_ME=A-_+-_ARBREEEN

Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry
MRAEL BRESLE
Director Director

EF EF

Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick



160 i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2023

Consq!idated Statement of Changes in Equity
SEEREBEER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-A=+—HLLEE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
EARARZRREED

Equity
component
of
Share Capital Exchange Accumulated convertible Total Total

capital reserve reserve losses bonds  reserves deficit
CIE: )
&%
kA& ERfRE SNERE RSER BER¥2 RELEE 254
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEr TEx TEx TEx TEx TExT  TE=n

Balance at 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=f-f-H
33 7,928,975 13,985 3,128 (9,054,508) 368,891 (8,668,504) (739,529)
Loss for the year FREE - - - (589,274) - (589,274) (589,274)
Other comprehensive income Ht2EHa - - (14) - - (14) (14)

Total comprehensive income FREHKEEE
for the year - - (14)  (589,274) - (589,288) (589,288)

Balance at 31 December 2023 R-ZBE-=%+-A=1+-H
A 13 7,928,975 13,985 3,114 (9,643,782) 368,891 (9,257,792) (1,328,817)
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Consq!idated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEEREBEER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-T-_=F+-A=+—HLLEE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
ARAEERREEDD

Equity
component
Share of Total
Share Capital  Exchange  Accumulated option  convertible Total equity/

capital reserve reserve osses reserve bonds reserves (deficit)
QRS
RiRiE %
BE  EAfEE  SMNERE RHER W Ea¥y RELE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TEr  ThRxr  TEr  TEx  TErx  TEx THER

Balance at 1 January 2022 W=E2--%-HF-H

Ao 7928975 13,985 3028 (8,186,258) 17468 368891 (7,7828%6) 146,089
Loss for the year FRER - - - (885718) - - (885718)  (885719)
Other comprehensiveincome b2 Mz = - 100 = = = 100 100

Total comprehensiveincome ~ £R2HANBEE
for the year - - 100 (885718) - - (885,018) (885618)

Transactions with owners BREAZRS
Transfer of reserve upon lapse BRI K O EE
of share option @& = = = 17468 (17468) = = =

Total transactions withowners EEEAZRFHE - - - 17468 (17.468) = = =

Balanceat31December2022 R=-ZF-—%£+-fA=+-H
A3 ] 7928975 13,985 3128 (9,054,508) - 368,891 (8,668,504) (739,529




162

i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2023

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

A e~ —1
GERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE-ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE

Cash flows from operating activities

REFHELENRER

2023
—E-=fF

HK$’000
FEx

2022

HK$'000
TAET

Loss before taxation from BRELATES 1B

Continuing operations BEREER (514,624) (435,753)

Discontinued operation BRI EER (41,710) (262,338)

(556,334) (698,091)

Adjustments for: HE
Finance costs BEER 83,547 55,561
Interest income FEHBA (749) (1,111)
Depreciation weE 99,994 207,344
Amortisation of programming library HRE B 25,654 48228
Amortisation of other intangible assets HfhfE & E R 1,104 4,064
Amortisation of contract acquisition costs B H) W P AN B8R 13,297 13,672
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment #1% « = & 3% &8 (B & 18 46,195 138,884
Impairment losses on right-of-use assets ERREEEREEE 4,217 34,382
Impairment losses on programming library A BIREBE 28,562 55924
Impairment losses on other intangible assets Hi I\ & EREE R 3,058 5138
Impairment losses on contract acquisition costs BRI AR EEE - 6,526
Net gain on disposal of property, HEWME  WERE#HZ

plant and equipment W& 558 (813) (96)
Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value BARBEFTABENESRMEERN

through profit or loss NABEEBE 5,689 55,655
Net loss allowance on trade receivables FEU & S IR R B 1B B B F 58 3,009 7,087
(Reversal of write down)/write down of inventories 75 & (iUt B [E1),/ #URL (694) 1,692
Gain on modification of lease contracts BEIHES K 2 W (1) (13)
Operating loss before changes in R AR EBEESEHHILEER

working capital (244,265) (65,154)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERLD, (3 m) 3,751 (1,302)
Increase in trade receivables and contract assets JEUR & R N A 4B EE N (16,559) (5,275)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits, prepaymentsand 32 & ~ TENT BR 3% E b JE UK

other receivables (3gm), m (4,986) 7,952
Increase in contract acquisition costs paid B A 49U BB R AN 3 0 (14,294) (13,662)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables JERT & EBRTIE I, CRd) 35,003 (7,335)
Decrease in accrued expenses and other payables  TE12 & F & H b fE 15 FUR 2 (6,098) (2,960)
(Decrease)/increase in receipts in advance and FEWERNREEIRS CRL), /18

customers’ deposits (34,713) 2,598




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—Z-_=F+"A=+—RIFE

ERREBAERAE

—B-=xER

2023 2022
—E-=fF ==
HK$'000 HKS'000
TER FHT
Cash flows used in operations KEFTANESR (282,161) (85,138)
Tax paid [EENERE (359) (253)
Interest element of lease payments HERFAEEBH (4,727) (3,519)
Netcashusedinoperatingactivities =~ EE=EBFAMRERE® | @827 (®8910)
Cash flows from investing activities RETHELENRER
Net payment for acquisition of subsidiaries, W RE BT B A B BUF R 32
net of cash acquired (MBRATNERS) (4,682) =
Purchase of property, plant and equipment Eﬁ/\f’F@% B &R (76,753) (114,187)
Additions to programming library R E B (40,362) (48,549)
Additions to other intangible assets WAEMELEE (2,619) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEME - HERZE
plant and equipment FriS k18 4,038 209
Interest received =S 689 1,127
Netcashusedininvestingactivities === BREBMANASHE | (19689 | (161,400)
Cash flows from financing activities BETBHELENEESR
Drawdown of interest-bearing borrowings R EER 28 450,000 300,000
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings EETEERK 28 - (3,965)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank balances 2R #I$R 1745 8208 4 (18 0N) 4,500 (6,000)
Principal elements of lease payments HENRAEEH D 28 (18,826) (41,108)
Finance costs paid EfmESH (41,486) (27,121)
LCseditenfivelgesiiis Ll b9 R el S
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERBRESZEBEYRL FBHE (12,748) (28,504)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—B—HzRERERELZEEY 41,587 70,162
Effect of foreign exchange rates changes NEERSEH 2 F 80 (71)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December RA+-A=+—HA2Z2RER
REZEY 28,919 41,587
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e MBRRMEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

i-CABLE Communications Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The address of its
registered office in Hong Kong is 7th Floor, Cable TV Tower, 9 Hoi
Shing Road, Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company, its subsidiaries and consolidated structured
entities (together the “Group”) are engaged in domestic free
television programme service, advertising, television relay
service, programme licensing, theatrical release, other media
related businesses, broadband internet access services, portal
operation, telephony services, network leasing, network
construction, mobile service and mobile agency service as well
as other telecommunications related businesses. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group discontinued its domestic
pay television programme service business as detailed in Note
10. Accordingly, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 December 2022 has been re-presented.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 are presented in thousands of Hong Kong
dollars (HK$'000), unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved by
the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company on 22 March 2024.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), which
are measured at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed
in Note 4 below.

—REH

EREBBAERAF (AAT]) R—RR
EAEMRIMERAT - HEBEMPER
it AEBERERBENRERBRALLE -

ARRHBNEBEREMEXZMAERRA
(M XpRl) £7 e

AAR -HNBRARREGEAZEBEERE (KT
(REE|)KLEABAMEEETREE R -
B - EREERG - 6B SR - BT
HnE R RS - T8 EARA - BuhaTiE -
TR  BEAE  BERER  REEINRS
MRS EERERBUALREMEARBER -
BE-_ZTZ-_=#+-_A=+—HILEE "
AREBRIEAWWBEBSHREN B RISES - #15
B0 @At BHE-_T-_—F+-_A=1+—
ALEFENGEBERRREAEEUREREE
T

BREBEBRIN BE_T_=F+_H=1+—
BUEFEZGEAMBERRATETZS

ZEREMBERRER _E_NF=A_+=
BmArrER(EE)g((EFg)HE-

mBLE A

AR RNIEREBSSHAMASEMNE
B EREEN((EEFBEREER ] REE
NEHEPI BN EREMBE - BRIZAREER
A= ([BEARBEFARRZ NepEER
ARAEBEFEIN ZEREYBERRNDZESL
BRAEHIRE -

RAETABEVMBREENNGRAVBHRERE
EBRETHRS AT EEERNERAESHE
B BOR B RRME L HE - F K= E ) H B X
SEEME P RHBBRRBEANRR
RiEE 2 BBN T X4 E -
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group incurred a
net loss of HK$589 million (2022: HK$886 million). As at 31
December 2023, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by HK$452 million (31 December 2022: HK$489
million) and total deficit amounted to HKS1,329 million (31
December 2022: HK$740 million). Total operating cash outflows
amounted to HK$287 million (2022: HK$89 million) and total
cash outflows amounted to HK$13 million during the year (2022:
total cash outflows of HK$29 million). Included in the Group's
current liabilities was an interest-bearing bank borrowing of
HKS$295 million which is immediately repayable on demand and
subject to review at any time and in any event not less than
annually. Besides the banking facility, the Group has received
financing from time to time from Forever Top (Asia) Limited
(“Forever Top”), a substantial shareholder holding 43.2% equity
interests of the Company, through rights issue and issue of long-
term convertible bonds in June 2019 and March 2021 to improve
the Group’s liquidity. Up to 31 December 2023, the controlling
shareholder of Forever Top has advanced unsecured 3-year
interest-bearing loans totalling HK$750 million to the Group, of
which HK$450 million was advanced to the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2023. Subsequent to the year end, in
January and March 2024, the controlling shareholder of Forever
Top further advanced unsecured 3-year interest-bearing loans
totalling HK$170 million to the Group.

In view of such circumstances, the Directors have given careful
consideration of the liquidity requirement for the Group's
operations, the performance of the Group and available sources
of financing in assessing whether the Group has sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. The Directors
have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast prepared by
management which covers a period of twelve months from 31
December 2023. The Directors have taken into account the
following plans and measures in assessing the sufficiency of
working capital requirements in the foreseeable future:

1. The Group's banking facility was renewed in March 2023
and the outstanding loan balance of HK$295 million has
been rolled over, which will continue to be subject to the
clause of the bank’s overriding right to demand
repayment;

mBEE (@)

BHE_T-__F+-_A=+—HILtEE K&
B &% 18 % /548 589,000,000/ L (T T =~ —F :
886,000000/7T) c M E-_=F+-_A=+—
H AEENRDEERERHEERA
4520000008 T (ZE=-=—¢+=-_A=+—8:
489,000,000 7 JT) K 42 /&5 4l & 1,329,000,000 7 7T
(ZZE=Z=ZF+=A=+—8 : 740,000,000 % JT) °
NS 2 IR &7 48 % & 287,000,000/ T (= F
Z 4 :89,00000087T) rMBREEMEBER
13,000,000 8 T (ZEZZF : HE& ML LT
29,000,000/ 7C) - ARBHRBEERET SR
1TE 295,000,000/ 7T * BB REZREKLHD
EE WERRERERONAANDR -—FEXE
B o FRIRITRE SN - AEBETRES KA (Z2M)
BRAA (KAL) GFBARRF432%KEHE
TRE)ME  FRARBARR T —NLFX
AR—_ZE-—F=A%TRHBTHEBRES N
NEAEENTRSHE - BHE-_T-_=F+_A4
Z=+—H KANEZERBRRERAAEBRHES
$£750,0000008 L 2 3F B BEEBER - &
F450,000000 TEREBE T -_=F+=_A8
—t+—HLEFERAEERHE - NFERE R
—ECNF—RAR=A KRR R EE—
FmAEBIREM S 1700000008 7T 2 3FH &
EIHEEEN °

ERNEHEBEN EEETHASERTEREH
BB ERFBELLE BAHEEAEELE
MRBEEFR AEBRNRERTARE R
R -EZEEMAEEEREMNASEER SR
SEH EREA T _=ZF+-_A=1+—H
Bt @A HE - EFEFERAER KRR
MNEBEESHERELR TR EEBUTHE R
=R

1. AEEMRTREER-_Z_=ZF=AF
310 R1EEE KA £ 295,000,000 T E
BE UWHREBXRITERELERNE
T ZAEFFTRBR
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

2.

Since the termination (the “Licence Termination”) of the
domestic pay television programme service licence (the
"Pay TV Licence”) with effect from 1 June 2023, the Group
continues to provide domestic free television programme
services and other businesses as usual, including
broadband telecommunications services, telephony
services, network construction and mobile services. The
Group will continue with its strategic transformation plan
to enhance the Group's business performance; enrichment
of contents; cooperation with other partners and cost
savings initiatives; and

Forever Top has entered into an irrevocable deed of
undertaking for a period of twelve months from 31
December 2023 to provide financial support to the Group,
up to a cap with reference to the latest funding
requirement based on the cash flow forecast as approved
by the Board, as and when necessary. In turn, Forever Top
has received back to back financial support undertakings
from its controlling shareholder.

Notwithstanding the above, whether the Group is able to

achieve its plans and measures as described above, which

incorporate assumptions about future events and conditions are

subject to inherent uncertainties. In particular, whether the

Group will be able to continue as a going concern would

depend upon the continuous availability of existing banking

facility, the successful implementation of cost saving initiatives

and enhancement of business performance, and from time to

time as and when is necessary, the financial support from

Forever Top as backed by the controlling shareholder of Forever

Top.

2.

mEEE @
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

The Directors, after due consideration of the basis of the Group's
plans and measures as well as the reasonably possible downside
changes to the cash flow assumptions in the cash flow
projections, consider that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due
in the coming twelve months from 31 December 2023.
Accordingly, the Directors consider it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

(a) New standard, amendments to standards
and HKFRS Practice Statement effective in
current accounting period

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
adopted the following new standard, amendments to
standards and HKFRS Practice Statement which are
mandatory for accounting period beginning on 1 January
2023:

HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
(Amendments)

HKFRS 17 (Amendments) Initial Application of
HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9
— Comparative Information

HKAS 1 (Amendments)and  Disclosure of Accounting Policies
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting Estimates

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

HKAS 12 (Amendments) International Tax Reform

— Pillar Two Model Rules

The adoption of these new standard, amendments to
standards and HKFRS Practice Statement does not have
any significant change to the accounting policies or any
significant effect on the results and financial position of
the Group.

mBLEE @)
CEHEEAREBHEREEOERIRES
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Amendments to standards and
interpretation that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the
Group

The following amendments to standards and interpretation
have been published which are mandatory for the Group's
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
but have not been early adopted by the Group:

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Non-current Liabilities with Covenants "

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
(2020) — (lassification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
(Amendments)
HKAS 21 (Amendments) Lack of Exchangeability ?
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
(Amendments) an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture ©
m Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024
@ Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025
@ Effective date is to be determined

The Group does not expect that these amendments to
standards and interpretation would have any material
impact on its results and financial position.

2.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The material accounting policies adopted for the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements, which have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated, are set out below:

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and all of its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including consolidated
structured entities) controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power to
direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which controls is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

Intra-group balances, transactions and any unrealised
profits arising from intra- group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the
amounts of controlling and non- controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)
Subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at
fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)).

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
Note 3(p)(ii)). The cost of self-constructed items of
property, plant and equipment includes the cost of
materials, labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of
the costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and an
appropriate proportion of production overheads and
borrowing costs (see Note 3(k)).

Gain or loss arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and is recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. B KEFHEE @)
(b) Property, plant and equipment and (b) ¥ BERZREREFTE@

depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight line method over
their estimated useful lives at annual rates as follows:

Network assets and television 5% to 25%
production systems

Furniture, fixtures, other equipment 10% to 33.33%
and motor vehicles

Buildings situated on
leasehold land*

Higher of 2.5% or
percentage to amortise
the asset cost over the
unexpired term of land
leases

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment

have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated

on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and
its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Under certain circumstances, the Group may have an
obligation to dismantle part of its network upon request
by concerned parties. Owing to the absence of such
history, no reliable estimate can be reasonably made in
respect of such potential obligation.

* This represents units in industrial and commercial buildings which
the management considers impracticable to split the cost into land
and buildings. Thus, depreciation is provided at 2.5% to write off
the cost of the properties held by the Group.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable. Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
The Group determines the incremental borrowing rate by
using recent third-party financing received with
adjustments specific to the term of the leases.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EXEFEE®@
(c) Leases (Continued) (0 HE @

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

any initial direct costs; and

restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as
an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The
respective leased assets are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position based on their nature.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Programming costs

(i)

Programming library

Programming library consists of presentation rights
for acquired programmes for showing on the
Group's television channels, film rights and films in
progress produced by the Group and perpetual film
rights acquired by the Group.

Presentation rights for acquired programmes are
capitalised as intangible assets and stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)).
Amortisation is charged to profit or loss in
accordance with a formula on an accelerated basis
over a maximum of three transmissions. Subsequent
expenditure, which may include subtitling costs and
dubbing costs, on programmes after initial
acquisition is recognised as an expense when
incurred unless it is probable that the expenditure
would enable the programmes to generate future
economic benefits in excess of their originally
assessed standard of performance and the
expenditure could be measured and attributed to
the assets reliably.

Film rights produced by the Group and perpetual
film rights acquired by the Group are capitalised as
intangible assets and stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)). Costs of film
rights produced by the Group and perpetual film
rights acquired by the Group represent the carrying
value transferred from films in progress upon
completion and the purchase price of the perpetual
film rights respectively. Amortisation is charged to
profit or loss over the expected number of future
showings.

Films in progress are stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)). Costs include
all direct costs associated with the production of
films. Costs of films are transferred to film rights
upon completion.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(d) Programming costs (Continued)

(e)

(ii) Live programmes and in-house developed
programmes

Live programmes consist of third party feed
programmes while in-house developed
programmes consist primarily of news,
documentary and general entertainment
programmes with short lead-time from production
to telecast. The costs of both types of programmes
are charged to profit or loss upon telecast. Payments
of programme costs made in advance or in arrears
are recorded as prepayments or accruals, as
appropriate.

Other intangible assets

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be
either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
useful lives are amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life
is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to
finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

3.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Otherintangible assets (Continued)

(i)

Club debentures

The Group's club debentures are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group at cost less impairment losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)).

Computer software and website
development costs

The Group's computer software and website
development costs are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses (see Note 3(p)(ii)). Computer software and
website development costs are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 5
years.

Costs associated with maintaining software
programmes and website are recognised as an
expense as incurred. Development costs that are
directly attributable to the design and testing of
identifiable and unique computer software products
and website controlled by the Group are recognised
as intangible assets where the following criteria are
met:

— it is technically feasible to complete the
software and website so that it will be
available for use;

— management intends to complete the
software and website and use (or sell) it;

—  there is an ability to use or sell the software
and website;

— it can be demonstrated how the software and
website will generate probable future
economic benefits;
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(e) Otherintangible assets (Continued)

(f)

(ii)

(iii)

Computer software and website
development costs (Continued)

— adequate technical, financial and other
resources are available to complete the
development and to use the software and
website; and

—  the expenditure attributable to acquisition,
development and enhancement of the
software and website can be reliably
measured.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as
intangible assets and amortised from the point at
which the asset is ready for use.

Computer software and website development costs
that do not meet the above criteria are expensed in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Digital music distribution licence

The Group's digital music distribution licence is
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position of the Group at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see Note 3(p)
(ii)). The Group amortises digital music distribution
licence with a limited useful life using the straight-
line method over the licence period.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated on the weighted

average basis and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition. Net

realisable value is the estimated selling price in the

ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Financial instruments

(i)

(ii)

Recognition and initial measurement

The Group initially recognises trade and other
receivables, trade and other payables, deposits and
borrowings on the date on which they are
originated. All other financial instruments are
recognised on the trade date, which is the date on
which the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset or financial liability (unless it is trade
and other receivables without a significant financing
component) is measured initially at fair value plus, in
the case of an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or
issue. Transaction costs of financial assets or
liabilities carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or
loss. Trade and other receivables without a
significant financing component are initially
measured at transaction price.

Classification and subsequent
measurement

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as
measured at: amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI") or FVTPL.
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to
their initial recognition, except if and in the period
the Group changes its business model for managing
financial assets.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it
meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVTPL:

—  the asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Classification and subsequent
measurement (Continued)

Trade and other receivables, including balances due
from group companies are classified as financial
assets at amortised cost. All other financial assets are
classified and measured at fair values.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by
impairment losses. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
Financial assets at FVTPL and FVOCI are
subsequently measured at fair values. Changes in
fair values of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at
amortised cost or FVTPL. Financial liabilities at
amortised cost are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or
loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or
loss. Trade and other payables, including balances
due to group companies, interest-bearing
borrowings and convertible bonds are classified as
financial liabilities at amortised cost. The Group does
not have financial liability measured at FVTPL.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)

Derecognition
Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to
receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in
which substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in
which the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it does not retain control of the
financial asset. The Group enters into transactions
whereby it transfers assets recognised on its
consolidated statement of financial position, but
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and
rewards of the transferred assets. In such cases, the
transferred assets are not derecognised.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its
contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled,
or expire. The Group also derecognises a financial
liability when its terms are modified and the cash
flows of the modified liability are substantially
different. In this case, a new financial liability based
on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability extinguished and the new financial
liability with modified terms is recognised in profit
or loss.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iv)

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only
when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right to set off the amounts and it intends either to
settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. Income and
expenses are presented on a net basis only when
permitted under HKFRSs, or for gains and losses
arising from a group of similar transactions such as
in the Group's trading activity.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on
hand, demand deposits with banks, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within 3 months of
maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows of the Group.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i) Revenue recognition

The Group recognises different types of revenue, as

follows:

(i)

(i)

The Group enters into individual or packaged and
fixed price subscription sale contracts with
customers in which, it may include single or
multiple elements of subscription television services,
broadband internet access services and telephony
services. Under such arrangements, the total
transaction price receivable from customers is
allocated among the Group’ s performance
obligations on a relative standalone selling price
basis. The Group estimates the standalone selling
price at contract inception based on the observable
retail prices of the respective performance
obligations in similar circumstances to similar
customers. Revenue allocated to the subscription
television services, broadband internet access
services and telephony services is recognised over
time when the services are provided, which is
generally over the contract period. In general,
customers are invoiced according to agreed billing
schedules set out in the customer contracts,
invoices are usually billable in advance of the
services to be rendered and are due for payments
within 15 days.

Advertising revenue net of agency deductions is
recognised on telecast of the advertisement. When
an advertising contract covers a specified period,
the related revenue is recognised evenly over the
specified period. Customers are invoiced according
to agreed billing schedules, in advance of the
advertising services, with payments due within 30
days. In case of non-cash consideration under barter
transactions, the fair value of the non-cash
consideration is measured at the inception of
contracts. If the fair value cannot be reasonably
estimated, the Group measures consideration
indirectly by reference to the standalone selling
price of the services promised to the customer in
exchange for the consideration.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(i) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iif)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

Revenue from network construction service contract
is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation using
input method.

Revenue from rendering mobile agency services
and mobile services is recognised when the services
have been rendered. Variable fees are recognised
only to the extent that it is highly probable that a
significant reversal will not occur.

Revenue from network leasing is recognised over
time on a straight line basis.

Revenue from theatrical distributions is recognised
when the films are exhibited.

Revenue from distribution of films is recognised
upon delivery of the master tapes to the customers.

Income from licensing of television rights is
recognised in full upon delivery of the programmes
concerned in accordance with the terms of the
licence contracts.

Income from network maintenance and operations
is recognised at the time when services are
provided.

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal installments
over the periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of
the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of
the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments receivables.
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

()

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract with a
customer are capitalised as contract acquisition costs if the
Group expects to recover these costs. Costs of obtaining a
contract are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
terms of the specific contracts. As a practical expedient,
the Group recognises the incremental cost of obtaining a
contract as an expense when incurred if the amortisation
period of the asset that the Group otherwise would have
recognised is 1 year or less.

The period between the transfer of promised goods and
services to the customers and payments by customers
usually is within 1 year, as a result, there is no financing
component which requires adjustment of the transaction
prices for the time value of money.

If the payments by customers exceed the services
rendered, a contract liability is recognised as receipts in
advance on the consolidated statement of financial
position. If the services rendered exceed the payments by
customers and unconditional rights to contract
consideration to date, a contract asset is recognised on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

(k)

Borrowings (Continued)

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party and
the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or
loss as other income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of
a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the
asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of
borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted
or complete.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of share
options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed over the vesting period is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted at the
date of grant, excluding the impact of any non-market
vesting conditions. At the end of each reporting period,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the
revision of original estimates, if any, in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital when the
options are exercised. On lapse of share options according
to the plan, corresponding amount recognised in share
option reserve is transferred to retained profits.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair
value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over
the vesting period as an increase to investment in
subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the parent entity accounts.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(m) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively. Current tax is the
expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses
and unused tax credits.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. Deferred tax assets
are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable
amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will
arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as the
expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference
or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred
tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same criteria
are adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that
is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(m) Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted. The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset
to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available. Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the liability
to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& & MR R T

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Income tax (Continued)

(n)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the entity has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

(0 In the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
entity intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

(i) Inthe case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

(1) the same taxable entity; or

(2)  different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Translation of foreign currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar.
The Company's functional currency is Hong Kong dollar.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(n) Translation of foreign currency (Continued)

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit

or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies that are stated at fair values are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the

dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Statement of financial position items are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in

equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when

the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

(o) Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person'’s family,

is related to the Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control over the Group;

(2)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(3) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's parent.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(o) Related parties (Continued)

(i) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

M

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third parties.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (i).

A person identified in (i)(1) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets

(i)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for lifetime
expected credit loss (“ECL") on trade and other
receivables. For bank balances for which credit risk
(i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected
life of the financial instrument) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the loss
allowances are measured as 12-month ECL. Lifetime
ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs
that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a
shorter period if the expected life of the instrument
is less than 12 months). In all cases, the maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based on the
Group's historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking
information. In all cases, the maximum period
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed
to credit risk.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs and presentation of ECLs in
the consolidated statement of financial position

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. They are measured as follows:

— financial assets that are not credit-impaired at
the reporting date: as the present value of all
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive);

— financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date: as the difference between the
gross carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows;

— undrawn loan commitments: as the present
value of the difference between the
contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group if the commitment is drawn down and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive; and

— financial guarantee contracts: the expected
payments to reimburse the holder less any
amounts that the Group expects to recover.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at
amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets. For debt securities at FVOCI,
the loss allowance is charged to profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no reasonable expectations of
recovering the financial asset. This is generally the
case when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject to
enforcement activities in order to comply with the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;
—  right-of-use assets;

—  programming library (including film rights,
perpetual film rights and films in progress);

—  otherintangible assets; and

— investments in subsidiaries in the Company’ s
statement of financial position.

3. ERAEHBE®@
(p) EERE @

(i)

(i)

TREENRE (#E)
TRHEERAAENES oK
S RME - EASEBRBATEI
EMEREECELR EAKEE
EEEALEEESBARIER - UE
ERANBE S RREEERTMEN
TRl BELBREREEBRL T
B EMEENESREEREINAXH
EREFAR - AE P AN & B U Bl R R
2R o

HitEERE
RAERR B AR A B R IMBE R R
AoPETINEERS LIBME - =X
ERERANREBEIBFENA
BER RIS

— UE BENEE:

— ERREE:

— HERER (BREZEME X
ABHBERELBRHETEY

— HMEREE: Rk

— ARAFBRRRBETRHE
RAEIMERE



ERBEBEANBRIA ZZBE-=ZFFH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& & MR R T

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and
intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives,
the recoverable amount is estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

—  Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of the assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in
use (if determinable).
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(p) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(q)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)
—  Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or
loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM") for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities

(r)

(i)

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a
financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued.
The liability is initially measured at fair value and
subsequently at the higher of

—  the amount determined in accordance with
the expected credit loss model under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments”; and

—  the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised in accordance with the
principles of HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined
based on the present value of the difference in cash
flows between the contractual payments required
under the debt instrument and the payments that
would be required without the guarantee, or the
estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions
and contingent liabilities (Continued)

(r)

(s)

(ii)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which

the associated services are rendered by employees of the
Group, except to the extent that they are included in the
cost of property, plant and equipment and programming

library not yet recognised as an expense. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material,
these amounts are stated at their present values.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(t)

(u)

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Transaction costs are
incremental costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or financial
liability, including fees and commissions paid to agents,
advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies
and securities exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in the profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible bond
is determined using a market interest rate for an
equivalent non-convertible bond. This amount is recorded
as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished
on conversion or maturity of the bonds. The remainder of
the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option. This is
recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net of
income tax effects.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate. Government grants are deducted in
reporting the related expenses, when appropriate.
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4. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(@) Recognition and recoverability of deferred

tax assets

Management considers the key source of estimation
uncertainty lies in the recognition of deferred tax assets
from unused tax losses. These tax losses can be carried
forward indefinitely and have no expiry date. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which they
can be utilised. Management reviews the carrying amount
of deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period,
based on the forecast results of the Group and the
forecasts of future taxable profits of the relevant entities
with recognised deferred tax assets. The forecasts take into
account the expected growth of the business due to the
new business development and the approved business
plans. Significant judgement is involved in assessing
whether there is convincing evidence that sufficient
taxable profits will be available in view of a history of
recent losses, including estimating the projected future
taxable profits and the timing of the utilisation of tax
losses (which is the evidence supporting the recognition
of deferred tax assets). In the event that the Group's
estimates of projected future taxable profits due to
changes in operating environment and business strategies
would impact the timing or extent of the Group's ability to
utilise the tax loss carry-forwards in the future, adjustments
to the recorded amount of deferred tax assets would be
required. For the purpose of sensitivity analysis, if the gross
revenue for each year in the forecasts were to decrease by
2% as compared with the forecasted amounts under the
base case scenario, deferred tax assets of approximately
HKS$3 million would have been further written down.
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4. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(Continued)

(b) Impairment of property, plant and

equipment, right-of-use assets,
programming library and other related
intangible assets

Management regularly reviews whether there are any
indications of impairment and will recognise an
impairment loss if the carrying amount of an asset or a
cash-generating unit is higher than its recoverable amount
which is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal or
its value in use.

Management determined the recoverable amounts with
the assistance of an independent professional valuer,
where appropriate. Significant judgement is involved in
the identification of the cash-generating unit that
generates largely independent cash inflows to which the
assets are allocated, and in determining the key
assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecast, including
forecast revenue, forecast operating costs, long term
growth rate and discount rate used in the discounted cash
flow calculation. The Group has determined that upon the
decision to terminate the pay television (“Pay TV")
business, it became a separate cash-generating unit from
the rest of the remaining business. Changes in the
assumptions of the Group's estimates of projected cash
flows due to changes in operating environment,
uncertainty in the expected growth in business and
change in discount rate and long term growth rate would
impact the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
units. For the purpose of sensitivity analysis, if the annual
estimated revenue were to increase or decrease by 2%,
there is no material impact to the consolidated financial
statements. If the discount rate were to increase or
decrease by 1%, there is no material impact to the
consolidated financial statements.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency and price risks
arises in the normal course of the Group's businesses. The
Group's exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to

manage these risks are described below.

(@) Creditrisk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, contract assets and other receivables.
Management has a defined credit policy in place with
general credit terms ranging from 0 to 15 days in respect
of broadband, telephony and mobile service subscription
and from 0 to 30 days in respect of advertising, network
leasing and network construction services. The exposure
to credit risks is monitored on an ongoing basis. The
Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk from
customers receivables as the customers’ bases were
widely dispersed in different sectors, except for a single
external customer which accounts for approximately 32%
(2022: approximately 35%) of the total trade receivables,
contract assets and other receivables. Subscription
revenue from customers is settled mainly in cash or via
major credit cards.

Contract assets are considered to have low credit risk.
Taking into account the historical settlement of
contractual payment and forward-looking factors,
management considered the lifetime ECLs surrounding
contracts is not significant.

Other receivables are considered to have low credit risk.
These assets are continuously monitored by assessing the
credit quality of the counter parties, taking into account
past experiences and other factors. Where necessary,
provision for impairment loss is made for estimated
irrecoverable amounts. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022,
other receivables were fully performing.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by
the carrying amount of the trade receivables and contract
assets and other receivables in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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(b) REBEE R

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and its
compliance with lending covenants. The Group's objective
is to maintain a balance between the continuity of funding
and the flexibility through use of interest-bearing
borrowings. As disclosed in Note 2, certain measures have
been taken by the Directors to mitigate the liquidity
pressures faced by the Group.

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group's non-derivative financial liabilities
at the end of the reporting period, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest

payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period)
and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

RTIWRDESRBREEDEFEHRE
FRABEEEEARAEGSRHES REST
fERR - ARENERREREZFE
HEFBEATEERZELEMENSG
FEBWME2ARE EFCRMAE
TRENREAEEMESN RS E LB
5 o

TRINBARENRENEE B RER
ERZAEHWRERERMABENFITET
EeRaE (BREAONEFELRE
BEMGEEBBITHRRFTERFE (40
F8)) URAKEEEERBRAENK
FRBFE -

Carrying

amount in the

Total consolidated

contractual statement of

Within 1 year Between 1 Between 2 Over undiscounted financial

orondemand and2years and5years 5 years cash flows position

BYMAm

15/ 1EH0E 2F5E AR GREHK

RERER (BR28R BESFER 5¥0F RERELAE RAREEE

At 31 December 2023 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

TR TR TR TR TR TR

Trade payables EREZER 85,486 = = = 85,486 85,486
Accrued expenses and RIRE A REMERNK

other payables 234,879 - - - 234,879 234,879

Customers' deposits RPEE 33,117 = = = 33,117 33,117

Interest-bearing borrowings HEER 347,666 323,056 460,488 - 1,131,210 1,041,035

Lease liabilities ME&E 15,974 59,539 206,094 79,527 361,134 229,984

Convertible bonds AR ES 15,360 15,360 46,080 782,680 859,480 572,005

732,482 397,955 712,662 862,207 2,705,306 2,196,506
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5. BXRREERESMIAENAARE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (EXE))
(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REBESEREE @)

Carrying

amount in the

Total  consolidated

contractual ~ statement of

Within 1 year Between 1 Between 2 Over  undiscounted financial

oron demand and 2 years and 5 years 5 years cash flows position

[=RVA i
10 2EBAE REFBH
BE2ER  BESEA SENE BER 8

At 31 December 2022 = HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL FHL FHL FHL FHL FHL
Trade payables T S IR IR 50278 = = = 50278 50278
Accrued expenses and BERERAREMENR
other payables 247316 - - - 247316 247316
Customers' deposits BPES 41,498 - - - 41,498 41498
Interest-bearing borrowings S E R 318985 8,551 300,056 = 627,592 591,035
Lease liabilities HEBR 38,646 3482 4,768 - 46,896 45078
Convertible bonds iR ES 15,360 15360 46,080 798,040 874,840 546,040

712,083 27393 350904 798,040 1,888,420 1,521,245
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group’s main
exposure to interest rate risk relates principally to the
Group's borrowings and convertible bonds. Borrowings at
variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk whilst borrowings and convertible bond at fixed rate
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had revolving loan of
HK$295,000,000 (2022: HK$295,000,000) from a banking
facility at variable rates.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had convertible bonds
of outstanding amount of HK$768,000,000 (2022:
HK$768,000,000). The coupon rate is 2.0% per annum and
payable quarterly. The Group also had loans from Celestial
Pioneer Limited amounting to approximately
HKS$746,035,000 (2022: approximately HK$296,035,000) at
fixed interest rates ranging from 2.5% to 6.0% per annum
(2022: 2.5% to 3.0% per annum).

At 31 December 2023, the Group had time deposits with
bank amounting to approximately HK$12,050,000 (2022:
approximately HK$16,550,000) with original maturities of
182 to 274 days (2022: 90 to 278 days).

Apart from the foregoing, the Group has no other
significant income-generating financial assets or interest-
bearing financial liabilities. The Group’s revenue, expenses
and cash flows are substantially independent of changes
in market interest rates.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5. BERREEREBMIANARE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 8 @)

(Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued) () FIZFE= B
Effective interest rates analysis BREFNEDM
In respect of income-generating financial assets and TRINHBEBEEWRANESREERT S
interest- bearing financial liabilities, the following table CRIBENRESHEER BRI

indicates their effective interest rates at the end of the
reporting period:

Total Effective interest rate
B BERFIZE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—ZE-= T —E=-= —E-—
Interest rate risk HK$’000 HKS$'000 % %
THET FHT % %
Floating rate: TFENFZE
Cash at banks RITH S 28,671 41,232 0.38 003
Interest-bearing borrowings A B B X
— bank loan —RITERK (295,000) (295,000) 5.60 273
(266,329) (253,768)
Fixed rate: & 7 ) & -
Time deposits with banks IRITEETR 12,050 16,550 4.96 2.54
Interest-bearing borrowings 75 B E
— loans from Celestial — 3k 8 Celestial
Pioneer Limited Pioneer Limited
Z B (746,035) (296,035) 4.23 2.89
Convertible bonds ;R ES
— liability component —BEAXTD (572,005) (546,040) 7.48 7.48
(1,305,990) (825,525)
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Effective interest rates analysis (Continued)

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with
all other variables held constant, would have increased/
decreased the Group's loss before taxation and increased/
decreased the accumulated losses by approximately
HK$2,663,000 (2022: approximately HK$2,538,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss before taxation and
accumulated losses that would arise assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period. In respect of the exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk arising from floating rate non-derivative
instruments held by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group’s loss before taxation and
accumulated losses is estimated as an annualised impact
on interest expense or income of such a change in interest
rates. The analysis is performed on the same basis as 2022.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
trade and other receivables, financial assets at FVTPL,
restricted bank balances, cash and bank balances, and
trade and other payables that are denominated in a
foreign currency, i.e. currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily
United States dollars.

In view that the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United
States dollar under the Linked Exchange Rate System in
Hong Kong, management does not expect that there will
be any significant currency risk associated with recognised
assets and liabilities denominated in United States dollar. It
is therefore assumed that the risk of movements in
exchange rates between Hong Kong dollar and United
States dollar would be insignificant. Accordingly, no
sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

BEEREERESMIAENDIAE
B @)

()

(d)

= = ke ()
BB FI= 24 (&)
NRZZTE_=F+_A=+—8  HstF=x
TEEF R B1001EE R - AT A H A
AERAXRIETE  BSANEERAE
BEA/ THREFEE LA TEB®Y
2,663,000/ 7L (= = = F : 472,538,000/8
JT) °

FHBRESNER  BEMNEER®RSE
HEZEEE ﬁTKEIZ@TRHIJEﬁ%&
,\aﬂéﬁaﬂ SERZARTE -RAKH
Fir 45 7% 2 3FM$IEEA ﬁ%ﬁﬂfiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
XESREMNERRME @ AEBE 2K
JJ%?E&E%aJrfgﬁgﬁﬁi‘%L T91R 25 A
“@Jﬁﬁfﬂ:ﬂ ?ZﬁYHSU\Z%’ETJﬁ
e ZEZ_F oMM AEREESE

—=

S B

AEENIINERRERREBKERRE
YR AR BEFABSNERE
ZE RREIRITEE RS RIRITE KA
FE &R R E AL B SR IMNEE(E - B
5‘;EELAEIFMHF‘%%WEJ%E%%Z?I\E’JEW
HETNEEENRBREERET

ERNBBNBREXGIE THETEEXT
e BERERHS TR REITIHEN

RRAERAEERNEAEAZEEAR -
Bt - B (PR 9% B 2 T R E R B B A
BIREH - it YRR TR EE S
7 -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(e) Pricerisk

The Group is exposed to price risk through its investments
and redemption option of long-term convertible bonds
recognised as financial assets at FVTPL. The Group
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk and return profiles.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2023, if the price of the Group’s
investments recognised as financial assets at FVTPL had
been 1% higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the loss for the year would have decreased/
increased by approximately HK$2,000 (2022:
approximately HKS$27,000).

Based on the share price of the Company as at 31
December 2023, if the share price of the Company had
been HKS$0.01 higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the fair value of the redemption option of long-
term convertible bonds recognised as financial assets at
FVTPL would have increased by approximately
HK$10,954,000 and decreased by approximately
HK$12,676,000, respectively (2022: increased by
approximately HK$4,904,000 and decreased by
approximately HK$9,311,000, respectively) and the loss for
the year would have decreased by approximately
HK$10,954,000 and increased by approximately
HK$12,676,000, respectively (2022: decreased by
approximately HK$4,904,000 and increased by
approximately HK$9,311,000, respectively).

BEEREEREMIAENAAE
B @)

(e)

B ERR
AEERERD BB AT EEFABDN
TREENRPATRBRESNERERED
EEEMERERRR AKREBBER
BB TREREEBRGHENIREEEGRE
EEREERE

BRBE DN

NRZE_=F+_"A=+—H HAEH
EHRABRARBESABRENEREE
MIRE 2B EFTH1% - MATH HAib
BHEFTE  RFRNEBEBRD LM
#92,00087C (ZFZZ4F : £927,00077T) °

BEAATR-_ZE-_=F#+-_H=+—H
IR (B » W AR B M B E EF T 8007
BT MATBAMEH AT TE - RJERE
REEALEBEBEFABENEREENK
MR ESFNEREEEAAEBER S
AI3E AN%J 10,954,000 7 7T K8 4 #9 12,676,000
BIL(ZEZZF 5 5l 10494,904,000 %8
TC RO A #99,311,000870) + T ENEEH
e 5 Bl R 4 4910,954,000 7 7T K 1 A0 49
126760008 T (ZTEZZF : D RIE 4
4,904,000 7% 7T K 12 1149 9,311,000 7C) °
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(f)

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders of the Company and benefits for other
stakeholders of the Group, and to support the Group's
stability and growth, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholders return, taking into consideration the future of
the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected
capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or new debt financing. The Group made no
changes to its capital management objectives, policies or
processes during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

The net gearing ratio, measured in terms of the total
interest-bearing borrowings and convertible bonds less
cash and bank balances and restricted bank balances
divided by total deficit, was a negative of approximately
118% as at 31 December 2023 (2022: a negative of
approximately 146%).

BEEREERESMIAENDIAE
B @)

(f)

EXEE
AEBHEMKRENEESREAREE
B BRAERELNEEANRREARSE
BREKEZRS  BRREBRARRRK
REAEBEEADF A TIREDHR S
W XFARE 2 REMIER -

REBTESR L E R NEREEARE
NHERRKEEARBREREE X EE
BIAREENRERERYE BT REAY
BN EHKLERSRE FAHER
MRS REHREERERS

AR EEIEE A SRR E AR
WRELRE  ARETUBBARREE
BE  BATHR A E A AR oK
BEEAKB-BE-F_—5R_F
ST ASt—ALFER AEE
ZANERAR  REREFLEEE -

RZZBE_=F+_A=+—H  FEES
B R (RBEEESERRATRBRESFRE S
MARTTHE 84 R PR ISR 17 45 SR Bk LA B B Al
HE)ANBNSK(ZE__F:HE
146%) °
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(g) Fair values of financial instruments

Financial instruments carried at fair value are measured by
different valuation methods. The inputs to valuation
methods are categorised into three levels within a fair
value hierarchy, as follows:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity securities) is based on
quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group is
the current bid price. These instruments are
included in Level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined
using valuation techniques which maximise
the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If
all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in Level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in Level 3.

BEEREEREMIAENAAE
B @)

(9 EMTENAAREE

RARBEFENTHTARATROMG
BT A E - RETENEABBEAR
BEEBRTHSRUT=EHRH

F—&: EEREMEPIZNERMITAE
(PN AREENITETARR
REF)NRRBEDERES
HEEBENMmSHRE A& E
FENESREEEANTISR
BEREMEAE - AIZITAF
AE— -

B UFEEBRMETXZHNT A
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)
(g) Fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

(9 SR TENQIAEE@E

TREFIARENRERRALR
REEAENEE:

g

The following table presents the Group's assets that are

measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period EA
on a recurring basis:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Rl FZR E=4& mE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
T T FET FHET T T
At 31 December 2023 R=Z=Z=
+=—A=+—H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL RARBEFABRDY
— Listed debt securities — L HEBE 197 = = 197
— Redemption option of — REATRRES 2
long-term convertible fBEEERE
bonds - - 34,195 34,195
197 - 34,195 34,392
At 31 December 2022 N4
+ZA=+—H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFABRED
CREE
— Listed debt securities — EmEBE 2,673 = = 2673
— Redemption option of — REATRRES 2
long-term convertible BEEEE
bonds - - 37,408 37,408
2,673 - 37,408 40,081

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
there were no transfers between Level 1
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group's policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy

and Level 2, or

as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

BE-_F-_=-FfR-F-__F1+=A
T BLEFE F-ARFMREL
BEE  TEEAS=-MABE=FEL -
$%@mﬁ”bﬁﬁﬁiikmﬁ¢%
BHERLABEERZENES -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5.
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(g) Fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

BXEREEREMIANDIAE
B (@0

(9 SR TENQIAEE@E

TREJNE=BEH/ITANBEET_E_=
FR-ZE-_—_F+-A=+—BHILFEH

The following table presents the changes in Level 3

financial instrument for the years ended 31 December

2023 and 2022: &
2023 2022
—E2-= ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHETT
Redemption option: Bl 14
At the beginning of the year REA) 37,408 87,005
Unrealised fair value change recognised in RIFR SR ZFHE
non-operating expenses, net BROKRFRAABEESD (3,213) (49,597)
Atthe end of the year RER 34,195 37,408

TEREBAE =B 2R EEFAEMBEKRT
ABRE ABBHERNELER:

The following table summarises the quantitative
information about the significant unobservable inputs
used in Level 3 fair value measurements:

Fair value as at

Unobservable Range of unobservable

Relationship of unobservable

31 December inputs inputs as at inputs to fair value
R+ZA=t-HMH FABR 2R FABERABSE
AREE BAYE BARBEE MREENEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=f T —E-=f T
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx THT
Redemption option of long-term 34,195 37408  Discount rate 7.78% 940%  The higher the discount rate, the
convertible bonds lower the fair value of the
redemption option of long-
term convertible bonds
(holding all other inputs as
constant)
REMARES  BRERE BB & HREES  RETHR
BHHERE R
AREESE
(EEMBAZRETE)
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 5. BXEREEREMIENARE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

(g) Fair values of financial instruments
(Continued)

The main Level 3 input used by the Group in measuring
the fair value of financial instrument is derived and
evaluated as follows:

Discount rate was determined with reference to the risk-
free rate, credit spread of comparable bonds and liquidity
spread in the market.

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments
carried at costs or amortised cost were not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2023 and
2022.

REVENUE

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities of the Company set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue comprises principally subscription, service and related
fees for broadband internet access and telephony services. It also
includes advertising revenue net of agency deductions and
distribution fees, programme licensing income, film exhibition
and distribution income, network leasing income, network
construction income, mobile service income, mobile agency
service income and other telecommunications income.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group managed its businesses according to the nature of
services provided. The Group's CODM, which comprises
executive Directors and senior management of the Company,
has determined two reportable operating segments for
measuring performance and allocating resources. The segments
are media and telecommunications.

The media segment includes operations related to the domestic
free television programme service, advertising, television relay
service, programme licensing, theatrical release and other media
related businesses.

B @)
(9 SR TENQIAEE@E

AEBEFESRTITAAREBERAAN
E2E =R ABBLNA T EMIG LT
ft

BRR DB EMIE L EEARFE  TE
ERESHEREERADAS L2

—
iE °

AEBIZK A #HEK AT RS T A
HEmMERER T =—FF T - —4F
T A=t—HHAABEITESK=ZE -

WA

ARBIZETERBRREER - NRRAEEW
BRARAIRGABBUEER T RXHHIINE
BB mRMEE 18

WATZBRERLEBRGEEZERFRBEH
AR RBLEBKRE YEEAKRKERE
RgzBEEBARBEARKE &8 HFER
A BT ER R B IT A - WEEEWA - B4
ERBA - RBBARBEA  RBERKLE
RGWAREEREA -

7 #RE
AEBBREREOREOEEREREET
AERBIBLERRA (REFDARTESR
ARSI E) B RAR YR RS 5 BT
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BROMEBRELLEAELA R EERENE R
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The telecommunications segment includes operations related to
broadband internet access services, portal operation, telephony
services, network leasing, network construction, mobile service
and mobile agency service as well as other telecommunications
related businesses.

The CODM evaluates performance primarily based on segment
results before depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, amortisation of other intangible assets,
impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, programming library, other related intangible assets
and contract acquisition costs, corporate expenses, corporate
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, corporate
impairment losses, interest income, finance costs, non-operating
expenses, net and income tax, but after amortisation of
programming library and amortisation of contract acquisition
costs. Besides, the CODM also evaluates performance based on
segment results before corporate expenses, corporate
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, corporate
impairment losses, interest income, finance costs, non-operating
expenses, net and income tax, but after amortisation of
programming library, amortisation of contract acquisition costs,
depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets and amortisation of other intangible assets.

Inter-segment pricing is generally determined at arm’s length
basis.

Segment assets principally comprise all assets with the exception
of deferred tax assets and assets managed at the corporate
office. Segment liabilities include all liabilities, convertible bonds
and interest-bearing borrowings directly attributable to and
managed by each segment with the exception of current tax
liabilities and liabilities at corporate office.

Besides, the CODM is also provided with segment information
concerning revenue (including inter-segment revenue).

Operating segment regarding the domestic pay television
programme service was discontinued upon the Licence
Termination during the year ended 31 December 2023. The
segment information for the year ended 31 December 2022 has
been re-presented and does not include any amounts for the
discontinued operation, which are described in more detail in
Note 10

7 B E F E)
B NEECLEEEE L BRE  BET
% BERE BERE  BEEE - RDEd
RIS R B SE AR FRAS A K E A BB ST AR R 2 74

TREERRATEZERDRESE CREEYE
BEMRERECAEEERE HEMEBTEE
ﬁ&fﬁ ERN S EFFM%E%F A&
HiBRETLEERANKBKABES
T m%ﬁﬂi TEYE BEMEREBINE - &
EREREE FMBWKA BREER  FLLEHX
FRMABRHE ECHRERSMBEEHELS
B AR HESE) PRI - beoh > TBEE
REAMERARBREERAX CEVE B
FERRETE  CERERBE - FESKA - BE
B ERERAXFERAEHRE - BEMK
wAME#EE  SORBRAEE VX BE
LRBhEREEENEAREMETL EES
HE) D BE AR R -

DEZHNEE —RERAFRANERE

EBQFIE BRENBEE BEEREEEN
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as
provided to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance from continuing
operations for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is

set out below:

7. DEER @

B

EE_—Fk_F-_—F+-_A=+—H

LFE RERAERFEHBELEEB 2D
MREAEMAEZLERRARENANEEES
Bz BERTIET

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t-BL&E

Telecommunications Total
E fotel
2023 2022 2023 2022
—T--fF ZEBC-= —T-_F B-=f Z—T__F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET THT TET FTET TET TET
(restated) (restated)
(BE5) (lBE5)
Reportable segment revenue FESIIHR 2 A FUA 211,967 164,067 386,139 398935 598,106 563,002
Less: Inter-segment revenue B Db PR A - - (208) (208) (208) (208)
Revenue from external customers RENMRER ZBA 211,967 164,067 385,931 398727 597,898 562,794
Revenue from contracts with customers; EP & #1MA
Timing of revenue recognition: R A
Ata pointin time RE—BZ 7,824 6710 42,937 35043 50,761 41953
Over time R— R 204,143 157,357 342,632 363,097 546,775 520454
Revenue from other sources; H RN
Rental income HEBA - - 362 387 362 387
211,967 164,067 385,931 398,727 597,898 562,794
Reportable segment (loss)/profit before KB % « Etb B A E
depreciation, amortisation of other B 85 R B 1B AT .2 [ES
intangible assets and impairment WA (E58),
losses (291,363) (150,585) 94,982 135,072 (196,381) (15,513)
Depreciation nE (29,897) (23,704) (53,764) (86,997) (83,661) (110,701)
Amortisation of other intangible assets  E b £ 7/ & = # 54 (1,097) (3420) (” - (1,104) (3420)
Impairment losses REEE (53,329) (62,217) (23,307) (47,147) (76,636) (109,364)
Reportable segment results before ~ RIBAERT - HEHRE
corporate expenses, corporate REEREBERN.
depreciation and corporate BT~ BB
impairment losses (375,686) (239,926) 17,904 928 (357,782) (238,998)
Corporate expenses TERY (60,727) (58,845)
Corporate depreciation TENE (3,861) (14,554)
Corporate impairment losses P EREEE (5,396) (13,450
Loss from operations TEER (427,766) (325,847)
Interest income F8HA 749 111
Finance costs HEER (83,547) (55,561)
Non-operating expenses, net FEERLFH (4,060) (55,456)
Income tax ABHE (32,940) (187,627)
Loss from continuing operations FRICEEBER (547,564) (623,380)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

plipk] 2022
—=E-=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T FAB T
Segment assets PWEE
Media e 459,713 373,735
Telecommunications Eii) 394,932 379,086
854,645 752,821
Corporate assets TEEE 20,963 24,529
Deferred tax assets RIETRIEE E 69,551 102,144
Total assets BmEE 945,159 879,494
Segment liabilities PHERE
Media Heg 1,499,773 913,143
Telecommunications ESE) 742,861 692,640
2,242,634 1,605,783
Corporate liabilities TEEE 31,262 13,148
Current tax liabilities EHRIBAE 80 92
Total liabilities wesE 2,273,976 1,619,023

Geographical segment:

No geographical segment information is shown as, during the
year presented, less than 10% of the Group's segment revenue,
segment results, segment assets and segment liabilities are
derived from activities conducted outside Hong Kong.

Information about major customer:

Revenue of approximately HK$133,621,000 (2022: approximately
HK$134,618,000) were derived from a single external customer
during the year ended 31 December 2023, of which
approximately HK$131,591,000 (2022: approximately
HKS$132,318,000) and approximately HK$2,030,000 (2022:
approximately HK$2,300,000) were attributed to the
telecommunications segment and the media segment,
respectively.

i 35 5 & -

HREFMEHNFER KAEEBXKBERBUNU
INETTH R 2 D EBURA ~ D EBZELE - HEE
ERDEBEELR10% - Bt IR HibiE 53

EREEEFNER:
BHE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HItFE KA
#9133,621,00078 7T (=T = —4F : 49134,618,000
BIL) HRBE—IINAER - HA49131,591,000
BIL(ZF = —F 1 4132,3180008 1) K&
2,030,000 7T (ZF = = 4 : £92,300,00077T) 5
RIFEBREMD BRI D EL -
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8.

BR %t Al 18
BBATASIEE GEA), /0B T 7% -

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 8.

Loss before taxation is stated after (crediting)/charging:

2023 2022
—E== —EF-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FET
(restated)
(F&E5)
Continuing operations BELSEXER
Interest income FIE WA
Interest income from deposits with banks RITFER R LT EREHMNERA
and listed debt securities (749) (1,111)
Finance costs mMESH
— Interest expenses on interest-bearing — B ERAEX
borrowings 37,495 12,571
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEBEMNEXH 4,727 3,519
— Interest expenses on convertible bonds — AR ESF BT 41,325 39,471
Staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments ETE /' B EEH
Salaries, wages and other benefits* e TERHMBH* 287,816 141,646
Contributions to defined contribution TEREHE TR KT & 2 K
retirement plans 10,428 6,172
Other items Hfh1mH
Depreciation e
— assets held for use under operating leases — AEREHERETRCEE 1,074 8,142
— other assets — HEMEE 72,109 93517
— right-of-use assets —EAREEE 14,339 23,59
87,522 125,255
Impairment losses** VEREYEi=k
— Property, plant and equipment — W% - B R 46,195 68,876
— Right-of-use assets —RAREE 4,217 10,070
— Programming library — A B 28,562 38,730
— Other related intangible assets —Hi AR EE 3,058 5,138
82,032 122,814
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8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 8. PBRBIAIEIE (40
2023 2022
—E-=HF =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER T
(restated)
(FeE%)
Continuing operations (Continued) HERSEER (FE)
Amortisation b3
— programming library*** — R EN B 24,207 23423
— other intangible assets —HiEmEEE 1,104 3,420
— contract acquisition costs — BB AR 12,184 9,160
Net loss allowance on trade receivables FEW & EBR R A B IR R 8 F 58 3,009 7,087
Carrying amount of inventories consumed ERAREEREEZREE
and sold 6,878 7,932
(Reversal of write down)/write down of inventories 77 & (MUR B @),/ #R (694) 1,692

Rental expenses in respect of land and buildings Tt ATHE & EHEHHHEE &
under short-term leases and low-value leases EEEHEETH IR

not included in lease liabilities EFHeRAX 10,558 9,529
Auditor's remuneration % ELRT BN &
— audit services — ZERTE 3,099 2,784
— non-audit services — IR EARTE 1,670 1,118
Net foreign exchange loss SNEE B 185 58 601 700
Rental income under operating leases EHERS KA
in respect of
— owned plant and machinery — B RARE K ies (362) (387)
Non-operating expense, net L E R FRE
— net gain on disposal of property, —HEYE - BERFEZ
plant and equipment Wiz 58 (813) (96)
— gain on modification of lease contracts — I HES N 2 KEs (1) (13)
— fair value losses on financial assets —BRAREEF ABEN
at FVTPL (Note 21(b)) TREENLABEERE

(Kta£21(b)) 5,689 55,655
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& & MR R T

8.

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

*

*x

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no subsidy (2022: subsidlies of
approximately HK$10,593,000 (restated)) from the Employment Support
Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund set up by the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the "HKSAR’) were included in
salaries, wages and other benefits.

The impairment losses of approximately HKS47,467,000, HKS 19,586,000 and
HKS14,979,000 were included within programming costs, network
expenses and selling, general and administrative and other operating
expenses, respectively, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023. The aggregate amount of
the impairment losses recognised for the year ended 31 December 2023
amounted to approximately HK$S82,032,000, primarily as a result of
management’s assessment of the business prospect of the Group in light
of the latest market environment.

The impairment losses of approximately HK$62,088,000 (restated),
HKS36,903,000 (restated) and HKS23,823,000 (restated) were included
within programming costs, network expenses and selling, general and
administrative and other operating expenses, respectively, in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022. The aggregate amount of the impairment losses
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
approximately HKS122,814,000 (restated), primarily as a result of the
Licence Termination with effect from 1 June 2023, as well as management’s
assessment of the business prospect of the Group in light of the latest
market environment.

Amortisation of programming library was included within programming

costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Group.

8.

B?ﬁau;éﬂa(&)

*x

BE-—T_=F+-_A=+—HIFE TELEN
BIfTE [ ([& & RE]) BATR T BB B E & E T REE
R FEHAFHE (== =4 £ 105930008 7T (A E
5)) Bt AF L« TEREMIEF] -

JEE%EE??E’%MMWOOO%;% + 19,586,000 7T & 14,979,000

SRR AEEBE E — T —=F+_A=+—HIF
fF’/*E‘?,J%é\?E w R AT AN B RUERL A - {45 B AR
HE . — TERERAMEEER BE-_F_=F
A=t —HIULFEERN R EEBBEL
8203200087 + FEZHREEBIRER T MG IREL
R EE (BT TR A ET A -

SR EET1R#762,088,000 & 7T (A5 &E2|) + 36,903,00087T (45
EJl) & 238230008 T ((£EZ) 5 BIRAEEHEHZE =
Eo—F+ A=+ —HIFEMEGEE B RPEA
BTEBIER AR S ERREE  — M TTRERAM
HWEBH BE_FT_-_—F+-HA=+—HIFEE
AR 19 60 1B JET 18 4B B8 49 122,814,000,8 T (4 &) + £ &
HREZFEZ=FNNA—AERIEERE UREEE
TR B3 745 BR 15 1 2 45 [B) 2 75 B = 9 AT »

A B E RN LGS Rk 2 87 B 2K

AZA ©
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INCOME TAX 9.

Hong Kong and other jurisdictions profits tax has been provided
at the rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) and at the rates of taxation
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates
respectively.

(@) Income tax in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss represents:

ABBIE

BB REM FAERMER D BIR165% R R (=
T 165%) RAEE QLR REER Y
IR RET -

(a) FEBRBRAZABRRERE:

2023
—E==
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT F#ET
Continuing operations HEREER
Current income tax EHAERE
Provision for the year FREE 347 270
Deferred income taxation* (Note 27(b)) R A EFIE* (£ 27(b)) 32,593 187,357
Income tax ABHIE 32,940 187,627
@ During the year ended 31 December 2023, write down of * BE_ZT_=F+_A=+—HIFE B#

previously recognised deferred tax assets of approximately
HKS22,703,000 was recognised, primarily as a result of
management’s assessment of the business prospect of the Group

in light of the latest market environment.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, write down of
previously recognised deferred tax assets of approximately
HKS 176,318,000 was recognised, primarily as a result of the Licence
Termination with effect from 1 June 2023, as well as management’s
assessment of the business prospect of the Group in light of the
latest market environment.

3R 5t B FEE 5 £ 3 A 5 TH L J2E R 49 22,703,000 7
T EFEHAREEEBIREST TS REL A E
CES Yp=d:0) =

HE-—F-——F+-_A=+—HItFE B
38 5t B 57 19 15 FE i T & 2= MR 49 176,318,000
BT FEHRE T =FNF— KL
WERUREEEBIRIERFT TS REL A EFZE
FBRIR A ETE -
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9. INCOME TAX (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between the effective income
tax rate and the applicable tax rate:

9. AEFIE @)
(b) EAEHRREFERR 2R :

Statutory income tax rate EEANBTE (16.5) (16.5)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TT?D W2 R B S R 2 25 33
Tax effect of non-taxable income BARMWANREZE (0.1) (0.6)
Tax effect of temporary differences AERNEREZENT L

not recognised 0.7 30
Tax effect of unused tax losses RIER ARG AR E B

not recognised MG E 15.9 129
Tax effect of previously unrecognised AR RIS E R IRERER L

tax losses now recognised mEE (0.7) (0.5)
Tax effect of write down of previously %5 B B W RR R RE 0 TH & 2 MUR Y

recognised deferred tax assets g & 4.1 253
Effective income tax rate ERABR X 5.9 269

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATION ERIEREXER
(a) Description (@)

In view of the rapidly changing media landscape in Hong ERNEAEEMSHEBSRNE  BHK

Kong and fierce competition among the global paid TV
content providers and pay TV operators, Hong Kong Cable
Television Limited (“HKC"), a subsidiary of the Company,
obtained approval from the Government of the HKSAR on
14 February 2023 for the termination of the Pay TV Licence
with effect from 1 June 2023, which was reported in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 as a discontinued operation.

E%%EWGT/\Eﬁ&HKE%%E%LﬁﬂR$
B ARG BARESBRER
ﬁﬁE’“ﬂ(F*ﬁ_ﬁ%&ﬁJ)Eﬁ’\_E_zﬁ_
A+ BESESFRRNMHES =

Z=FAA—BRBRKRIEKBEHRER jf
REBEZEZT_=F+-A=1+—HILFE
R E VM BRERTPERBD LI CEETR -
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued) 10. ERLEKEXER @
(b) Financial performance and cash flow (b) BIBERBERAESRER
information
Financial information relating to discontinued operation HE-_Z-_="Ffk_ZFT__F+=_H
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is set out ST —HALFE HERIEKEXEEER
below. AT ERIEIINT -

—g== .

—

HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TR

Statement of profit or loss and other ERUIREXEBNEBERR

comprehensive from discontinued Hith2EKER -

operation:
Revenue ON 118,228 332,405
Operating expenses LEBH (159,938) (594,743)
Loss before taxation B B B ES 18 (41,710) (262,338)
Income tax ABFIE = =
Loss from discontinued operation CRIEREELEE (41,710) (262,338)
Total comprehensive income from CRIEREEBRNEZE KR

discontinued operation @ (41,710) (262,338)

Cash flows from discontinued operation: ERILEEEBELTNHRESR :

Net cash outflow from operating activities KL TEB TSRS ML F R (68,835) (142,104)
Net cash outflow from investing activities KREEBFENRS ML FRE - (38,856)
Net decrease in cash generated by the ERILEREEBREN

discontinued operation BERMDBEE (68,835) (180,960)
Basic loss per share from discontinued BERIFEE XN FREANETE | (0.6)HKcents | (3.7) HK cents

operation AL (il
Diluted loss per share from discontinued EARIEEE XN TREEEE | (0.6)HKcents | (3.7) HK cents

operation Al B
Re-presentation of comparative figures ER A
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group HE-—S-—=F+-_A=+—HIt&EE "
discontinued its Pay TV operation upon the Licence REFBRK FEBRE S -—=4,A—H
Termination with effect from 1 June 2023. Accordingly, the AR BRIFHIWESEER - Bt &
consolidated statement of profit or loss and the - FE-——&F#+-A=+—HItEEKEL
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the BRERGATENRSIECDETZY o

year ended 31 December 2022 have been re-presented.



EREEBAERAR —ZT-_=FFH® 223

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ma M BRRMEE

11. DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS 1. EEREARAN=E
The following disclosures are made pursuant to section 383(1) of NTHRBEBHINEBEZNFEREFTE(R
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) and Part 2 to 4 BB 2838301 16 R BB A Il 5 622G E (A A
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of (HEEENZER BRI 2E—EWMBHAIHR
Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) are as follows: EELIT :

Discretionary

bonuses
and/or
Salaries  Retirement performance
and other scheme related Total
benefits contributions bonuses emoluments
BERAR/
HeR EBARSHE RREEET
we H2E e 24 Fapet el
Name of directors HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER TER
2023: —E-=F:
Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry HREE
(Chairman, Non-executive Director) (FFE FHTEE) 60 - - - 60
Mr. TSANG On Vip, Patrick BREEE
(Vice-chairman, Executive Director) (G| #HiTEE) 60 = = = 60
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Remy Anthony Ket Heng FEEELE
(Executive Director) (B1TEZE) 60 = = = 60
Mr. TO Chi Hak ity e
(Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director) (TTREZFHITEE)
(notes () and (i) (Hiat o) & (i) 40 3,060 11 = 3,111
Dr. LUK Wai Ki ENvis BEEEEL
(Executive Director) (note (i) (RTEE) (W7t 0) 40 160 8 - 208
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica RBXL*T
(Non-executive Director) (HHTEFE) 60 = = = 60
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey 2 34
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHITEE) 60 = = = 60
Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman [l e
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUH#HTEE) 73 = = = 73
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger BEERLE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUFHTEE) 80 = = = 80
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman BEREAE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHITEE) 80 = = = 80
Resigned Directors (Resigned wef 3May 2023) EBEEE (BIE_E_=F%1 A
=R4ER
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU BE2ERES
(former Vice-chairman, Non-executive Director) — (BTBIEE » FE#ITE E) 20 = = = 20
Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU EREER A4
(former Non-executive Director) (FIFE#HTEE) 20 = = = 20
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard bil=s
(former Non-executive Director) (BIHHTEE) 20 = = = 20
673 3,220 19 - 3,912
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11. DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS

1. EERAR A @

(Continued)
Discretionary
bonuses
and/or
Salaries Retirement  performance
and other scheme related Total
benefits  contributions bonuses  emoluments
WEIELR,/
Hek RAE: HIREE
ik | K ZAEhL
Name of directors s HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FEL
2022: —ECoCF:
Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry BREAELT
(Chairman, Non-executive Director) (FFE  FHTEE) 60 - = = 60
Tan Sri Dato’ David CHIU RTEeERES
(Vice-chairman, Non-executive Director) (G| FHITEE) 60 = = = 60
Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick BRERE
(Vice-chairman, Executive Director) (BILfE - #ITEE) 60 - = = 60
Mr. LIE KEN JIE Rerny Anthony Ket Heng FEELE
(Executive Director) (HITEZE) 60 = = = 60
Mr. Andrew Wah Wai CHIU ERER L4
(Non-executive Director) (GE#TEE) 60 - = - 60
Mr. HOONG Cheong Thard rEEts
(Non-executive Director) (H#HTEE) 60 = = = 60
Ms. NG Yuk Mui Jessica RiExL+
(Non-executive Director) (GEHTEE) 60 - = - 60
Mr. LAM Kin Fung Jeffrey 82 e
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUFHTEE) 60 = = = 60
Prof. HU Shao Ming Herman BRI
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) 60 - - = 60
Mr. LUK Koon Hoo, Roger BEERLE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUFHTEE) 80 = = = 80
Mr. TANG Sing Ming Sherman BEREAE
(Independent non-executive Director) (BUHHTEE) 80 - - = 80
700 - - - 700
Notes: BaE -

0] Each of Mr. TO Chi Hak and Dr. LUK Wai Ki Elvis has been appointed as an

Executive Director with effect from 3 May 2023.

(ii) Mr. TO Chi Hak has been appointed as Chief Executive Officer with effect

from 3 June 2023.

0} MZRELEREERETSEEEZIAHTES
HE-E-=FAA=HELEM-

(ii) N R LERZFERTRER BE=F==F~A

ZHEEH -
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11. DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS 1. EEEFNRFZF @

(Continued)

There was no compensation for loss of office and/or inducement
for joining the Group paid/payable to the directors of the
Company in respect of the years ended 31 December 2023 and
31 December 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no retirement
benefits, payments or benefits in respect of termination of
directors’ services were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the
directors; nor are any payable (2022: HKSNil). No consideration
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making
available directors’ services (2022: HKSNil). There are no loans,
quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the directors, their
controlled bodies corporate and connected entities (2022:
None).

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ Interests in
Transactions, Arrangements and Contracts”, “Contracts of
Significance with Controlling Shareholders” and “Connected
Transactions” in the Report of the Directors and in Note 31,
during the years and at the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no Director had or has a material interest, directly or
indirectly, in any significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Company’s business to which the
Company was or is a party.

e T _=F+-_A=+—BR=-ZT_—
+— A=+t BULEFEXEDSN FEN R
B/ SREMAEBAEFNZE T ARANES °

HE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HIEFE #E
HREEFRBEZLFEERE SR H
RN - MR EH R  MEERAENFRIE (=
T__F TR BMEAEFRERMAREMA
FE=AXNHEMNRE(ZZE__F: TBR) -
MENES XZFEFEFNZEAEBLEH
HEERBR/RIHEANER  BUEFRSEMZS (=
E-_—F ) o

=

REEZRE(EIRARS  THRAEHFR Z2#E
=] [EIEBRRENEASYINIBERS ]S
BARWEIMEREEIN RAFEREE=
T FRIE I CFFT A=+ —HIEFE
MEZEEEERMEREARAREKSEBAER
RAIEAKEBRAESHNERNERRS &
ERGHFHEERNER -
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12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 12.
AND EMOLUMENTS OF SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

(@) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one
(2022: None) is the Director whose emoluments are
disclosed in Note 11. The aggregate of the emoluments in
respect of the other four (2022: five) individuals are as
follows:

BHEATREREEENS

at

ENBESEHAL
AEBEEEMALER B—R (2T
S m)AEE BROBMERAKE
NEE-HBWA(CE-—F:F5R)A
+HFMAEnT :

2023 2022
—E-= —E_—

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FHE T

Salaries and other benefits e REMER 9,560 10,536

Retirement scheme contributions BRIKE FT B K 194 460
Discretionary bonuses and/or performance  BUISIEAL N Sk B E F

related bonuses ZAEAL 1,095 =

Share options B AR - -

10,849 10,996

The emoluments of the four (2022: five) individuals with
the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

ME(CE-_—F : AB) BT ALTZH
TR

2023 2022
—m— = ==

—_— =

Number of Number of
individuals individuals

A A

1,500,001-2,000,000 1,500,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-2,500,000 2,000,001-2,500,000
2,500,001-3,000,000 2,500,001-3,000,000
3,000,001-3,500,000 3,000,001-3,500,000
3,500,001-4,000,000 3,500,001-4,000,000
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12. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
AND EMOLUMENTS OF SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Emoluments of senior management

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the emoluments
of the senior management of the Group, whose
biographical details are set out in the “Biographical Details
of Directors, Senior Management and Company Secretary”
section of this annual report and including Mr. Wong See
Yuen (Note), were within following bands:

12. BEFAIREREEEM S @

by SREEEMS
BHE-_Z-=F+-"A=+—BIFE "
AEBSREEE (FEZEEFBIHN
AERIEE RRAEEBRAAMEZ
BN —8) RBEEBRELE (W) 2F
BAARBIZA T -

2023 2022

Number of
individuals

A N

Nil-1,000,000

1,000,001-1,500,000
1,500,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-2,500,000
2,500,001-3,000,000
3,000,001-3,500,000
3,500,001-4,000,000

0-1,000,000

1,000,001-1,500,000
1,500,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-2,500,000
2,500,001-3,000,000
3,000,001-3,500,000
3,500,001-4,000,000

—_E_=
Number of
individuals
1
1
1
3

Note:

Mr. Wong See Yuen resigned as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
with effect from 3 June 2023 of which his emoluments was approximately
HKS$1,489,000 (2022: HKS2,883,000) including, (i) salaries of approximately
HKS$ 1,418,000 (2022: HKS2,746,000) and (ii) retirement scheme
contributions of approximately HKS71,000 (2022: HKS137,000) for services

rendered by him as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

HERLEECBIANNAITHRAES  B=F=—=FNA=ABLEN
B2 #4154 1489000% 7T (= F = —4F : 288300067T) * B ()H 2
#91,418000/% 7T (= F = —4F : 2,746,000, 7T ) K& (i) st B (EA AR R G]7T
I 48 3 BT 12 (R 75 69 AR 4K 51 B 34 49 71,0008 0 (ZF = =4 :
137,00087T) °
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13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. BRER
(a) Basic loss per share (@ BREXRER
Basic loss per share are calculated by dividing the loss BREARNBEDIRARGES AE(LEE
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted BRAEAA B BT E MR A A SETE -
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

2022
—m— —

—

(restated)
(F&E%)

Loss from continuing operations attributable 7N 72 &) 4 25 A% SR & 1k

to equity shareholders of the Company BEEEXBER

(HK$'000) (FT#&7T) (547,564) (623,380)
Loss from discontinued operation attributable 7K 72 =] 4 25 i% 3R & 1k

to equity shareholders of the Company B IEEE X ER

(HK$'000) (F#T) (41,710) (262,338)
Loss attributable to equity shareholders of the AN 2 &) 1 2 i% 58 &

Company (HK$'000) &8 (FHT) (589,274) (885,718)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares & 2617 & 8% hi#E 19 &

inissue 7,134,623,520 7,134,623,520
Basic loss per share for loss from continuing S EISEER

operations (HK cents) FRREREE (BI) (7.7) 87)
Basic loss per share for loss from discontinued B 4% I 48 & 2 75 B 18 HY

operation (HK cents) FRREREE (BI) (0.6) 3.7)
Total basic loss per share (HK cents) BREREEZRE (BWL) (8.3) (124)

(b) Diluted loss per share (b) BREEEE

The diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 BE-_ZT-_=FR=-_T=_=_F+=A
December 2023 and 2022 equals to the basic loss per =T HIEFENERESFSEAGRE
share since the conversion rights attached to the unlisted NEEMBSE - T ERIE T RETH®RE
long-term convertible bonds would not have a dilutive BAAMzcHRETEHEREEESSE

effect on the loss per share. SERUE o
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y%

- BERRE

Leasehold land
and building in

—Eo=fEH

Network assets Furniture, Hong Kongand
and television fixtures, other The People’s
production equipmentand Republic Leasehold
systems  motor vehicles of China  improvements
EEER
HEARLA
REEER KA £ ZHELi
BREERS HtRBERAE KRBT HEWEEE oL
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
THT THEx THx THBT THEr
Cost BA
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—&—f—A 6,308,540 660,767 30,716 285,173 7,285,196
Additions B 93,760 13,111 - 6,703 113,574
Disposals HE (17,092) (2,297) = @) (19392)
Exchange differences ENER = (1670) (2802) (818) (5290)
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZ&+ZA=1—H 6,385,208 669911 27,914 291,055 7374088
Cost BA
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=F—-A—H 6,385,208 669,911 27,914 291,055 7,374,088
Additions B 55,466 10,919 - 531 66,916
Disposals HE (38,256) (14,037) - - (52,293)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERBAR
(Note 32) (H5t32) 1,804 649 - 224 2,677
Exchange differences ERES - 3 6 2 11
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+ZA=1—H 6,404,222 667,445 27,920 291,812 7,391,399
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BEREZE @

(Continued)

Leasehold land
and building in

Network assets Furniture, Hong Kongand
and television fixtures, other The People’s
production equipment and Republic Leasehold
systems  motor vehicles of China  improvements
EBER
HEARLANE
REEER KA £EB. ZHEE L
ERAERLE HtRHERRE kEF HENEEHL Mg
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T
Accumulated depreciation R HERBERSE
and impairment losses
At 1 January 2022 R-Z-—-%#—HF—H 5717279 633,073 17,384 267,320 6,635,056
Charge for the year REERHR 142431 10212 1117 12272 166,032
Impairment losses RESRE 103,591 23,984 1729 9,580 138,884
Written back on disposals HEREE (16979) (2297) - G) (19279)
Exchange differences ERES (1,666) (1,699) (807) 4172)
At 31 December 2022 RZZEZZF+ZA=1+—H 5,946,322 663,306 18,531 288362 6,916,521
Accumulated depreciation ~ REHERBESE
and impairment losses
At 1 January 2023 RZZZ=F—-H—A 5,946,322 663,306 18,531 288,362 6,916,521
Charge for the year RERGHR 77,965 2,932 977 2,657 84,531
Impairment losses REFE 30,165 15,243 = 787 46,195
Written back on disposals HE R E (35,031) (14,037) - - (49,068)
Exchange differences ERER - 1 (6) 6 1
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+ZA=1—H 6,019,421 667,445 19,502 291,812 6,998,180
Net book value ﬁﬁﬁgﬁ
At 31 December 2023 WIZZ=#+-A=+-H 384,801 - 8,418 - 393,219
At 31 December 2022 WZE-—F+-A=1+-H 438,886 6,605 9,383 2,693 457,567

As at 31 December 2023, the net book value of plant and
equipment of the Group held for use in operating leases were
HKSNil (2022: approximately HK$21,214,000).

R-ZE-_=F+_F=+—HH A&EEZEH
RELHENBEMRBEERFESTEL (=T
T 49212140008 7T) ©
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y%  BMERRE @

(Continued)

Due to the management's assessment of the business prospect
of the Group in light of the latest market environment,
impairment losses were recognised.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, impairment losses of
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$46,195,000
(2022: approximately HK$138,884,000), right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$4,217,000 (2022: approximately
HK$34,382,000), programming library of approximately
HK$28,562,000 (2022: approximately HK$55,924,000) and other
related intangible assets of approximately HK$3,058,000 (2022:
approximately HK$5,138,000), were recognised in relation to the
cash-generating unit to which the assets of the Group are
allocated. Management determined the value in use of the cash-
generating unit with the assistance of an independent
professional valuer, which is measured using the discounted
cash flow projections. The cash flow projections are based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by the
Board. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using a long term growth rate. The valuation method used was
consistent with the requirements prescribed by HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets” and remained the same as that of last
year.

The key assumptions used in the cash flow projections included
forecast revenue at growth rates ranging from -9% to 19% (2022:
-25% to 18%) and forecast operating expenses at rates ranging
from -20% to -1% (2022: -13% to -2%) over the five-year period,
which are determined by considering both internal and external
factors relating to the businesses; long term growth rate of 2.5%
(2022: 2.5%) which is consistent with the forecast of the
businesses and the expected market development; and the pre-
tax discount rate of 16.34% (2022: 17.44%) which reflects specific
risks relating to the businesses. Changes in assumptions from
previous year's reflected management's latest business plans
and business prospect in light of the latest market environment.

HREEERERNMSREH AR E XL A
SR REBECEER -

HE-_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HBLEFE E#
REBENEEENRSELSEMERYE
R = N 28 48 R (B B 18 49 46,195,000 T (Z B = =
£F : #9138,884,000 7 JT) \f%ﬁﬁ%é&ﬁ@@ﬂéi
#94,217,0007% 7T (= Z = — 4 : 4934,382,000/%
7‘5) 1% &5 B 5B &5 18 49 28,562,000 7T (=&
T & 49559240008 70) M E R ER A E
L E B8 493,058,000 T (ZEZF : 4
513800078 70) - B EAEB Y BEGHEMO
PTrETHSELSEUNFERER £FEHB
iﬁ:ﬁﬂi/}lhi%ﬁ/ﬂ”ﬁ+goiﬁﬁ/}lb%iﬁ/ﬁ”%ﬁé%%
SHENTFHUKEE - BBAFHMNRE
MEEARAEREES - FAEANMESE
HABBSTENERIEERE]INBETE
AR B X F R o

ReREeEBAFERNEIERIE2ERATH
Wz:zi‘ﬁfu F9%ZE19% (Z B = —4F : -25%

ZF18%) 5T = H TR A R IR L A TF--20% = -1%
(_?__ ~13%E2%) ATEMTEALEE
A Bﬁ@%%&i%ﬂ‘%*ﬁ%ﬁﬁ@mﬁﬂﬁﬁ\\ﬁﬂl%
EE: REERER2SW(ZTE-__F :25%) @ #
EBRARTERAMSER B A RBRB AT,
IR1634% (T = —4F 1 1744%) » H X%
HHEENETRR -8B EF—FEMRAL  BEA
FH R EEERE & TISRE TS
¥ eI REKA = ©
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15. LEASES 15. HE
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a KT FEIR A EEIERABANHAEER
lessee.
(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated () REEHMBERRRERNEEHE
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position shows HEMBRARZIATEHEEEBNE
the following amounts relating to leases: H
2023 2022
—E-= —_F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHETT
Right-of-use assets FREEE
Properties LS 194,248 9,655
Lease liabilities HESE
Current mE 4,815 37,258
Non-current FEMED 225,169 7,820
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended HE_Z-_=F+-_A=+T—HILFE"
31 December 2023 were approximately HK$201,419,000 1N {50 A B EE 49201,4190008 T (ZF

(2022: approximately HK$11,654,000). T 1 #911,65400087T) ©
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15. LEASES (Continued)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss

The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows the
following amounts relating to lease:

15.

HE @
(b) RGEEBRREANSE

FARGEREINTEREERNESE

2023 2022
—E-=F —_E-=
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FTET FHAIT
Depreciation charge of EREEERE
right-of-use assets X
Properties LES 15,463 41312
Impairment losses on right-of-use EREEENRIE
assets &8 4,217 34,382
Interest expense FEZH
(included in finance costs) GrABEZR) 4,727 3519
Expense relating to short-term leases 252 HifH & B B 2 FsL 10,178 9,100
Expense relating to leases of low-value _E#lt K 1| & %2 B0 & B €2
assets that are not shown aboveas  REEEEHREEB 2
short-term leases 53 380 429

The total cash outflows for leases in 2023 was
approximately HK$34,111,000 (2022: approximately
HKS$54,156,000).

The Group leases a number of premises under operating
leases mainly for use as office premises, car parks and
warehouses. The terms of the leases vary and may be
renewable on a monthly basis or run for an initial period of
2 to 6 years (2022: 2 to 15 years), and certain leases have
an option, to renew for two further terms of 2 years after
the expiry of the initial period at which time all terms are
renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent
rentals.

RZZE_=ZF HENBRERLATEY
3411100055 70 (ZF = —4F : #954,156000%
JL) °

AEBUAKERERABEETYE =
ZRERLAENE FESREE - HL
B ETEE - AJiZ AER KB ER A
2EF (ZE__F 2B 15F) mAET
RARER IR EREMEEEMNAX
BRAH2F - [BRTE GRS ENER -
WERNTBEXAES -
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15. LEASES (Continued)

(c) The Group’s leasing activities and how
they are accounted for

(i)

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property leases across the Group. These
terms are used to maximise operational flexibility in
terms of managing contracts. Approximately 56%
(2022: approximately 73%) of the total lease
payments made in 2023 were optional.

In determining the lease term, management
considers all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive to exercise an extension option,
or not exercise a termination option. Extension
options (or periods after termination options) are
only included in the lease term if the lease is
reasonably certain to be extended (or not
terminated). Potential future cash outflows of
approximately HK$380,483,000 (2022: approximately
HKS$62,070,000) have not been included in the lease
liability because it is not reasonably certain that the
leases will be extended (or not terminated).

The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or
a significant change in circumstances occurs which
affects this assessment and that is within the control
of the lessee. There was no such event in the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The management of the Group undertook a review of

right-of-use assets to assess the respective recoverability.

As a result of the assessment, impairment losses of
approximately HK$4,217,000 were recognised during the
year (2022: approximately HK$34,382,000). For details of
the impairment, please refer to Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

15. & @)

(0 AEENREEHREIRL K

(i) ERRAZILEER
AEENZHMERVERERR
BIPEEE  ZERAEERARE
HitmEEA KT ETEE -
R-ZE—_=FEHNAENREE
R A)56% (2 = =& : #973%) BT
BIFIEE o

RETHEHRREK EEEEZRE
ETEEREEEN AITHRAKIEE
BRENCESBEENITEEER
BR-EREEBELERMAY (KT
BIEMEE) T - FEgEREERE (S
WIDREEROEIRE) T AHER -
MRELAERTEHEOB TR (3
R IE) - I #9380,483,000 7% 7T
(ZE = —F : 462,070,000 7T) &Y
BEAKRRERHARETAEERE -

MBEEZEZAGNEAEHRE
RERES  BABTEREREA
ZHIGE RN - Bl & EEDR
M BE_E_=FR-_ZT__

T A=+ —HUEFEYEZEE-

AEEEEEBHFEREEEETERN MU
E S AR Y E M o KRG TE - ERRE
R EEEH 42170008 T (ZE ==
#934,382,000% L) - BEEBEFIE  #2
BIARNFRERE B SRR eE14
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16. PROGRAMMING LIBRARY 16. fE &I B
plipk] 2022
—_E-= T
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T T T
Cost 39S
At 1 January n—H—H 481,679 526,981
Additions R 42,844 47,236
Written off e 58 (48,568) (92,538)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 32) IR EE M B~ | (Kfat32) 297 =
At31December  RT=A=tTRO 476252 | 481679
Accumulated amortisation and EfBEREESRE
impairment losses
At 1 January ®n—H—H 470,604 458,990
Charge for the year NEFR 25,654 48228
Impairment losses REEE 28,562 55,924
Written off H1 55 (48,568) (92,538)
At3|December ... RYf=A=t7R . 476252 | 470604
Net book value BREFE
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—8H - 11,075

The management of the Group undertook a review of its
programming library to assess the respective recoverability. As a
result of the assessment, impairment losses of approximately
HK$28,562,000 were recognised during the year (2022:
approximately HK$55,924,000). For details of the impairment,
please refer to Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report.

AEBEEBEEORAEEREE  UFHESE
Z AT B SRR o LFE AR - FNTERBERE
#928,562,0007 7T (= & = = 4 : #955,924,000 7%
TL) c BERAEFE - BRHEATF RS VR
FMEE14 -
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17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. HWEFEEE
Computer Digital
software Website music
Club development development distribution
debentures costs costs licence
EREH Py BB
e HRER HRER SHER kel
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TAT THT THT TET TAT
Cost R
At 1 January 2022 and R-E-—&—f—-HE
31 December 2022 RZZ__F
+=A=1+—-H 1,218 20,152 166 - 21,536
Additions NE - 2,619 - - 2,619
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 32)  URBEFI B A &) (A7 32) - - - 100 100
At3December2023 MBS SFTSASAOA [ TR ko W diEs
Accumulated amortisation 2t BERAEEFR
and impairment losses
At 1 January 2022 R-B-—#—f—8 - 9663 10 - 9673
Charge for the year AEERE = 4,031 33 - 4,064
Impairment losses REEE = 5,042 % - 5,138
At 31 December 2022 RZF-_F+-A=+—H - 18,736 139 - 18,875

Accumulated amortisationand R E KA EEE

impairment losses
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=F—H—H = 18,736 139 = 18,875
Charge for the year AEEER - 1,035 7 62 1,104
Impairment losses REEE - 3,000 20 38 3,058
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=F+-RA=+—H = 22,771 166 100 23,037
Net book value REFE
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=%+=-R=+—H 1,218 = = = 1,218

At 31 December 2022 T -#4+-RA=+—H 1218 1416 27 = 2,661
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17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

0]

(i)

The useful lives of the club debentures are indefinite.
Accordingly, no amortisation was charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss of the Group
during the current and prior years. The Group completed
its annual impairment test for the club debentures by
comparing the fair values less costs of disposal of the club
debentures to their carrying amounts as at the end of the
reporting period. No impairment loss was recognised
during the year (2022: HKSNIil).

The Group’s computer software development costs,
website development costs and digital music distribution
licence are amortised using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives of 5 years. The management of
the Group undertook a review of its computer software
development costs, website development costs and
digital music distribution licence to assess the respective
recoverability. As a result of the assessment, impairment
losses of approximately HK$3,058,000 were recognised
during the year (2022: approximately HK$5,138,000). For
details of the impairment, please refer to Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(@) The following list contains only the particulars of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities.

17. HhEREE @)

) BRYERH Al RAFERBESF
ERRBGEBERALEIREE B
BEBRERR AR BERLESREZK
RERE 2 REEALE  AEEEKE
SRFERENA - FAALERDRES

B(ZFZZF:TET) °

(i) AEBERRGHAZEER BUHEE
AREEEE e RERESENSF
HETERAEAEE AEEEEEHAESE
e ER  BURAEBER BB
BoOMHBRRETEN UFHSENTK
Bl o & FF 18 - FAERBMEEBEL
3,058,0007%8 7T (=& = = 4 : #J5,138,000 7
L) c BEREFE BRRAFHREE
WIS mRR M eE 14 0

18. RIBRARZRE

(@) TREHAEXRRAFTEMBAARGAHLE
BEBEBHS -

Place of
Incorporation Particular of issued Proportion of
Name of company operation Principal activities capital all fully paid ownership
ML
NEER F<S-§i:h) TEXK BRETR2HHMRREK BEESLLH
Directly Indirectly
E# CF:3
CABLE NETWORK Hong Kong Investment holding, property HKS$100 divided into 100% -
COMMUNICATIONS LIMITED leasing and property 100 ordinary shares and
investment HKS2 divided in 2 non-voting
preference share
CABLE NETWORK EB REEKR DEHEE 10078773 43 100X
COMMUNICATIONS LIMITED EMERE TRRR2BETS 2R
BERZEELR
Hong Kong Cable News Express Hong Kong Advertising services HK$20 divided into - 100%
Limited 2 ordinary shares
ERERTHRERRLR BB & & BR T 08 TH A2REER
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18. RMIB AR Z2RE (@)
() TREHEARTNIEMBATRES &
TS - ()

18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(@) The following list contains only the particulars of the

Company'’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities. (Continued)

Place of
Incorporation Particular of issued Proportion of
Name of company operation Principal activities capital all fully paid ownership
ML,
ARER "E T TEXH ERTR2HAERE ERERLH
Directly Indirectly
E# &
Hong Kong Cable Television ~ Hong Kong Media and telecommunications HK$750,000,000 - 100%
Limited ("HKC") divided into 750,000,000
ordinary shares
ERERERARDE 0 HELER 750,000,000/ 7L 5 A
([BRER]) 750,000,000 A% & i ik
Hong Kong International Hong Kong Advertising services and HKS1 divided into - 14.9%
Business Channel Limited programme production and 1 ordinary share
("HKIBCL")** acquisition
Hong Kong International N B RS A e 87 B BUE R BT R RERER
Business Channel Limited e
(THKIBCL]) **
Hong Kong OTT Company Hong Kong Content provision and HKS1 divided into - 100%
Limited programme production 1 ordinary share
Hong Kong OTT Company 55 WA K& B B1E 1BTDBIREER
Limited
How How Productions Group ~ Hong Kong Production of TV programmes ~ HK$57,059,952 divided into - 100%
Limited and investment holding 2 ordinary shares
IR EREARAA 5 SFBERHE RIREER 57,059.952 % 7T
AR 2IRE B
HOY TV Limited** Hong Kong Advertising services and HKS1 divided into - 14.9%
programme production 1 ordinary share
and acquisition
HOY TV Limited** 5 BEERBARE B RHER 1BLDRIREBKR
KB
i-CABLE Entertainment Limited Hong Kong Programme production and HK$10,000,000 divided into - 100%
channel operation 10,000,000 ordinary shares
ERBRREARDE 0 HABERAEEE 10,000000& L5 &
10,000,000 fix & 38 X
i-CABLE Finance Media Limited Hong Kong Content provision, HKS1 divided into - 100%
programme production and 1 ordinary share
channel operation
BB ERRERAA EB AR - B R BUERIEE 1BLD RIREBRR
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 18. RKB AR ZIRE @)
(@) The following list contains only the particulars of the () THREHEARBAEZEMBRARAREKAL
Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated BIEERETIS - (B)

structured entities. (Continued)

Place of
Incorporation Particular of issued Proportion of
Name of company operation Principal activities capital all fully paid ownership
ML,
AREH "E T TEXH ERTR2HAERE ERERLH
Directly Indirectly
E# CF:3
i-CABLE HOY Limited** Hong Kong Free television broadcasting HK$10,000 divided into 14.9% -
(formerly known as Fantastic and investment holding 9,999 ordinary shares and
Television Limited) 1 non-voting preference share
BERRARERARAR > BE REERRBERRERR 10,0008 79 &
(AIESYERERAA) 9,999 B & AR J2
IRERREELR
i-CABLE Media Limited Hong Kong Investment holding , TV HKS2 divided into 100% -
channel operations and 2 ordinary shares
content production
EEAGRRERERAA EB REZR SRABEE QETHRIRE AR
RABRLE
i-CABLE Network Limited Hong Kong Network operation HK$102 divided into - 100%

100 ordinary shares and

2 non-voting deferred shares

AREAREERAA e BreE 12875 A100R L BR R
URERFEETR

i-CABLE Network Operations ~ Hong Kong Network operation HK$500,000 divided into - 100%
Limited 500,000 ordinary shares
i-CABLE Network Operations &8 HeE 500,000 7T 5 A
Limited 500,000 A% & A%
i-CABLE News Limited Hong Kong Programme production and HK$10,000,000 divided into - 100%
channel operation 10,000,000 ordinary shares
ERRRIEERRAA EB A RERFEEE 10,000,000/ 7T 5 4
10,000,000 A & 3B A%
i-CABLE Sports Limited Hong Kong Programme production and HK$10,000,000 divided into - 100%
channel operation 10,000,000 ordinary shares
EREEREEBRAA &t BB RERAELE 10,000,000 705 5
10,000,000 A% & 3k
i-CABLE Telecom Limited Hong Kong Mobile service, mobile agency HKS1 divided into - 100%
service and telephony 1 ordinary share
service
BRRASHARLDE EB mEEAR R EA 1BLD RIREBR
RERHB KBRS
i-CAN Digital Solutions Limited  Hong Kong Technology services HKS1 divided into - 100%

1 ordinary share
i-CAN Digital Solutions Limited &/ TR 1ETARIREER
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18.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(@) The following list contains only the particulars of the

Company'’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities. (Continued)

Name of company

RAREMH

i-DATA Company Limited
i-DATA Company Limited

International Distribution
Limited (“IDL")**

BERERETERAR
(BB T

Rediffusion Technology Services

Limited
BREMREER AR
Stars Music International

Limited

ERERARRA

Stars Music Publishing
International Limited

ERSLERBRARD

Sundream Motion Pictures
Limited (“SMPL" )**
BEEYERA

(TRmEY )

The Force Production
Company Limited

RAREERRA

JE N T R AR e AR 75
BARAR*

RN T B AR B AR 7
BRAR*

Place of
Incorporation
operation

MR,

TEwh

Hong Kong
EB
Hong Kong
EB

Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong

B

Hong Kong

Al BB

Hong Kong

it

Hong Kong
B

The People’s
Republic of
China

REAR
HAE

Principal activities

TEEK

Technology services
Rl iR

Programme licensing and
distribution

BB R R D

Installation and maintenance
of satellite television
systems and investment
holding

BEBREARLTER
REFEURBEZR

Production of musical works
and provision of agency
services

RS REm R AR
R

Licensing of musical works
BERERBRT
Film production, distribution

and licensing
BEREUE D REAE

Content provision and
programme production

AE KB RAE

Technical services

Bl BR 7%

18. RMIB AR Z2RE (@)
() TREHEARTNIEMBATRES &

BUHBRBHS - (B)

Particular of issued
capital all fully paid

ERTREHARRE

HKS1 divided into
1 ordmary share

1BTLD BB BRR

HK$2 divided into
2 ordinary shares

QBTN AIRERR

HK$10,000 divided into
1,000 ordinary shares

10,0008 T2 &
1,000 % 3 378 A%

HKS1 divided into
1 ordinary share

VBT B RERR

HKS1 divided into
1 ordmary share

BT B RERR

HK$300,000,000 divided into
300,000,000 ordinary shares
300,000,000/87T5 A
300,000,000 A& & 38 %

HKS1 divided into
1 ordmary share

1BTLD A1 BCE K

HK$34,600,000

34,600,000 78 7T

Proportion of
ownership

BREESLH
Directly Indirectly
E# CF:3

= 100%

= 14.9%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 14.9%

= 100%

= 100%
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a)

The following list contains only the particulars of the

Company’s principal subsidiaries and consolidated
structured entities. (Continued)

*¥

This entity is registered as a wholly foreign owned enterprise under
the People’s Republic of China law and is not audited by PwC.

The Company holds 1 non-voting preference share and 1,489 class
"A” ordinary shares of i-CABLE HOY Limited, which wholly owns the
equity interests in IDL, SMPL, HOY TV Limited and HKIBCL, while the
remaining 4,255 class "B” ordinary shares of i-CABLE HOY Limited
and 4,255 class “C” ordinary shares of i-CABLE HOY Limited are held
by two independent trustees respectively. The entities are
consolidated by the Group in accordance with HKFRSs and the
principal accounting policies adopted by the Group as disclosed in
Note 3, as the Group is exposed to and has the rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the entities and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity, including,
but not limited to: (i) the Company’s nominated directors to the
board of i-CABLE HOY Limited pursuant to the right attached to
the class “A” ordinary shares of i-CABLE HOY Limited held by the
Company provided in the articles of association of i-CABLE HOY
Limited; (i) the requirement of the presence of the Company as a
quorum in any general meeting of i-CABLE HOY Limited; and (iii)
veto rights over certain matters attached to class “A” ordinary
shares requiring the prior approval of all holders thereof of i-CABLE
HOY Limited such as, the modification of any of the rights attached
to any of the shares of i-CABLE HOY Limited, alteration to the
articles of association of i-CABLE HOY Limited and the nature of the
business of i-CABLE HOY Limited, commencement of new business
or activity by i-CABLE HOY Limited, or making of any capital
commitment by i-CABLE HOY Limited. The Company, being the
only preference shareholder, is entitled to receive the first HKS1
billion profits generated in any financial year and the ordinary
shareholders of i-CABLE HOY Limited shall be entitled to receive
any surplus dividends exceeding such amount of the same
financial year on a pro rata basis. For the year ended 31 December
2023, no non-controlling interests is recognised as distributable
profits of i-CABLE HOY Limited did not surpass the threshold for
the other shareholders.

None of the Company’s subsidiaries or consolidated
structured entities had issued any debt securities at the

end of the year or during the year.

The above table lists the Company’s subsidiaries and

consolidated structured entities which, in the opinion of the

Directors, principally affected the results of the year or

formed a material portion of assets or liabilities of the Group.

18. RIB AT 2&RE @)
() THREHEALATNIEWBATRES L
BUEEEEE - (B)

¥

R R ATIRIEFENRAFIEEREZ MBI
BEPHE LI ELBKEFR

KREIFF B 1 RER ZREE LR 148988 B 4R
BHEHERER AR (A2 EHA EEERZ
77~ B5[5 B & ~ HOY TV Limited } HKIBCL ) & &
[AJBR « BEr4255RERESEFER AR A Al
T BRI 4255 RBARESEF B BH R A 7]
EE[CIRABRIBIEEADFFE
LIBT3 2R - X S E R AL EIRZE(BE
HHREER) R AEBERANEE S B
K WIERAEER RS HEZ TR
7 I B] & [0] 3 41 /) % Bk Z A AT & o] IR e pE -

WEARZE BRI AR FEZE L

B (ETRER)  ()VEREHAFEREGRA A
ERMAIANGTE  AAGIREAHENBERE
SAIERBR L Al [A )7 &8 R 8 9 #E FI 18
EEFREREAHTERARAGIEFSE | (i)
ARAFIHEEREAFAERER A AFMRE
AEWEBEEABMHT + Ri)FE B
BAFBLUENFREFHERFRAA][AS
MHEBRAREE T EHBERE  WEKTE
] B4R EHAFI B LA R 2 Al R 17 T 28 49 (T fa]
Fil - R EREVHERGR A A ERARIR
BUNERFEGLE FREBHERERA A
BRI EH R T XA BRENAFAERBRA
AIELE ] B A EIE - KR AIfEBME—EBLK
R BRBURENHBRFENELENE
1,000,000,000% 7T FI;8 + T BAREHEF E R B R
2 )6 & B R AR A5 A IR IR [R] — BT B
FEBHZZEBHNTMBGRE BHRERE
HHERGR A A D EFEREZ=F ==
FTZA=+T—HIEFEANTEBREMBKE
Brak Pt - Bl A E R B R IR o

RERKEAR  AARNMBRRRES

g

R B T AR ES -

EZRR - ERIITHARFKHE R R
HERBUERBHEREXEATEZEN

BRASEEEXRENEERNS -
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19. INVENTORIES 19. 78
plipk] 2022
—_E-= T
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T T T
Spare parts and consumables for repair HEEREENTH R
and maintenance SHFE @ 3,416 6,473
20. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 20. EREERRRENEE
ASSETS
plipk] 2022
—E-= —_E-—
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T T T
Trade receivables JE U SRR 130,883 107,711
Less: loss allowance (Note 20(b)) B BB (Mt 200b)) (27,315) (24,289)
103,568 83,422
Contract assets BHEE 16,635 22,797
120,203 106,219
@  An ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of loss @ RBREFRR(MREERER) ZERR
allowance), based on the invoice date is set out as follows: BERSYIEWT

2023 2022

—E-= —_E_-—
HK$000 HK$'000
FHR THR
0to 30 days 0&30H 54,425 47,462
31 to 60 days 31260H 23,235 11,332
61 to 90 days 61290 H 12,201 6,766
Over 90 days HBiBoo A 13,707 17,862
103,568 83,422

The Group's credit policy is set out in Note 5(a). AEEZ EEBRI LM ESE) °
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT

ASSETS (Continued)
Loss allowance in respect of trade receivables are recorded b)) BEEWEHEERRZEBBEDENER

(b)

using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied
that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the
loss allowance is written off against trade receivables BRFR (R E3()G) °
directly (see Note 3(p)(i)).

The movement in the loss allowance during the year, is as

follows:

20. ERNEXBRRRENEE @)

B RTAKRERRREZRZEER
K AlgiExBEREERMERKE R

FREBBRBEIZEINENT

2023 2022

—EB-=fF -
HK$'000 HKS1000
FET F#E T
Balance at beginning of the year FHIEREE 24,289 17,328
Net loss allowance on trade receivables U E R B E T8 3,009 7,087
Written off i - (126)
Acquisition of subsidiaries IR BT B A ) 17 =
Balance at end of the year FREBEE 27,315 24,289
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 20 BREXBRIARENEE @)

ASSETS (Continued)

(©  The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to (0
measure ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables. To measure the ECL,
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The
expected loss rates are based on the historical loss rates as

AEERB(EEVMBREER) F K
AT ERMEREBR  HABREER
ERREREHEREREE  RFTERY
EREX  BUREXEFREAREAR
G RAMB#EDA - FAHMBKRL XN
BEBRLEREE  ZLXDHEUR

adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking HERFEERWIFIEREINEBERE
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the OEEZ B AT RATHE B R o

ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

Weighted
average
lifetime
expected Gross Lifetime
credit carrying expected Net carrying
loss rate amount credit loss amount
hnfEF g
2 HIE
BFERBX HEH
b= IREAE ERBX REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHEIT
At 31 December 2023 R=-T=-=
+=—A=+—H
Not yet due 7R 18 B 1% 43,362 (256) 43,106
1 to 30 days past due BMHE1 2= 30H 1% 28,922 (332) 28,590
31 to 60 days past due BEI31 260 H 2% 15,027 (318) 14,709
61 to 90 days past due #Hi61 290 H 10% 7,459 (734) 6,725
Over 90 days past due BHEIZ Y00 B 71% 36,113 (25,675) 10,438
130,883 (27,315) 103,568
At 31 December 2022 NZE-__F
+—-A=+—8
Not yet due SR HR 0% 34,614 (103) 34,511
1 to 30 days past due BEI1ZE30H 1% 18,132 (176) 17,956
31 to 60 days past due BHEI31 =60 R 1% 9,976 (136) 9,840
61 to 90 days past due #H61 =90 H 5% 6,251 (339) 5912
Over 90 days past due BHEIZ 00 B 61% 38,738 (23,535) 15,203
107,711 (24,289) 83,422

The lifetime expected loss allowance for contract assets is

not material.

d

BREENEZMBEHRERBRLTERX -
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIRVALUETHROUGH 21. A A EBETT AEBENESREE
PROFIT OR LOSS

(@) Classification of financial assets at FVTPL (@) BAAREBEFTAEZENEREE
o]
Financial assets measured at FVTPL include the following: BARBAEFAEBENESREEBRENAT
K17 :
2023 2022
—EB-=fF =T
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx T
Current assets REEE
— Listed debt securities — I EBES 197 2,673
— Redemption option of long-term — REATRRES 2
convertible bonds R ER 34,195 37,408
34,392 40,081
(b) Amounts recognised in profit or loss (b) RESEIZEHE
During the year, the following items were recognised in FATYIEEERBRANER :

profit or loss:

2023 2022
—E_=F — -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Fair value losses on financial assets RARBEFAERNEREE
at FVTPL Z AR EEEBR 5,689 55,655
(c) Risk exposure and fair value (¢ FrEYRABERAAEBEE
measurements
Information about the Group's exposure to price risk is 75 gg¢% =] BT T (3 K R B 19 & R A Mt
provided in Note 5(e). For information about the methods cEBBETALBEZAELTE
and assumptions used in determining fair value refer to {E’*ﬂﬁﬁf\[&ﬁ?ﬂg

Note 5(g).
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22. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

22. ﬁﬁ&ﬂﬁnn%

ReMReFEMERE:

2023 2022
—E=-=

HK$’000 HKS'000

FET FET
Bank deposits and cash in the consolidated FREPBIRAR ZIBRITERK

statement of financial position B 40,969 58,137

Less: restricted bank balances* B R AIERIT SRR (12,050) (16,550)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated ~ 4AIRERERZIBERIBE

statement of cash flows ZEY 28,919 41,587

i The restricted bank balances represent deposits made by the Group to * RRGIIRITIERIEREBZ % BURLEFNE

secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

TIRITREIRRIER -

23. BENERRAREMENSRK

2023 2022

—E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FHEIT
Trade payables JE - & ZEBR K 85,486 50,278
Accrued expenses TEIREM 192,578 209,274
Other payables Eh FE - 5K 42,301 38,042
Contract liabilities (receipts in advance) A4 aE (FERER) 50,421 76,313
Customers’ deposits BPZ® 33,117 41,498
403,903 415,405

As at 31 December 2023, contract liabilities of approximately
HK$50,421,000 (2022: approximately HK$76,313,000) will be
recognised as revenue in the next reporting period. Revenue
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2023 that was
included in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of
the period amounted to approximately HK$76,313,000 (2022:
approximately HK$72,531,000).

R-B-=%+-A=+—H AHEEYH
50,421,000/ 7 (ZF = =4 : #976,313,0007% 7T )
BRT—REHHERARA - HE_Z ==
F+_A=+—BHLEFE FAHOEHNERE
HEHRHE ERIAL763130008 T (Z T ==
£ 1 #972,531,000787T) °
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 23. BNEXRAREMENSR @
An ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date ENEERERERZEZEOTIHNAT :

is set out as follows:

2023 2022

—_E_=
HK$'000 HKS'000
FHT FHTT
0to 30 days 0&30H 9,976 5,947
31 to 60 days 312 60H 19,115 17,430
61 to 90 days 61290H 10,916 12,301
Over 90 days i oo H 45,479 14,600
85,486 50,278

24. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 24, HEEER

2023 2022
—p—— -

—— =

Current Non-current Total Current  Non-current Total

ik ] *RB 2y k) FRE it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000
TER TER TER TAT TAT TAL

Bank loan (Note ()) RITER (K7t @) 295,000 - 295,000 295,000 - 295,000
Loans from Celestial Pioneer K & Celestial Pioneer Limited
Limited (Note (b)) ZER (B b)) - 746,035 746,035 - 296,035 296,035

Total interest-bearing borrowings 5 B B F A% 295,000 746,035 1,041,035 295,000 296,035 591,035

Notes: Btat -

(@) The carrying amount of bank loan denominated in Hong Kong dollar as at (@) REZF-Z=F+-A=+—H KBTI EIRTE
31 December 2023 was HK$295,000,000 (2022: HK$295,000,000), which is 5k AR [E] (8 43 295,000,000 7T (= F = = 4F : 295,000,000
unsecured, carries interest at variable rates and repayable on demand. BIL) - AREER - FBFEGTE WAL ELIEE -

(b) The carrying amount of the loans from Celestial Pioneer Limited (a (b) R-ZF-=Z4F+=H=+—H ' 3 B Celestial Pioneer
company holding 72.0% of the total number of issued shares of Forever Limited ($$ B K H E BEITR D48 20720% K HEFH K
Top and wholly-owned by Dr. Cheng Kar-Shun, Henry, the Director) BT+ 2EHEZRE]) LB EZ BHREEL
denominated in Hong Kong dollar as at 31 December 2023 was 746,035,0008 7T (= F = = 4F : £9296,035000/& ) * &
approximately HKS 746,035,000 (2022: approximately HK$296,035,000), BB HEEFFFINF25%260% (= F=—4F :
which are unsecured, carry interest at fixed rates ranging from 2.5% to 6.0% FE25%23.0%) 518 - W E1HE K 1735 H LA 73
perannum (2022: 2.5% to 3.0% per annum) and with a term of 3 years from Hi34F o

the date of the respective loan agreements.
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24. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (Continued) 24. HEE
% Ed

The maturity of interest-bearing borrowings was as follows:

Loans from Celestial

Pioneer Limited Total
R H Celestial

Pioneer Limited 2 & 3 k]

2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= “B-=fF —E-__f ZB-=E —E_—

HK$000 HK$000  HK$'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET TET THT THT THT
Within 1 year or on demand 1EARIZZRER 295,000 295,000 = - | 295,000 295,000
After 1 year but within 2 years VEREBRE2FRA - - 296,035 - 296,035 =
After 2 years butwithin 5years 2 EEESFR - - | 450,000 296,035 450,000 296,035
295,000 295000 | 746,035 296035 | 1,041,035 591,035

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 25. AR ES
(@) The2019LCS (@) ZE—NEFERETERES

On 25 January 2019, the Company entered into the
unlisted long-term convertible securities subscription
agreement with Forever Top, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and Forever
Top has conditionally agreed to subscribe for the unlisted
long-term convertible bonds issued in June 2019 (the
2019 LCS"). On 4 June 2019, the issuance of the 2019 LCS
with the principal amount of HK$568,000,000 to Forever
Top was completed. The 2019 LCS would be convertible
into 4,544,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company
(the Share(s)") upon full conversion of the 2019 LCS based
on the initial conversion price of HK$0.125 per conversion
share. The initial conversion price represents a premium of
approximately 8.7% over the closing price of HK$0.115 per
Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 25 January
2019, being the date on which the terms of the 2019 LCS
were fixed. The coupon rate of the 2019 LCS is 2.0% per
annum and payable quarterly. The 2019 LCS is convertible
into ordinary Shares at any time during the period from
the date of the issue of the 2019 LCS up to the close of
business on the maturity date, subject to the conversion
restrictions. The maturity date of the 2019 LCS is the end
of the tenth year from date of the issue of the 2019 LCS
and all of the remaining outstanding 2019 LCS will be
redeemed by the Company at 100% of the outstanding
principal amount of the 2019 LCS together with any
interest accrued but unpaid thereon.

RZF—NhF—A=Z+HAB  AAREX
FEIZFEEM R BRELSRERZE
Bt ARBEBIEEREZRITMKAD
BRHERERBER -_ZE—NFNARTH
#tmE%T%kﬁﬁﬁ_f NEKH
AIMRES]) RZTE—NFANA -
Em&mmﬂﬁ TN % 58 /5 568,000,000 76
TH_ZT—NERETRERES - RIEE
s R E TR AR % 0125 B L& %R
RZT—NERPATBEFHF%E
— W EFERHPTHREE %1&1&%
4,544,000,000 B8 AN 2 R FTE @A% ([R5 1) »
MEHBERNR _E—hNE—A=-+HhA
(BT NFREHPTHRBREZLFERERD)
B R AT R T B &R 01158 L ik (B 4
87% - —E—NFRPAIBBRERZER
?ﬁtizm’htéiﬁ £ H AR
%EBE&T —hERBABRKRESTE
ﬂﬁE%T%k EEBRTRAHRE
J%EMﬁhﬁ LRAAR  BERF R AT
B — T NERPABKRESZ I
HAZZE—hERIPTHRBRFSETAH
R ETEAERE  TERSGHRTTES
T NFERPTREBFBRAQRIZE =
T-NERPTEBRESFRAEELRESE
100% E R H AR B 2FHERZH 2 F BB
@ o
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

The 2019 LCS (Continued)

On the date of issuance of the 2019 LCS, the fair value of
liability component of approximately HK$343,719,000 was
recognised and the fair value of approximately
HK$224,281,000, representing equity element, was
recognised and presented in equity heading “equity
component of convertible bonds” at initial recognition.
The effective interest rate of the liability component was
7.69% per annum. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying
amount of liability component of the 2019 LCS is
approximately HK$425,663,000 (2022: approximately
HK$405,277,000).

The relevant fair value measurement was carried out by an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group.

The 2021 LCS

On 27 January 2021, the Company entered into the
unlisted long-term convertible securities subscription
agreement with Forever Top, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and Forever
Top has conditionally agreed to subscribe for, the unlisted
long-term convertible bonds issued in March 2021 (the
“2021 LCS"). On 31 March 2021, the issuance of the 2021
LCS with the principal amount of HK$200,000,000 with a
maturity of 10 years by the Company to Forever Top was
completed. The 2021 LCS would be convertible into
2,941,176,470 new ordinary Shares upon full conversion of
the 2021 LCS based on the initial conversion price of
HKS$0.068 per conversion share and the coupon rate of the
2021 LCS is 2.0% per annum and payable quarterly. The
Company may at any time on or after the date of issue of
the 2021 LCS by giving not less than 10 business days’
written notice to the holder(s) of the 2021 LCS to redeem
all or part of the 2021 LCS at the outstanding principal
amount of the 2021 LCS together with all accrued but
unpaid interest.

25. AR E 3 (@)

(a)

(b)

“E-NEFERETRERES @
REIT_E—NFREPAIRKRESFEE
#9343,719000 8 TR B GBHEK T D AR E
BB ERER - 422428100078 7T A 7t B
BEEEZZXR) DERR  URTBER
B [AI IR E SRS AK IS | 25 A
Em BEAKBIVNEBRFINNEA
769% M_E-_=F+=-_A=+—H" =
T-NFRPTERESNEEHAKID
7 BR B (B 49 425,663,000/8 T (Z T ==
#9405,277,000787T) °

AL EBEFEREAKEREREN
BB EBERBERMEMET -

—E_-FRETBERES
RZE-_—F—A=-++H KQAFEK
FEIZIEETMRBAATRRESRE R
Bt NAE B BREREZEITMKAB K
HRERBR-_ZTE-_—F = A%THIEL
mRATBEBRES([E-—FRHH
fgF#ESL]) RZE=Z—F=H=+—H0"
AKAREZKMBKABFITASEAS
200,000,000 T E FH ABI0F 2 =2 = —
FRAAIMRES -RIBBEVHRLRES
f% 2 IR 1D 0068 B T BRH A IR —T = —F
RHAAHRESRE —E-—FRHA#H
% 38 5 A K48 52,941,176470 iR E @A - B
CE - FRAVBBREFCESXRAEE
F20% - WEEFEL - RAF A REST
TEC—FRPTBRERESZE AR ZIEE
BRZE—FRAVBEREBLFFE AR
ETRLDRI0VELEBNERBEN  E-F
T FREAIMBRESNREENS EE
BAE2FE 2 ERNTFEELE 2 FHI D
—E-—FRBANBERES -
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)
(b) The 2021 LCS (Continued)

On the date of issuance of the 2021 LCS, the fair value of
liability component of approximately HK$131,806,000 was
recognised, the fair value of approximately
HKS$144,610,000, representing equity element, was
recognised and presented in equity heading “equity
component of convertible bonds” and the fair value of the
redemption option of approximately HK$78,061,000 was
recognised as financial assets at FVTPL at initial
recognition. The effective interest rate of the liability
component was 6.88% per annum. As at 31 December
2023, the carrying amount of liability component and
redemption option of the 2021 LCS is approximately
HK$ 146,342,000 (2022: approximately HK$140,763,000)
and approximately HK$34,195,000 (2022: approximately
HK$37,408,000) respectively.

The relevant fair value measurement was carried out by an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group.

25. WA E S (@)

(b)

“EC-FRETRRES @
RET_E - —FREAIRRESFHE
#9131,806000 8 TR B EHEK T D A RE
BB ERER - 414461000078 JL A 7t B
BEEEZEZXR) DERR  URTBER
B [AJ IR E SRS AK IS | 25 A
- O MELRNEBEENAALEEY
78,061,000 TEER BIZ AL BET AR
mITEMNEREE BEEAKIBONER
FRRAE688% M _ET-_=F+_"F7
=+t—H - —FREPATHERELFN
BEAKBL MEREREENEEES 5
#)146,342,0008 L (ZEZ—F : &
140,763,000 7 7T) & #934,195,000% ¢ (=&
— T4 #937,40800078 7T) °

ML EEFEREASEHEREN
BB ERERMGEMET -
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(@) Movements in components of equity

“ERC=FFRH

26. EX - EERKRE

The reconciliation between the opening and closing

balances of each component of the Group's consolidated
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning

and the end of the year are set out below:

Company

Share capital

Bk
HKS'000
A7

(a) TEFEKHDEE
KEBMGEEZKDRFEY R FRES
ZHERBARAELREEREEER - A2 A
RS R EN M F &N EEFBT

Capital and Reserves

BARRE

Equity
component of Total
Accumulated  Share option convertible equity/

losses reserve bonds (deficit)
TRRES BEs/

ZiEE  BRERK B85 (B4)
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
THT AL THT THT

Balanceat1January2022 ~H-B--%F-A-Hz&8H 7928975 (7.329,389) 17468 368891 985,945
Changesinequityfor2022: —E-—FHEREF:
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FEREERZAKRLE
__neomefortheyear . - s R T W12
Transfer of reserve upon lapse of BB X IS R/
share option - 17468 (17,468) - -
Balance at 31 December 2022 R=E-—f+-fA=+-HK
and 1 January 2023 ZE-CH-R-AzAH 7,928,975 (8,496,207) - 368,891 (198,341)
Changesinequityfor2023: —E-=EMEZEH:
Loss and total comprehensive ~ EREBRZAKRLE
income for the year - (114,457) - - (114,457)
Balance at 31 December2023 R=Z-=%+-fA=1+-H
&8 7,928,975 (8,610,664) - 368,891 (312,798)

251



252  i-CABLE Communications Limited Annual Report 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BHRRMEE

26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 26. 7 - B RKRE @)
(Continued)
(b) Dividends b)) BE
The Board does not recommend the payment of any EEeTEEMBE_S=-_=F+=A
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: =+ —BALEFEREAMRE(ZZE==
HKSNil). F:FBIL) °
(c) Share capital () BZ&
(i) Issued share capital (i) BBITRA
2023 2022
—E-=F T
Number of Number of
shares HK$’000 shares HKS$'000
g 24! FTHERT Bih 8B FHATT
Ordinary shares, issued and 2 84T R 88 2
fully paid: T im A
At 1 January n—A—H 7,134,623,520 7,928,975 7,134,623,520 7,928,975
At 31 December N r=H=F—H 7,134,623,520 7,928,975 7,134,623,520 7,928,975
In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong BEBBCRREMN) FE 1356 - XA
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the AR LR BT E o

Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares of the Company are ARG ERRF/BEALZEREEEAR
entitled to receive dividends as declared from time ATNKAERREERREREARS L
to time and are entitled to one vote per share at BRE—ZNET - 2H ARG LB
shareholders’ meetings of the Company. All ordinary AR ARINFSHEELERBFE -

shares of the Company rank equally with regard to
the Company’s residual assets.
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(Continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve is non-distributable. In 2004, the
issued share capital of a subsidiary under the Group
was reduced (“Capital Reduction”) and the credit
arising from the Capital Reduction was applied to
eliminate the accumulated losses standing in the
statement of profit or loss of that subsidiary as at 30
September 2004. An undertaking was given to the
Court by the subsidiary in connection with the
Capital Reduction (the “Undertaking”). Pursuant to
the Undertaking, any future recoveries or reversals
of provisions and depreciation made by the
subsidiary in respect of certain assets (“relevant
assets”) held by the subsidiary as at 30 September
2004 to the extent that such recoveries exceed the
written down amounts of the relevant assets, up to
an aggregate amount of HK$1,958,524,266 (the
“Limit"), will be credited to a capital reserve. While
any debt or liability of, or claim against, the
subsidiary at the date of the Capital Reduction
remains outstanding and the person entitled to the
benefit thereof has not agreed, the capital reserve
shall not be treated as realised profits.

The Limit may be reduced by the amount of any
increase in the issued share capital of the subsidiary
or upon a capitalisation of distributable reserves.
The Limit may also be reduced after the disposal or
other realisation of the relevant assets by the
amount of the charge to provision or depreciation
made in relation to such asset as at 30 September
2004 less reversal as a result of such disposal or
realisation. In the event that the amount standing to
the credit of the capital reserve exceeds the Limit,
the subsidiary shall be at liberty to transfer the
amount of any such excess to the general reserves
of the subsidiary, which shall become available for
distribution. As at 31 December 2023, the Limit of
the capital reserve, as reduced by HK$333,563 (2022:
HK$109,589) related to recoveries and reversals of
provision of the relevant assets, was HK$755,849,492
(2022: HK$756,183,055), and the amount standing
to the credit of the capital reserve was
HKS$13,984,483 (2022: HKS$13,984,483).

26. EX - BFERRE @
(d REEZHEREHN

(i)

BERf#E
BARBEDTAERIE R _TZN
FOAEBET—KHBARRFER
BOIRA(TEERRIT]D - BERRF
BEHEBEEHEZMNBARIN-Z
TMENA=ZFTHEBZRAME
FHEE - XM B AR Y BRI —
B AART /R HAE ([&IE]) - KR
AN - E{A] B 14 [0 Uk 3k [0 B B8 R AT
ESRZHBRARANR-_ZTTMNFA
B=+BEENETEEZBE (118
BEE]) @ iHBIEEREE SR
1% 2 BRTEE @ ZAPAT %14 1,958,524,266
B (R WEFHEFTAER
BN - BEZWBARINAEERE
RNEFHAZER BEIRE KR
BAXRERAERERNHRFESS
RS - Al E AR ETRGIER
BT -

REAIZHE QR B BITRANT
fA] 38 0 =k 7R ] 4 5 Ik 7 4B B R B R
Iy 308k o BREA I AT ki S sk H Ah B3R
HEEEMRY  BRLNESEAZE
ER_ZTTENFHLA=+HEIE
Z@ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬂilﬁﬁi AI5 &
EZeR A ABNRE22ER
ME%'%WEQEH%%EﬁW%
HEBEE —MEEAEIRE -
T-_=F+=-A=+—8" ﬁﬁﬁ%
ZRERINEARREE E 2 B U & B
B B 5% R 333563 L (ZF
Z T4 : 109,589 JT) F 755,849,492
BT (ZZF = —4F :756,183,055/8
L) Mt ABEAREZ2BEA A
13,984,483 B L (Z T = = F :
13,984,483/ 7T) °
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26. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 26. EX - HERKRE @)
(Continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued) (d) REEZHEEREN@E
(i) Exchange reserve (i) IEREE

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign INERERIEMERREGINER
exchange differences arising from the translation of B IR R EE A 2 INIE IR B o L
the financial statements of foreign operations. The HERBIEH M 300 IR
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the BRIE o

accounting policies set out in Note 3(n).

(e) Distributability of reserves (e) Tt D Ik
At 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of reserves R-ZE-_=F+-_A=+—8 ' BEBD
of the Company available for distribution to equity AHEFD 2 B 6B D BREFE - NAF A
shareholders of the Company, as calculated under the HARTARAESRR 2 FEEERET
provisions of Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies BIR(ZE__FTBT) -

Ordinance, was HKSNil (2022: HKSNil).

27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 27. MEMBEMRRRAZAEHIE
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(@) Current taxation in the consolidated (a) ZKEMBERREKXKAZENHES
statement of financial position represents: ¥&

2023 2022
—E-=F —_=E-=

HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TR

The People’s Republic of China taxation P AR AEMBERIE 80 92
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27. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities

()

recognised:

The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets)
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position of the Group and the movements during the year
are as follows:

27.

HEMBEMRRRAZAETHIE @

(b) ERANELEBHEERKE !

FARAEBGE M ERARERELT
MBAE (EE)MEKRIS REZEH0
T

Depreciation

allowances in
excess of
the related
depreciation Tax losses Total
AR
BitiEZ
Deferred tax arising from EERBHRR WERBE BB EE e
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FET
At 1 January 2022 R-—ZE-_—F—H—H 46,869 (336,370) (289,501)
Charged to the consolidated statement ~ RA4RA Bas &k P Mk (A7 9@)
of profit or loss (Note 9(a)) 3,397 183,960 187,357
At31 December 2022 RZBZ_5+-A=+—H 50,266 (152410) (102,144)
At 1 January 2023 #:g: =%—A—H 50,266 (152,410) (102,144)
Charged to the consolidated statement ~ R4R& B @K F
of profit or loss (Note 9(a) ek (K5t 9@) (3,580) 36,173 32,593
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+=-A=t+-H 46,686 (116,237) (69,551)
2023 2022
—E-=F —FE-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE B RR R ERZ
consolidated statement of financial position  iE X418 & /R E (69,551) (102,144)

Deferred tax assets not recognised:

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in
respect of unused tax losses amounting to approximately
HK$7,030,377,000 (2022: approximately HK$6,336,642,000)
and deductible temporary differences of approximately
HK$56,270,000 (2022: approximately HK$54,115,000) due
to the uncertainty in utilising the unused tax losses in the
relevant entities. These unused tax losses have no expiry
date.

() MABEANELEBEEE !
REBEBIT AR RERHRBBIED
7,030,377,0008 L (Z 2 = = F : 4
6,336,642,00078 7T ) B AT H1R B BF 1 = FE 4
56,270,000 75 ( —Z & = — 4F : #954,115,000
BIL) MREERIBEE - RAAE A B
BERBNARTATBBESE TR -
ZERERATBEBL SR -
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28. MEEEMELERBE2ZHIR

28. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is

BMERDMELRBEZHROT ¢

as follows:
Interest-
Convertible bearing
bonds Leases  borrowings Total
ABRES HE HEEER s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET TET FHET
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-=—F—H—H 521,929 75122 295,000 892,051
Changes from cash flows Ren&y
Drawdown of interest-bearing REOEBER
borrowings - - 300,000 300,000
Repayment of interest-bearing BEFSER
borrowings - - (3,965) (3,965)
Principal elements of HENMFAEHD
lease payments - (41,108) - (41,108)
Other changes Hofth
Interest expenses B M 24,111 = = 24111
Inception of lease HER = 11,654 = 11,654
Lease modification HEEE] - (590) = (590)
At 31 December 2022 and R-ZBZZ=H+=-A=+-—H
1 January 2023 KR=—ZE-=5—-A—H 546,040 45,078 591,035 1,182,153
Changes from cash flows Ren&s
Drawdown of interest-bearing REFEER
borrowings - - 450,000 450,000
Principal elements of HENFEAEHD
lease payments - (18,826) - (18,826)
Other changes Hith ZE)
Interest expenses FMEXZH 25,965 = = 25,965
Inception of lease HERMR - 667 = 667
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 32)  UxB& FI 8 A =) (MY 77 32) - 2,958 - 2,958
Lease modification HEEF - 200,107 - 200,107
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=F+-A=+-—H 572,005 229,984 1,041,035 1,843,024
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29. COMMITMENTS 29. A
(@) Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December (@) RP=E—_=FK-_ZT-_—_F+-_fF=+—
2023 and 2022 were as follows: B REFEREENT :
2023 2022
B = —E——
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHEx FHTT
Property, plant and equipment L EN S
— Contracted but not provided for — BRXE M ARETIR 413 6,709
Programming library HAETA
— Contracted but not provided for — BRI HEEKRER 13,470 5,301
13,883 12,010
(b) At 31 December 2023, the total future minimum lease (b) A= —=F+=-F=+—8 " TAl#HH
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are KEHEBRT 2 RARKERENKREER
payable as follows: RLAT BABR 2 A -
2023 2022
—E-=fF ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHEIT
— Within 1 year — 15K 3,463 780
The operating lease commitment as at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+_A=+—Hz2KEHE
represents the total future minimum lease payments AERETAIRSEEBAEE T 2 KRR &
under non-cancellable short-term leases and low-value BEENREERARGTAHEEEZKE

leases which are not included in lease liabilities. BHEE -
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29. COMMITMENTS (Continued)
(c) Future operating lease income

The total future minimum lease payments receivable in

respect of decoders under non-cancellable operating

leases are as follows:

Within 1 year

1FR

29. AIE @)

(0 BREEHAERA

RETAHECEHENBFBRERZ R
REERENTBELT

2023
—E-=F

2022
=

HK$'000
TAET

HK$’000
FEx

= 3,014

(d) Funding commitment under television
broadcasting licences are as follows:

(i)

(ii)

Upon acceptance of the renewal of the domestic
pay television programme service licence of HKC on
29 May 2017 for the period of 12 years from 1 June
2017 to 31 May 2029, HKC has become subject to a
commitment of a 6-year investment plan of
HK$3,447 million from 2017 to 2023, comprising
HK$251 million of capital investment and HK$3,196
million of programming investment in content
including in-house channels containing self-
produced and/or acquired programmes as well as
in acquired channels.

On 14 February 2023, the Chief Executive in Council
approved the Licence Termination of HKC, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
with effect from 1 June 2023.

In accordance with the terms of the domestic free
television programme service licence issued to
i-CABLE HOY Limited, i-CABLE HOY Limited should
implement the investment plan for the period from
31 May 2022 to 30 May 2028 amounting to
approximately HK$1,330 million.

d EREBERZESHEEDT

(i)

(ii)

R-E—tFRA-t+HBAHESE
EASREENAMNEEREHE R
FH?ED(EE ZF— ‘ti/\ﬁ_ﬁ;xt:
E_hFRA=Z+T—HAH2F)
% BHEERARER-Z—tFE
ZTE=F BHeF R KEE
3,447,000,0007%8 TR R BT 8 - B1E
& A& 251,000,000 7T K &1 B WA
3,196,000,0007% 7T (B 3E A &L 4838 (B
BERK XINBEIE) RINEIRE
ZRA) °

R-ZZ-_=F_A+TH0A  TEREE
ERTHESHEA T _=F X
A—BE&IEAR TF‘EEHE%QWJ*
NEARERNER

BERLTFTEREENERERA
AIMAEESHEHE RKERZ
B3R BREIEABRERARAER
“E-_FAA=+T-REZFT-N
FRHA=Z+THHMETSBEY
1,330,000,000 & LA & 5T E ©



ERBEBEANBRIA ZZBE-=ZFFH

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& & MR R T

29. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(d) Funding commitment under television
broadcasting licences are as follows:
(Continued)

(iif)

In accordance with the terms of the Unified Carrier
Licence issued to i-CABLE HOY Limited, i-CABLE
HOY Limited has issued a performance bond in
favour of the Government of the HKSAR and the
balance as at 31 December 2023 was HK$1,500,000
(2022: HK$6,000,000). Under the terms of the
performance bond, unless the Communications
Authority of Hong Kong (the “CA") otherwise
approves or determines:

—  within 9 months from the date on which the
CA granted the formal approval for i-CABLE
HOY Limited to employ spectrum as an
additional means of transmission for its
licenced domestic free television programme
service (the “Formal Approval”), i-CABLE HOY
Limited broadcasted a new channel for
domestic free television programme service
(in addition to the two designated integrated
channels) each day;

— within 15 months from the date on which the
CA granted the Formal Approval, the licenced
domestic free television programme service
was available for reception by not less than
99% population coverage of Hong Kong;

— within the first 12-month period after the
commencement date of the transmission of
the domestic free television programmes on
the designated integrated channels of
i-CABLE HOY Limited through the spectrum
assigned (being 1 April 2022), i-CABLE HOY
Limited incurred not less than HK$100 million
as the capital and operating expenditure
(including programming cost) for providing
the licenced domestic free television
programme services; and

29. A&IE @)

d =

REERR2ESHEEBEOT

(&)

(iif)

BERETEREEREEERA
AINGAEREERBZIER  BRE
BABRERARERNETBFRIK
FIEEBAORE R -_=F+—
A=+—B2#&%/4150000087T (=
T~ —4F 6,000,000/ 7T) ° BB E
HRFBOES  RIEBBBRMEBEE
BR(BABR) BTHESRE &
Al :

— REBRBEAHEBRTIRRM
BRERABFERBEERF
WA 1 S B AR ED B AR A% B0 ET
EEXSATEAE]D EH
ErtoBAR - AREHEMER
BRARER A 2B ERED
B B #% e  — E#h s8E (B R
EEARA BN BRIEN

— RBFARELEER#LEEAR
ETISE AR FEAMEEE
REBERBEANEBEZEETD
7 99% Hy A [ #2 UK

— REBESRMNBETEAERE
HARERARRQAIETHRA A
ERAERA 2 E TR H
BE (I —ZE-——#mA—AH)
BETEREAAN BEEIER
BRARARREERFELADE
BERHERBENEARREE
X (8RB ®RIEMRA) AT
17 100,000,00078 7T &
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29. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(d) Funding commitment under television
broadcasting licences are as follows:
(Continued)

(i) (Continued)

—  within the second 12-month period after the
commencement date of the transmission of
the domestic free television programmes on
the designated integrated channels of
i-CABLE HOY Limited through the spectrum
assigned (being 1 April 2022), i-CABLE HOY
Limited shall incur not less than HK$100
million as the capital and operating
expenditure (including programming cost)
for providing the licenced domestic free
television programme services.

30. GUARANTEES

As at 31 December 2023, a corporate guarantee had been
provided by the Company to a bank of HK$295,000,000 (2022:
HK$400,000,000) in respect of the facility of borrowing up to
HK$295,000,000 (2022: HK$400,000,000) to a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, of which HK$295,000,000 (2022:
HK$295,000,000) was utilised by the wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had made arrangements
with a bank to provide two separate performance bonds to the
counterparties amounting to HK$35,330,000 (2022:
HK$39,830,000), of which HK$5,330,000 (2022: HK$9,830,000) was
secured by bank deposits. The performance bonds are to
guarantee in favour of the counterparties the Group’s
performance in fulfilling the obligations under a contract and the
requirements as set out in the licence issued by a regulatory
body.

29.

30.

AIE (®)

d ESREBERR2ESEENT :
()

i) (&)

— RERESEMELEEERE
AR ERBRARIEEHREIE
ERAER AR EETRE B
BH(BI—E—-——®#mWA—QH)
RBEE_E2EABRMA F
BREMAEEAERA AR
[ BERE B REHE
AR EiBERY (BIEE B 2EK
ZK) B 5 100,000,000 78 T ©

R
RZZE-=F+-A=+—8 KA ag—M
28 B A F PR A Eia % 295,000,000 % 7T

— =~ — £ 1 400,000,000 7T) HUE RIE EE R
— B R 1T 42 £ 2 R] #£ 4R 295,000,000 7% 7T (= =
= T 14000000008 7C) - AR EEMH B A
A B 8 B E & 295,000,000 7L (ZF = —
295,000,000 7T) °

RZEBE-=F+_F=+—H AEBHE—FK
BOTLRHREF I REMBEBBLBAORSE
35,330,000 7T (=& = = £ : 39,830,000}& 7T) -
H A 5,330,00058 7 (= = — 4F : 9,830,000 7T )
NSRITTFERIEET - BORBEERH F AR
BAREERBRBETANETEEURFAEE#
I AR RETE R E ©
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31. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere
in the consolidated financial statements of the Group, the Group
entered into the following material related party transactions
during the year ended 31 December 2023:

Advertising service revenue from CTFE Group,
CTFJ Group and CTFN Group (Note 1)

KERABREREE AARKE
B BARKREAREZ

3. FHEALT ZEANEARRS

REAKESEMBRRAEMMBITAREZR
GRBERIN AEBBE_T_=F+_A
ZSt—BLEFERE2ETIEBEALZE
MEARS :

2023 2022
—E=F —=E-—

HK$’000
FEx

HK$'000
TAET

& RRIS WA (Hfat 1) (9,795) -
Finance costs to Forever Top XAZREER 15,360 15,360
Finance costs to Celestial Pioneer Limited Celestial Pioneer Limited 2

MEER 21,030 4,528

Hardware maintenance to a company
wholly owned by a former director (Note 2)
Rental expenses to a subsidiary

H—RAEE2EMBZARZ
WHEEER (fit2) 560 1,680
fEARMBARIZEERY

of a related company 969 -
Rentals and related management fees on HIBER R 2 MERE R

properties to a former related company HEEREE (MiF3)

(Note 3) - 883
Notes: Btat -

On 10 May 2023, the Company (for itself and on behalf of the Group)
entered into the agreement (the “Master Sales Agreement”) with Chow Tai
Fook Enterprises Limited and its subsidiaries (together the "CTFE Group”),
Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited and its subsidiaries (together the
“CTFJ Group”) and Chow Tai Fook Nominee Limited and its subsidiaries
(together the “CTFN Group’) for the sale of the advertising services by the
Group. For details, please refer to the section headed “Connected
Transactions” of the Report of the Directors.

Such former Director resigned with effect from 3 May 2023.

A former Director, who was the director of such former related company,
resigned with effect from 3 May 2023.

The above material related party transactions include amounts
which also constitute connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Rules Governing of the Listing of Securities
(the "Listing Rules”). The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules are provided in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” of the Report of the Directors.

1. R-ZF_=ZFAA+H ARE(BELXGRAXLE
B) A LB R SR IEERFR A A RE
B (A ELEEE])  FAESEEE
BRARIRENE B (B[ A EHEELE]) UK
EAAXEREAFTR LA RENE R A (il [EAE AL
BAEE]) TV BHE % BRFHIE FLHEF
EHEHERS | —F -

2, ZEEES —F-_=FH A= AREFIE-

3 — B EF (BAFIERAMEF) - F =471
A= HHERE-

tRBEAEALTZENEARZFESBAGE
Z EmARRD ([ MR AN E14AZ P E 2 B8
BRS e FMBRAUNBUAEBREZHERNE
zZensHERS |-
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31. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31. EEEA T Z2ENE AR S (&)
(Continued)

Key management personnel remuneration FTEEBEAEBZHE

Remuneration for key management personnel, including FEERBABZHE (BREENFTWE N EE
amounts paid to the Company’s Directors as disclosed in Note RAAFEERAEEETEEEAB ZHMKE
11 and other members of key management of the Group, is as ZHIBE)FIEHAT

follows:

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—

HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT FHEIT

Short-term employee benefits SR = W 7,552 5717

Post-employment benefits BERR 12 1B A 195 251

7,747 5,968

32. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 32. WIBKEB 2 F
On 28 April 2023, the Group acquired 100% of the issued shares RZEZ=FWNA=+N\H  AEBEWKETLT
in How How Productions Group Limited and its subsidiaries, SEEEAR AT REKTE AR 100% 8 B 21T
which are engaged in production of TV programmes, provision &t - B EEREE EUE BHELER K
of musical works, provision of agency services and licensing of BRERELIERRE WERRERREAE
musical works. The reason for the acquisition is to bring more EREBEBEREABENHBAR

flexible and creative programme content to the Group.

Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired are BEREIREKBEEFENFBEOT
as follows:

HK$'000
TAET

Purchase consideration BERE
Cash paid BEfEE 7,200

Total purchase consideration BERERSE 7,200
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32. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

32.

WEE KB 2 B (@)

R EFEEMER A B EERBERNT

The identifiable assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the
acquisition are as follows:

Fair value
~REE
HK$'000
FHEIT
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEY 2,518
Plant and equipment B R 354 2677
Right-of-use assets CREEE 2,958
Programming library A E 297
Other intangible assets Hin M\ &&= 100
Trade receivables JE Uy ZEBR X 434
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables e BRI R E U 2,546
Trade payables FEfT & AR (205)
Accrued expenses and other payables TEIRE R R EME R (727)
Receipts in advance TE W BR 5K (440)
Lease liabilities HEAR (2,958)
Net identifiable assets acquired at fair value BEARBEFENDWEAI#REEFE 7,200
Add: goodwill - Ee =
7,200

The acquired business contributed revenues of approximately RZEZ=FWA=F+N\BE ZZE=_=F+=

A=+—HHH Fﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ$%l R Uk
A#91,394,0007% 7T M /% E5 18 49 22,988,000 4 JT ©

RBERR=—F_=F—A—B%L A%

HK$1,394,000 and net loss of approximately HK$22,988,000 to the
Group for the period from 28 April 2023 to 31 December 2023.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2023, consolidated pro-

forma revenue from continuing operations and loss for the year IEY =z __¢ +ZA=+—8H JtifZﬁ
from continuing operations of the Group for the year ended 31 B %’5%?%25 EHEERARFELEXEBL 2
December 2023 would have been approximately HK$598,340,000 ¢ EEBEEES J #47598,340,0007% 7T & 4

555,556,00078 7T ° % %8 Ty F A ATRIE X KER
¥EHE UTHBRALEBEARBE - —_=
F—A—BREAMB TNBRHOEIINTE &

and approximately HK$555,556,000 respectively. These amounts
have been calculated using the results of acquired business and
adjusting for the additional depreciation, amortisation, and finance

costs that would have been charged assuming the fair value S R B A AR E S o
adjustments had applied from 1 January 2023.
Net cash outflow on acquisition: Ik B R IR S 7 HHF R ¢

HK$'000
TAT

Total purchase consideration settled by cash N e#EENEENRERE 7,200
Cash and cash equivalents in the subsidiaries acquired BEUEHNBAFTNERS KRS EEY (2,518)
Net payment for acquisition of subsidiaries IR BB B A B RS BOF RR 4,682

%19 817 3E B % e A5 Uk B8 AR B8 B AN 49 65,000 78 T
EﬁAﬁE:;:E¢+:HE+—E¢¢E
REBERRNEE R THEHEMKES
ARFEEERERNELERERE -

Acquisition-related costs of approximately HK$65,000 that were
not directly attributable to the issue of shares are included in
selling, general and administrative and other operating expenses
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and in operating
cash flows in the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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33. COMPANY LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL  33. 2 A B ik R &

POSITION
2023 2022
—E-= g
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET T T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BEREE = 5
Investments in subsidiaries BB RARZEE 18(a) 3,000 3,000
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U B /B A R BR 3k 1,717,785 1,333,449
1,720,785 1,336,454
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TE AT BR 3R M H i FE YR 2,090 1,703
Loan to a subsidiary ELSIEMNGI- &S 16,375 16,375
Financial assets at fair value through BEARBEFTABED
profit or loss TREE 34,195 37,408
Restricted bank balances X IR SR 1T 45 aR 3,830 3,830
Cash and bank balances & RIRTTHAR 6,086 13,488
62,576 72,804
Total assets BEE 1,783,361 1,409,258
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves BEAXR#E
Share capital [N 26(c) 7,928,975 7,928,975
Reserves e 26(a) (8,241,773) (8,127,316)
Total deficit B 1E5 A (312,798) (198,341)
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33. COMPANY LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 33. A 5] B ik R & (@)
POSITION (Continued)

2023 2022
—E_=F —=E-=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FE T FETT
LIABILITIES =K
Non-current liability *kRBAE
Convertible bonds AR ES 572,005 546,040
Current liabilities HREBAE
Accrued expenses and other payables  TBIEZ & A & H b FE 3R 6,369 3,110
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAT BB A A BR 3K 1,517,785 1,058,449
1,524,154 1,061,559
Total liabilities FEN=Ri 2,096,159 1,607,599
Total equity and liabilities HERRERE 1,783,361 1,409,258
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on KEFER _ZE_MF=A-_+t-_HAAKRE
22 March 2024. - NG
Dr. CHENG Kar-Shun, Henry Mr. TSANG On Yip, Patrick
WMRAEL BRELLE
Director Director

EF EF
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34. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

1. On 4 January 2024, HKC as the borrower, entered into a
loan agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited (@ company
holding 72.0% of the total number of issued shares of
Forever Top) as the lender, pursuant to which, HKC
obtained an unsecured loan with a principal amount of
HK$80,000,000 for a term of 3 years from the date of the
said loan agreement, with an interest rate of 6.0% per

annum.

2. On 6 March 2024, HKC as the borrower, entered into a loan
agreement with Celestial Pioneer Limited as the lender,
pursuant to which, HKC obtained an unsecured loan with
a principal amount of HK$90,000,000 for a term of 3 years
from the date of the said loan agreement, with an interest

rate of 6.0% per annum.

34 FEMRER

1.

R-ZE_ME—AMNB BRER (EA
& FXA) i Celestial Pioneer Limited (3 & 7k
FHEBEITRMBEE206HAF]) (EAE
RN ERHZ Bt BRERES
Kﬁﬁ%%wwm%ﬁmmﬁﬁ%mva

MERGEBA BRI AE=F  WiEF
%IJ K6.0%sTE °

RZE_NF=AB EEEH A
& 2 A) & Celestial Pioneer Limited ({£ & &
RN ERE - Bl BRERES
7N & %8 /390,000,000 TTH) MW E K - B
T ERpZE BB A =F  WIRF
T e0wat B -



Five-Year Financial Summary

AFMBHE

(Expressed in HKS million)
(AEBETIIR)

ERREBAERAE

—Eo=fEH

Results ES

Revenue ON 1,161 1,069 989 895 716
Operating expenses EEER (1,525) (1,303) (1,298) (1,483) (1,185)
Loss from operations KREEE (364) (234) (309) (588) (469)
Interest income F B2 U A 5 - 1 1 1

Finance costs MEER 38) 41) (46) (56) (84)
Non-operating income/ EEBRA(FAX)

(expenses), net R - - 2 (55) (4)
Loss before taxation R 5 BB 1R (397) (275) (352) (698) (556)
Income tax ABTIE = Q) (1) (188) (33)
Loss for the year FABE (397) (276) (363) (886) (589)
Attributable to: FEAE -

Equity shareholders PAN/NET - gl

of the Company (397) (276) (363) (886) (589)
Loss from operations KREEE (364) (234) (309) (588) (469)
Depreciation e 226 220 215 207 100
Amortisation of other HEMmpEE#E

intangible assets 2 4 4 4 1
Impairment losses VEREY ! - - = 241 82
Loss from operations before ~ RIABRITE -~ HAh

depreciation, mILAE#IER

amortisation of other VEREY =RV -0

intangible assets and K e )

impairment losses Mot (136) (10) (90) (136) (286)
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AFMBRE

(Expressed in HKS million)
(AEBETIIR)

Assets and Liabilities EEREE
Non-current assets EmENE E 1,350 1,237 1,135 621 694
Current assets MENEE 529 371 351 258 251
Total assets REE 1,879 1,608 1,486 879 945
Share capital &7 7,929 7,929 7,929 7,929 7,929
Reserves & (7,289) (7,564) (7,783) (8,669) (9,258)
Total equity/(deficit) KRR R

attributable to equity PG B (B5AL)

shareholders of the

Company 640 365 146 (740) (1,329)
Total liabilities waE 1,239 1,243 1,340 1619 2,274
Total liabilities and equity LaEkER 1,879 1,608 1,486 879 945
Note: Hiat -
1. The Group presents the loss from operations before depreciation, amortisation of I. FEEZFARHGITE - H T &R 5 R R (BB AT A

other intangible assets and impairment losses, a non-HKFRS financial measure,
which is a supplemental information in relation to the operating performance of
the Group to enable the stakeholders of the Group to evaluate and compare the
performance across the same industry.

BEER HARIFE BB REERNBAE DHEBHLE
B ERBENHAER  ARAEBIFRETFERLER—
TTRAIRIL
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